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2urich Financial Services Greup

AR,
Annual Results Reporting 2004 — Consolidated Financial Statement B
Consolidated operating statements G
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 -7 -

3 .

) r T Notes | 20082 2003

Revenues i e : B T
Gross written premiums and policy fees .~ e LT 49,304 ° 483805
Less premiums ceded to reinsurers ‘ o C ' (7,625)  (8.646)
Net written premiums and policy fees : . , 41,679 40,159
Net change in reserves for unearned premiums’ ' ’ 125 (562}
Net earned premiums and policy fees . 41,804 39,597
Management fees ) 2,030 2,062
Net investment income 6 9,114 8,395
Net capital gains on investments and impairments 6 4,934 5,180
Net gain on divestments of businesses . 4 88 351
Qther income 1,708 1,623

" 59,678 57,208

Total revenues;

Benefits, losses and expenses

Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance ) 10 34,500 33,259
Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance ' 10 7,014 6,045
Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance - . ; - N . 10 7,243 6,445
Administrative expense s ~ : ' ‘ o 4,035 4,188
Other operating expense .~ ‘ ‘ N ‘ 1,281 1,591
Amortization of intangible assets R o o . 17 448 436
Interest expense on debt . : ' o ' CeL e e 18 362 445

Interest credited to policyholders and other interest ) . 1,009 1,188
Total benefits [0sses and:expenses. . 255,892 | :53.697

Net income before income taxes and m|nor|ty interests - o . . 3,786 3,611

Income tax expense L . 12 (1,093) (1,496)
Net income applicable to minority interests ) o (106) (106)
cothe 2,587 2,009

in USD e .
Basic earnings per share T - o 21 18.01 14.14
Diluted earnings per share R R ' ' . 21 17.88 14.04
in CHF )
Basic earnings per share o : ' . : 21 22.34 19.00
Diluted earnings per share . : 21 22.18 18.86

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an ntegra] part of these consohdated financial statements. 3 4/

Rz
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Zurich Financial Services Group

Consolidated balance sheets

in USD millions, as of December 31

Notes 2004 2003

Assets

Investments 5

Debt securities . ‘ . : 130,512 119,032
Equity securities . e T : ' 58,740 52,322
Trading equity portfolios in capital markets and bankmg actviies : Lo 2,773 4,303
Investments in associates . : s o : 645 991

Other investments ) ; B ' 41,530 33,422
Cash and cash equnvalents : o - o 16,959 15,677

Total invéstrnén 6 251159 275747

Investments held on account and at risk of I|fe insurance pohcyholders ) ] 7 24,189 21,980
Accrued investment income . R . . 2,614 2,570
Receivables ; . s : s e 13 11,161 11,008
Reinsurance assets E LR e Lt 14 23,004 22,670
Depasits made under assumed reinsurance contracts o 5 S ,‘ 3,312 3,608
Deferred policy acquisition costs - s - S 15 13,34 11,784
Fixed assets - AR T 16 2,116 2,306
Googwill ' ' ' Y 17 744 779
Other intangible assets . o o e 17 2,590 2,794
Deferred tax assets G g e , 12 4,200 3,719
Derivative trading assets and other assets S ' e ' 3,515 3,976

loans given as collateral L ' : 4,135 4,701
e i e o 346,083 317,642

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are.an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Liabilities, minority mterests and shareholders equnty L - L ‘ . Notes 2004 2003
Liabilities ' B

Insurance reserves, gross ' L 11 246,162 223,418
Reserve for premium refunds ‘ 847 943
Insurance reserves forlife insurance where the investment risk is carned by policyholders : 7 24,261 22,063
Deposits received under ceded reinsyrance contracts 4,304 4,825
Obligation to repurchase securities 5,009 3,742
Deferred tax liabilities : ) . 12 6,076 5,450
Accrued liabilities . 3,468 2,865
Deferred front-end fees Co 3,519 3,015
Debt related 1o capital markets and banking activities : ) ] 18 3,880 5,961
Senior and subardinated debt ; ' 18 5,871 4,775
Other liabilities : . : . 13 15,524 15,981
Collateralized loans 4,135 4,701
Total iabilities. 1,323,056 297,739
Minority interests 20 846 969
Shareholders’ equity ) : ' 21

Preferred securities 1,096 1,096
Common stock . 635 923
Treasury stock : S : (1 (6)
Additional paid-in capital 10,288 10,208
Net unrealized gains on investments ) 6 1,075 862
Cumulative translation adjustment E S 840 152
Retained earnings : : e N 8248 5699
Common stockholders’ equity ) 21,085 17,838

Total sharéholders equity'; 22,181 . 18934

346,083 317,642,

Total tizbilitie ity interests and shareholders equity.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral-part of these consolidated financiél statements.
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Zurich Financial Services Group

Consolidated statements of cash flows

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31

2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities S .

Net income ] ; o 2,587 2,009
Adjustments for: ‘ ’ :

Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments ' ) A (4,934) (5,180)
Net loss/(gain) on divestments of businesses . L T (88) (351)
Equity in income of investments in associates - o \ (86) (90)
Depreciation and amortization . : ’ » ' 695 793
Other non-cash items ST S ' 21 905
Changes in operationat assets and llabllmes _ PR o C

Deferred policy acquisition costs W o (816) 612)
Reinsurance assets, net . S Lo ey S . (708) 883
Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts: S e E 308 (939)
Receivables and payables SR ’ . ' ' (1,320) (692)
Insurance reserves, gross . : ' o 11,481 15,567
Deferred income tax, net : : , ‘ (136) 577
Net changes in other operational assets and habxhttes 1,326 310

©8,330 13,180

Net cashy provided by operiting activitie

Cash flows from investing activities
Sales and maturities: , _ , ;
Debt securities o e 66,890 88423

Equity securitie o S ' . 41,442 46,048
Other (pnman\y other investments and fixed assets) - o - L : 9,036 9,382
Purchases: SRR , L _ e .

Debt securities . ' ( L ‘ S » (75,116) (101,310)
Equity securities ' ST 5 : S {38,285) (38,942)
Other (primarily other investments and fixed assets) s ' (13,478) (12,001)
Investments in associates, net » o ' . 106 50
Acquisitions of companies, net of cash.acquired - - (452)
Divestments of companies, net of cash balances - ' o ’ 2,053 2,377
Dividends from associates ] 19 12

Net cashilised in investing activities (7,333) . (6:413)

The nates to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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2004 2003

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from sale and repurchase agreements . i .t et : IR ' 954 21
Dividends paid to shareholders - ' g O AL R L : (38) (38)
Nominal value reduction of common stock .. s:: 00 e . (288) (105)
Redemption of preferred stock by subsidiaries” e ' s (12) (655)
Issuance of debt e E 1,745 1,637
Payments on debt outstanding o oo y : (2,759)  (2,750)
Nét cash Used'in finz activi U (398) (1.932)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents : v ) 683 809
Change in cash and cash equivaients ; p . 1,282 5,644

15677 10,033
16,959  15677"

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 (opemng balance)
Cash andigash, egiiivalents . as'of December 31

Other supplementary cash flow information ‘ .
in USD millions : " 2004 2003

Interest income received B ) ) s 7,075 6,822
Dividend income received R ’ 1,276 1,258
Interest expense paid : ‘ (1.343) (1,007)
Income tax paid e e S ‘ (891) (803)

As of December 31,2004 and 2003, cash and cash equivalents' reétr‘réfed as‘to use were USD 645 millicn and USD 782 million, respectively.
Cash and cash equivalents held for the benefit of policyholders i in connection with unit-linked products amounted to USD 3,206 million and
USD 2,141 million, respectively.

Cash and cash eqdivalents comprise the following: . " PP

in USD millians T ‘ . 2004 2003

Cash at bank and in hand ' ' e : 8,535 8,461

Cash equivalents ; L ‘ ' 8424 7,216

BalanceiasiofiDécember31:; 716,959 15,677

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part-of these éonso}idated financial statements.

Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Consolidated Financia! Statements 5



Zurich Financial Services Group

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity

in USD miillions, except number of shares, for the years ended December 31

i S Number of
: common Preferred
' : : shares issued securities
Balance as of December 31,2002, as previously reportéd:. .. - - 144,006,855 1,096
Implementation of new accounting standard’ e L .o - -
Balance as of December 31, 2002, restated ' g - 144,006,955 1,096

Change in net unrealized gains/{losses) on.investmerits (excludmg translatlon adjustments) - -

Translation adjustments : " : o - -

Change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on rnvestments not recognuzed in the operatmg statement - -

Nominal value reduction of common stock . ok . - -

Share-based payment transactions o gt : - -

Treasury stock transactions ) i ’ o ‘ Lo - -

Net income ) : o - -

Dividends on preferred securities SR L I s CL - _

Balarice, Secember 31,2003 - 144.006/955.

Balance as of December 31,2003, as previously- reported 144,006,955 1,086

Implementation of new accounting standard’ ' : o - -

Balance as of December 31, 2003, restated Lo ' 144,006,955 1,096

Change in net unrealized gains/({osses) on investments (excluding translation adjustments) - -

Transfer arising from initial application of "legal quote” legislation in Switzerland?2. T - -

Translation adjustments ' - -

Change in net unrealized gains/{losses) on investments not recogmzed inthe operatmg statement . - -

Nominal value reduction of common stock? ' e - - _

Share-based payment transactions . s S - ”

Treasury stock transactions . R T o _ -

Net income R - -

Dividends on preferred secuntles o S - -
Balance as of Decembe Z E ! S : : 006,9! 1,096

i
S

' implementation of new accounting standard as discussed in note 3, and as published in the Half Year Report 2004,
2 Transfer of net unrealized gains on investments to insurance resérves as * Poh(yholders contract deposits and other funds® in connection with the initial application as of june 30, 2004
of the new “legal quote” legistation in Switzerland as described:in note 11,
3 g ffective as of June 30, 2004, the share capital was reduced by a nominal value reductxon from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50 per each registered share. The payment 10 sharehalders was
made on July 1, 2004. .

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these'consolidated financial statements.
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Treasury FresniEe il Net : )

stock Additional ., .. . unrealized - - Cumulative ™~ - Total

Common (nominal . . paid-in +v.gains/(losses) translation Retained shareholders’
stock value)- capital, " " oninvestments - ‘adjustment earnings equity

1,028 14 10,031 FYT 71080 : “(a84) , 4,038 16,775

_ i = S 2 . - (310) (308)

1,028 (14) 10,031 . 1,082 .. ) (484) - 3,728 16,467

- - L L By ! - - 312)

- ) - o 92 636 - 728

- - . - (220) - 636 - 416
{(105) - - g = - (105)

33

152

2,009

38)

" 18,934

19,384

(450)

18,934

386

(226)

741

201

{288)

19

66

2,587

(38)

22,181
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Dlrectors of Zurrch Frnancral Servrces have authorrzed these consolrdated frnancral statements for issue on February 16, 2005
These Financial Statements will be submitted to the Annual General Meetmg of Shareholders to'be held on April 19, 2005 for approval.

1. Basis of presentaton

Zurich Financial Services and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group™”) are an insurance-based financial services provider with an international
network that focuses on chosen markets. Key markets are the‘United States, the‘United Kingdom and Continental Europe comprising
primarily Germany, Switzerland, Italy and Spain. Core businesses-are General and Life Insurance. The Group also distributes non-insurance
products, such as mutual funds, mortgages and other.financial services products, fromselected third-party providers.

The holding company, Zurich Financial Services; is'incorporated in Zurich, Switzerland. The Group operates through subsidiaries and
branch offices. The consolidated financial statements of the Group’ have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. IFRS doés not contain guidelines governing the accounting treatment of certain
transactions including those that are specific to insurance-products: When a specific topic is not addressed by the standards, the

IFRS Framework permits reference to anothér comprehensrve body of -accounting principles. In these cases, the Group typically refers to
accounting principles generally accepted ini the United States (US' GAAP) for gurdance

Certain amounts recorded in the consolidated ﬁnancra! statements reﬂect estimates and assumptrons made by management about
insurance liability reserves, investment valuations, interest rates and other factors. Srgmfrcant estrmates are discussed in the notes. Actual
results may differ from the estimates made.

New accounting standards, discussed in note 3, resulted in restatement of 2003 consohdated financial statements. in addition, certain
reclassifications have been made to prior year.amounts and segment diselosures to conform to the current year presentation. These
reclassifications have no effect on the previously reported net income.

Segment information ’

The Group is managed on a matrix basis, reflecting both hne of business and geography ‘Accordingly, segment information is presented
in two formats. The primary format is based on the operating businesses of the Group and how they are strategically managed to offer
different products and services to specific customer groups. The Group’s primary segments are defined as follows:

General Insurance: General Insurance operations wnte substantlatly all lines of propeny and casualty busmess

tife Insurance: Life insurance operations offer a broad Irne of life insurance, annuity and investment-type policies to individuals and groups.

Farmers Management Services: Farmers Group inc. and its subs‘rdiarres (“FGI") provide non-claims related management services to the
Farmers Exchanges. The Farmers Exchanges operate in the United States property and casualty insurance industry and consist of the
Farmers Insurance Exchange, Fire Insurance £xchange, Truck Insurance Exchange (each an “Exchange” and collectively, the “Exchanges”),
their respective subsidiaries, Farmers Texas County Mutual ("FTCM?), Foremost County Mutual Insurance Company and Foremost Lloyds of
Texas. The Farmers Exchanges are owned by-the policyholders of the Exchanges, FTCM and Foremost County Mutual insurance Company
as well as the underwriters of Foremost Lioyds of Texas. Accordingly, the Group has nc ownership interest in the Farmers Exchanges. FGI
receives a fee for the management services provided whrch is based prlmarly on-a percentage of the gross earned premiums of the Farmers
Exchanges. -

e

Other Businesses: Other Businesses is the combinati'on of the activiyt’ies described below. In general,‘ such activities are not considered to
be core businesses, and certain of these business operations were discontinued, divested or put in run-off in 2004 and 2003.

Capital markets and banking activities consist primarily of Zurich Capital Markets which has a portfalio of hedge fund-based investment
vehicles, asset-based financing and credit structures, instruments to manage investment risk, customized strategies to structure or manage
financial assets, and administrative services for hedge funds and hedge fund-investors.

Centre operations: Centre’s portfolio of business consists of property and casualty reinsurance, credit enhancement and life & heaith
business. .

Centrally managed insurance operations: In 2004, the Group.made. some changes to the way it manages its business. As a result, the Group
manages certain general and life insurance operations on a-central basis from its Corporate Center. Therefore, these operations have been
included within the Other Businesses segment, and total assets and liabilities of USD 20 billion have been moved from the Life segment to
the Other Businesses segment. Further, the risks and rewards of the transferred businesses differ from those contained within the Life
segment. In addition, Reinsurance-run-off, which is also centrally managed, reflects the résults of the run-off of liabilities that were retained
and that were not transferred to Converium, thé Group’s former reinsurance subsidiary, which was divested in 2001.

Corporate Center: Corporate Center includes our Group holdihg ahd financing companies Corporate Center operations and alternative
investments. This segment also includes some Group intérnal reinsurance operations that are not attributable to a specific segment but are
managed on a global basis.
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The Group’s secondary format for segment information is geographic:

North America Corporate

North America Consumer

Continental Europe

UKISA includes United Kingdom, Ireland and Southern African operat;ons
Rest of the World

Centrally Managed Businesses

The accounting policies of the seégments are the same as those’ descrlbed in the summary:of significant: accountmg policies. The Group
accounts forinter-segment revenues and transfers asifthe transactnons were W|th thnrd pames at current market prices, with the exception
of realized capital gains, which are eliminated. % B : :

2. Summary of significant accounting policies :

{a) Consolidation principles ;

The Group’s consolidated financial statements mclude the-assets, liabilities, equnty revenues, expenses and cash flows of Zurich Financial
Services and its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity in ‘which Zurich Financial-Services owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the
outstanding voting rights, or which it otherwise has the power to control. The results of subsidiaries acquired are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date of acquisition. The results of subsidiaries that'have Been sold during the year are included up to the date
control has ceased. All significant intercompany balances, profits and transactions are eliminated.

Associates and partnerships where the Group has the ablli‘& to-exercise significant influence, as well as joint ventures where there is joint
control, are accounted for using the equity method. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group owns, directly or indirectly,
between 20% and 50% of the outstanding voting rights. :

(b) Revenue recognition

Premiums: Premiums from the sale of general insurance products are recorded when written and are accreted to earnings on a pro-rata
basis over the term of the related policy coverage. However, for those contracts for which the period of risk differs significantly from

the contract period, premiums are recognized over the periad of risk in proportion 1o the.amount of insurance protection provided. The
unearned premium reserve represents the portion of the premlums written relating to the unexpired terms of coverage.

Premiums from traditional life insurance contracts, including participating contracts and annuity 'pohcnes with life contingencies, are
recognized as revenue when due from the policyholder. Benefits and expenses are provided against such revenue to recognize profits over
the estimated life of the policies. Moreover, for single premium and limited pay contracts; premiums are recorded as income when due
with any excess profit deferred and recognized in'income in a‘constant relationship to the insurance in-force or, for annuities, the amount
of expected benefit payments, ’

Amounts collected as premiums from investment type contracts such as universal life, unit-linked and unitized with-profits contracts,

are reported as deposits. Revenue from these contracts consists of policy fees for the cost of insurance, administration and surrenders during
the period. Front-end fees are recognized over the estimated life of the contracts. Policy benefits and claims that are charged to expenses
include benefit claims incurred in the period in excess of refated policyholder contract deposits and interest credited to policyholder deposits.

Other revenue: Fee revenue for the provision of non-claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges is calculated primarily
as a percentage of gross premiums earned by the Farmers Exchanges.

Farmers Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (FGI") provide the fol!owmg non-claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges:
risk selection, preparation and maiting of policy fSrms and invoices, premium collection, management of the investment portfolios and
certain other administrative and managerial functions. The Farmers Exchanges are responsible for their wn claims functions, including the
settlement and payment of claims and claims adjustment expenses. They are aiso responsible for the payment of agent commissions and
bonuses and the payment of their. premium and income, taxes.

Revenues from investment management and distribution fees are based on contractual fee arrangements applied to assets under
management and recognized as earned when the service has been provided.

Transfer agent fees are based on a cost per account and transaction-vbased fees. For mutual funds, a component of the transfer agent fee
can be contractual fee arrangements applied to assets under management. Transfer agent fees are recognized when services have been
provided per the contract. Commission revenue is recognized on the trade date when the performance obtligation is complete and the fees
are payable.

Additionally, revenue can be earned from performance fees, which are based upon the achievement of performance levels in excess of
predetermined contractual benchmarks. Performance fees are recognized when it is probable that they will be received and the amount
can be estimated reliably. .

Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Results Reporting 2004 + Consolidated Financia! Statements
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WiVt gt iagl AUTVILTS IV

{0 Deferred pollcy acqulsmon costs 5 : :
The costs of acquiring new business, including commlsswns underwrltmg and policy i |ssue expenses WhICh vary Wlth and are directly
related to the production of naw business, are. deferfed . Deferred pollcy acquisition costs.are stibject to récoverability testing at the time of
policy issue and at the end of each accountlng period. Future mvestment income is taken into account in-assessing recoverability.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for participating traditional lifé"insuranice contracts are amortized over the expected life of the contracts as a
constant percentage of estimated gross margins. Estimated gross margins include anticipated premiums and investment results less benefits
and administration expenses, changes in the net level premium reserve and expected policyholder dividends, as appropriate. Estimated gross
margins are re-estimated regularly with the impact of deviations of actual result from estimated experience on the amortization of deferred
acquisition costs reflected in earnings. Lo

Deferred policy acquisition costs for other traditional Iife(insura’nvce'ahd annuity p"olicles are amortized over the expected life of the contracts
as a constant percentage of expected premiums. Expected premiufns are estimated at the date of pollcy issue and are consistently applied
throughout the life of the contract unless premium deficiency occurs.

Deferred policy acquisition costs for mvestment type contracts such as Griversal llfe unit- Imked and unitized with-profits contracts are
amortized over the expected life of the contracts’ based on a constant percentage of the present value of estimated gross profits expected
10 be realized over the life of the contract. Estimated gross profits include expected amounts t6'be assessed for mortality, administration,
investment and surrender less benefit claims in excess of policyholder balances, adtministrative expenses and interest credited. Estimated
gross profits are revised regularly and the interest rate used to compute the present value of revised estimates of expected gross profits is
the latest revised rate applied to the remaining benefit period. Deviations of actual resuilts, from estimated experience are reflected

in earnings. !

The impact on the deferred policy acquisition cost asset of the change in unreahzed gams or losses on investments is recognized through
an offset 1o unrealized gains or losses at the balance sheet date. ;

Unamortized deferred policy acquisition costs.associated:with mternally replaced contracts that are, .insubstance, contract modifications,
continue to be deferred and amortized. Costs associated thh lnternally replaced contracts that are, in substance, new contracts, are
written off.

{d) Insurance losses and reserves .

Losses: Losses and loss adjustment expenses are charged to mcome as incurred. Unpard Iosses and loss adjustment expense reserves
represent the accumulation of estimates for ultimate losses and include provisions for losses incurred but not yet reported (IBNR).

The reserves represent estimates of future payments of réported and unreported claims for losses and related expenses with respect to
insured events that have occurred. Reserving is a complex processidealing with uncertainty, requiring the use of informed estimates
and judgments. The Group does not discount its loss reserves, other than for settled claims with fixed payment terms. Any changes in
estimates are reflected in results of operations in the period in which estimates are changed.

Future life policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’ contract deposits: These represent the estimated future policyholder benefit
liability for traditional life insurance policies:and certain unit-linked investmenticontracts, respectively.

For participating traditional life insurance policies, futurepollcy benefit liabilities are calculated-using a net level premium method on the
basis of actuarial assumptions equal to guaranteed mortality.and mterest rates

Future life policyholders’ benefits for other traditional life insurance pohcues are calculated asing’a net level premium valuation method
based on actuarial assumptions as to mortality, persistency, exenses and investment return. including a margin for adverse deviation. The
assumptions are established at policy issue and remain-unchanged except where premium deficiency occurs.

Future life policyholders’ benefits include the:value of accumulated declared bonuses or dividends that have been vested to policyholders.
Policyholders’ contract deposits represent the accumulation of premlum received less charges plus declared dividends.

The policyholders’ share of unrealized gains or lgsses, Wthh may be pald in the future in respect of assets, is included in future life
policyholders’ benefits. .

Reserves for unit-linked products are recorded as equal to the consaderatlon received plus accumulated investment yield less any fees
charged or dividends paid to the policyholder. :

“Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders” and “Insurance reserves for life insurance where the
investment risk is carried by policyholders”: These represent trading portfolios maintained to.meet specific investment objectives of
policyholders who bear the investment risk and which are bankruiptcy protected from other creditors: Investment income and investment
gains and losses accrue directly to policyholders. The assets and liabilities are carried at fair value. Deposits, withdrawals, net investment
income, and realized and unrealized capital gains and losses are included in this;position and are not reflected in the consolidated operating
statement. The costs of insurance, policy administration, investment management, surrender charges and certain policyholder taxes assessed
against the policyholders' account balances are included within policy fee revenue.

For products containing guarantees in respect of minimum death benefits (“"GMDB"), retirement income benefits ("GRIB") and annuitization
options {“GAQ"), additional liabilities are recorded in proportion with-the receipt of the contracted revenues.
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'

{e) Reinsurance
The Group’s insurance subsidiaries cede insurance premiums and risk in the normal course of business in order to limit the potential for
losses arising from longer exposures. Reinsurance does.not relieve the originating Shsurér of its liability. Certam Group insurance companies
assume reinsurance business incidental to their normal business, as-well asfrom the Farmers Exchanges Centre ceased to write new
contracts in 2003, but has honored its obligations and commntments with respect to exxstmg contracts. Reinsurance assets include balances
due from reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses and Ioss adJustment expenses, ceded unearned premiums and ceded future
life policy benefits. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estlmated in a manner corisistent with the claim liability associated with the
reinsured policy. Reinsurance is recorded gross in the consohdated balance sheet-unless a right of offset exists.

Reinsurance contracts are assessed to ensure that underwrmng nsk defined as the reasonable possibility of significant loss, and timing risk,
defined as the reasonable possibility of a significant variation'in the t:mlng of cash, JHlows, are transferred by the ceding company to the
reinsurer. Those contracts that do not transfer bath risks, referred: to,in total as insurance risk, are accounted for using the deposit method.
A deposit asset or liability is recognized based on the consnderatl pald or receivediless any explicitly identified premiums or fees to be
retained by the ceding company. Deposits for contracts that’ transfer only significant underwriting risk are subsequently measured based

on the unexpired portion of coverage until a loss is incurred, after Wthh the present value of expected future cash flows under the contract
is added to the remaining unexpired portion of coverage. Changes in the deposit amountiare recorded in the operating statement as an
incurred loss. Interest on deposits that transfer only timing risk, or no risk atall, are accounted for using the interest method. Future cash
flows are estimated to calculate the effective yield, and revenue and expense are recorded as interest income or expense.

{f} Investments

Financial assets are classified either as "held- to-maturny""‘tradmg" “available-for-sale”, or “loans originated by the Group”. Held-to-
maturity financial assets are debt securities which the Group has the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity. Trading financial assets
are debt and equity securities which the Group buys with the intention to resell in'the Rear térm. The remaining debt and equity securities
are classified as available-for-sale. Loans originated by the Group, such as mortgage loans, policyholders’ collateral and other loans,

include loans where money is providéd directly to the borrower, other than those that are originated with the intent to be sold in the short
term, which are recorded in the trading category ;

Financial assets are initially recorded at cost, net of transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Held-to-maturity financial
assets are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Trading financial assets are subsequently carried
at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in the-current period income: Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried
at fair value, with unrealized changes in fair value recorded-in shareholders’ equity net of deferred income taxes, certain life policyholder
liabilities, certain fife deferred acquisition costs and minority interests. Loans originatéed by the Group are subsequently carried at amaortized
cost using the effective interest rate method, less aIIowances for doubtfut accounts.

The realized gain or loss on divestment is based on the dlfference between the proceéds receaved and the carrying value of the

investment plus any unrealized gains or losses of the‘investient’ recorded in shareholders’ equity using the specific identification method.
When available-for-sale financial assets are sold, impaired or otherwisé disposed of, the cumulative gains and losses previously recognized
in shareholders’ equity are included in the current period income. The amortization of premium and accretion of discount on available-for-
sale and held-to-maturity investments in debt securities is computed Using the effective interést method and is recognized in current period
income. Dividends on equity securities aré recorded as revenue on the ex- -dividend date; the date that the dividends become payable to the
holders of record. Interest income on financial assets is recogmzed when earned.

investments backing UK with-profits life insurance pohcnes and certam ‘Australian life insurance Iuabmtles are held as trading assets and
carried at fair value. Movements in the carrying value of these assets are charged to current period income to match the offsetting amounts
attributable to policyholders. .

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on a regular basis: A financial asset is impaired if its carrying value exceeds the estimated
recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of impairment to the financial asset. For an impaired financial asset impairment

is recorded by reducing its carrying value through a charge to'current period income. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative unrealized loss previously recogmzed in shareholders equuty is removed from shareholders’ equity and
recognized in the current period income.

For quoted available-for-sale financial assets the decision 1o m‘ake,‘an‘impai[ment’ provision'ris based on review of the issuer’s current
financial position and future prospects and an assessment of the'probability that the current market price will recover to former levels within
the foreseeable future. The recoverable amount is determined by reference to the market price. For non-quoted available-for-sale financial
assets the Group takes into consideration the issuer's currént financial pesition and future prospects in determining whether an impairment
provision is required. The recoverable amount is determined by applying recognized valuation techniques. When a decline in the fair value

of an available-for-sale asset has been recognized directly in shareholders’ equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
the cumulative loss that had been recognized directly in shareholders' equity is removed from equity and recognized in current period
income even though the asset has not been derecognized. The amount of the cumulative loss that is removed from shareholders’ equity

and recognized in current period income is the difference between acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset instrument’ prevnously recogmzed in income.

For held-to-maturity financial assets and loans originated by the Group the impairment is considered to have taken place if it is probable
that the Group will not be able to collect principal and.interest due according to the contractual terms of the instrument. When impairment
is determined to have occurred, the carrying amount of the held-to-maturity financial assets is decreased through a charge to current
period income. The amount of the impairment loss is the difference between the asset's carrying value and the present value of expected
future cash flows discounted at the security’s original effective |nterest rate.
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Real estate held for mvestment purposes is mmally recorded at cost wnth transactron costs rncluded in the |nmal measurement lt is
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recpgmzed in-current period income. No depreciation is recorded

for real estate held for investment. The gain or loss on disposal of real estate held for investment is based on the difference between
the proceeds received and the carrying value of the investment. i =

Short-term investments: Carrying amounts approximate farr values

Cash amounts represent cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, hrgh!y liquid investments with original
maturities of 90 days or {ess.

(g) Derivative financial instruments ‘

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value on thé balance sheet as assets or ||ab|lmes Fanr values are obtained from quoted
market prices, dealer price quotations, discounted cash flow models and option pricing madels, which incorporate current market and
contractual prices for the underlying instrument, time to expiry, yield curves and volatility of the underlying. Inputs used in pricing models
are generally market observable or can be derived from market’ observable data;, Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values
are recorded as derivative trading assets. Derivative financial instriments with neganve fair values are recorded as derivative trading
liabilities. Apart from derivative financial instrtuments-designated as qua!n‘ymg cash ﬂow hedgrng mstruments (see belowy), changes in fair
value are recognized in current period income.

Derivative financial instruments include swaps, futures forwards and opnon contracts all of whlch derive their value mainly from
underlying interest rates, foreign exchange rates, commodity valiies:or equity-instruments. A defivative contract may be traded on an
exchange or over-the-counter (“OTC"): Exchange-traded deri vatives are standardrzed and include futures and certain option contracts,
OTC derivative contracts aré individually negotrated between: contractmg partles “and include forwards, caps, floors and swaps.
Derivative financial instruments are subject to'various risks srmrlar 10! those related to:the: underlymg financial instruments, including
market, credit and liquidity risk. e

In addition to the derivative financial mstruments descnbed above; the.Group enters mto contracts that are not considered derivative
financial instruments in their entirety but that include embédded derivative features. Such embedded derivatives are assessed at inception
of the contract and, depending on their characteristics, are accounted for as separate derivative financial instruments pursuant to IAS 39.

Derivative financial instruments used for hedgmg For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value
hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or fiability, or cash flow hedges where they
hedge exposure to vaniability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particutar risk associated with"a recognized asset or liability
or a forecasted transaction. '

To qualify for hedge accounting the hedging relationship must meet several,strict conditions on documentation, probability of occurrence,
hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement. if these conditions are not met, then the relationship does not qualify for hedge
accounting. In this case the hedging instrument and the hedged item ‘are reported independently as if there was no hedging relationship.
In particutar, derivative financial instruments are;reported at fair value, with changes in fair value charged to current period income.

In relation to fair value hedges which meet the conditions for special hedge accolinting, gains or losses from remeasuring the hedging
instrument at fair value are recognized immediately in the income statement. Gains or-josses on the hedged item attributable to the
hedged fisk are adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged-item and recognized in the income statement. Where the adjustment
is 1o the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument carried at amomzed cost, the adjustment is amortized to
current period income such that it is fully amortized by maturity,

In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the conditions for speci‘al hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recogmzed directly in shareholders’ equity and the ineffective portion is recognized
in current period income. When the hedged firm commitment resultsin the recognition of an-asset or a liability, then, at the time the asset
or liability is recognized, the associated gains o losses that had previgusly been recognized in shareholders’ equity are included in the initial
measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the asset or liability. For other cash fiow hedges, the gains or losses that
are recognized in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the income staternent in.the same period in which the item hedged affects the net
profit and ioss, for example when the future sale actually occurs; .. :

Hedge accounting is discontinued when thé hédging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. At that point in time, cumulative gains or losses on the Hedging instrument recognized in shareholders' equity are kept in
shareholders’ equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. if a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain
or loss recognized in shareholders’ equity is transferred to current perlod income.

(h) Securities lending

Certain entities within the Group participate insecurities lending arrangements whereby specific securities are loaned to other
institutions, primarily major brokerage firms, for short periods.of fime. Under the terms of the securities lending agreements, the loaned
securities remain under the Group’s control and thus do not get derecognized.

{i) Obligation to repurchase securities

Sales of securities under agreements to repurchase are accounted for as collateralized borrowing transactions and are recorded at their
contracted repurchase amount plus accrued interest at the balance sheet date. The Group minimizes the credit risk that counterparties
to transactions might be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations by monitoring customer credit exposure and collateral value and

generally requiring additional collateral to be deposited with the Group when déemed necessary.
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(j) Debt |ssued
Debt issued by the Group is mma!ly measured at cost, which fs:the Tair value of the conS|deratlon recerved net of transaction costs incurred.

Subseguent measurement is at amortised cost, usrng the effectlve rnterest rate method t0. amortrse cost at mceptron 1o the redemption value
over the life of the debt. - _ L BT R T I

R . z L e S e
(k) Interest expense . L .
Interest expense is recognized when incurred on an amortrzed cost basrs

(I} Intangible assets
Goodwill: Acguisitions of subsidiaries and assocnates are accounted for under the purchase method whereby the purchase price is
allocated to the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition with any residual amount allocated to goodwill.
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method overits estimated economic life, Goodwill arising on strategic acquisitions of

the Group to obtain long duration insurance contracts, customer relationships and distribution networks is amortized over a maximum
period of 20 years. For all other acquisitions, goodwill is generally.amortized over 5 years. The recoverability of the carrying value of
the goodwill is reviewed periodically. if the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the recoverab(e amount, the carrying value is reduced
through a charge to current period earnings.

[

The present value of profits of acquired i |nsurance contracts is amortrzed over the expected llfe of the policies acquired, based on a
constant percentage of the present value of estimated gross, proﬂts (margr,n/s) expected_tp .,b,e,, alized, or.over the premium recognition
period, as appropriate. : : : S L * ’

Other intangibles are carried at cost less accurmulated amortization:and consist primarily of acqurred brand names and software costs that
meet the recognition criteria for capitalization. The costs 6f these asséts are amortized using the straight-line method over the following
estimated economic lives: brand names 20 years; software 3 to 5'years;

Attorney-in-fact relationships: At the date of the acquisition of Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“FGI”) in 1988, a portion of

the purchase price was assigned to the attorney-in-fact relationships. The asset representing the attorney-in-fact relationships represents

the ability of FGI to generate future revenues based on thé Group’s relationship with the Farmers Exchanges. This carrying value is amortized

on a straight-line basis over 40 years. In determining the period of amortization, the Group considered the organizational structure of

inter-insurance exchanges, under which subscribers exchange contracts with each other and appoint an attorney-in-fact to provide certain

management services. In addition, the Group considered the historical attorney in-fact reiattonshlp between FGI and the Farmers Exchanges.

To the extent that there is a change in thrs retatlonshlp the! Group would re- evaluate the value of this’ mtangrble asset.

(m) Income taxes i = : : :

The Group provides current tax expense according 1o the tax Iaws of each jurisdiction in which. it operates. Income taxes are recognized
using the asset and liabifity method. Deferred income taxes are reécorded for temporary dlf‘ferences, which are based on the difference

between financial statement carrying amounts-and income- tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted income tax rates and laws.

Losses for tax purposes are treated as deferred tax assets 10 the extent itis probab1e that the losses can offset future taxable income and

is allowed by the applicable local tax laws and regulations.

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levned by the same taxation authority and when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset them. .

Taxes payable by either the holding company or its subsidiaries on distribution to the holding company of the undistributed profits of
subsidiaries are recognized as deferred income taxes unless a drstnbutron of those profits is notintended or would not give rise to a tax
liability. I ST T ‘L ) ¥

Taxes paid by United Kingdom life insurance businesses are based.on investment income less a!!owable expenses. To the extent that these
taxes exceed the amount that would have been payable.in respect of the shareholders’ share of taxable profits, it is normal practice for
United Kingdom life businesses to recover this tax from pohcyholders Whnle in the Groups case the relevant company has the contractual
right to charge policyholders for the taxes attributable to thelr share of investment income léss expenses, the obligation to pay the tax
authority rests with the company and therefore, the full amount of tax: including that charged- to policyholders is accounted foras an
income tax. Income tax expense therefore includes an element attributable to policyholders. In ‘addition, deferred tax on unrealized gains

“Investments held on account and at risk of fife insuranice policyholders” related to certain United Kingdom unit-linked policies is
mcluded as income tax expense and an accrual for future policy fees to recover the tax charge is included in gross written premiums and
policy fee revenue.

(n) Employee benefits i

The operating companies in the Group provide employee retirement benefits through both defmed benefit plans providing specified
benefits and defined contribution plans. The assets of these plans are generally held separately from the Group’s general assets in trustee-
administered funds. Defined benefit plan obligations and contribitions are determined annually by qualified actuaries using the projected
unit credit method. The Group’s expense related to these plans is accrued over the employees’ service periods based upon the actuarially
determined cost for the period. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognized
actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of thé previous reporting year exceeded 10% of the higher of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan-assets at that date: These gains or losses are recognized over the expected average remaining
working lives of the employees participating in the plans Contrlbutrons to the defmed contribution pension plans are charged to the
operating statement as they become due. . :
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Other defined post-employment benefits, such as medical care and life‘insurance, are also provided for certain employees and are primarily
funded internally. The cost of such benefits is accrued over the service penod of the employee hased upon the actuarially determined cost for
the period. E ‘ :

(o) Share-based payment transactions
Expenses for share-based payment transactions are recogmzed durmg the vestlng penod in the operating statement. These expenses
recognize the fair value of the shares or optlons granted A correspondrng amount is reflected in additional paid-in capital.

(p) Fixed assets v : ‘

Real estate (buildings) held for own use and other fixed assets are camed at cost Iess accumulated depreciation and any necessary
write-downs due to impairment. The costs of these assets are.depreciated principaily on a straight-line basis over the following estimated
useful economic lives: buildings 25 to 50 years; furnlture and fixtures 5 to 10 years; and computer equipment 3 to 5 years. Real estate
(land) is carried at cost less any.necessary write- downs Maln‘cenance ahd fepair costs are chargéd to income as incurred. Costs of systems
purchased from outside vendors and developed internally are deferred and amortized over expected useful lives up to 5 years. Gains and
losses on disposal of fixed assets and real estate held for own use are determlned based: -on thelr respective carrying amounts.

(q) Leases g - :
Leases in which a srgnlflcant portron of the rlsks and rewards of ownershrp are retamed by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the operatlng statement ona strarght -line basis over the lease term.

(r) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has-a present obligation (legal or constructlve) asa result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be-required to settle the oblrgatron and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. . . . 3 :

(s) Treasury stock

Treasury stock is deducted from equity at its nominal value of. CHF 6.50"and CHF 9. per share as.of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Differences between this amount and the amount paid for acqurnng, or recerved for disposing of treasury shares, are recorded
as an adjustment to additional paid-in capitalin shareholders equrty

(t) Foreign currency translation and transactlons )

Foreign currency translation: In view of the mtematlonal nature of the Group there are many individuai entities with different functional
currencies. Therefore, a common presentation currency'is required. Due 10 the Group’s. economic exposure to the US dollar (USD), the
presentation currency of the Group has been determined.to be the US dollar. Assets and liabifities of Group companies with functional
currencies other than US dollars are translated at the end-of- penod exchange rates, while operating statements are translated at average
exchange rates for the period. The resultrng translation dnfferences are recorded dlrectly in shareholders equity as cumulative translation
adjustments. . #

Foreign currency transactions: Foreign currency monetary items are translated at end-of- perlod exchange rates, non-monetary items
which are carried at historical cost denominated in & foreign currency are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transactlon or 3 waghted average rate The resultlng exchange drﬁerences are recorded in the
consolidated operating statement.

The table below summarizes the principa! exchange rates that have been used for translatlon purposes The net gains/(losses) on foreign
currency transactions included in the consolidated operatmg statements were USD 153 mrlllon and USD (125) mitlion for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Operating statements

Table 2 ) -, . . ‘ i .. Balance sheets and cash flows

Principal exchange rates . g , asof for the years ended
USD per foreign currency unit C : S 12/31/04 12/31/03  12/31/04  12/31/03
Euro 1.3555 1.2594 1.2440 1.1333
Swiss franc - ‘ - 0.8769 0.8072 0.8063 07446
British pound sterling ) . - ) : 1.9183 1.7858  1.8329 16363
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3. Implementation of new accounting standards and.adjustments

The Accounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC) of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) issued Statement

of Position 03-01(“SOP 03-01"), Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises-for'Certain Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts

- and for Separate Accounts.-SOP 03-01 has‘resulted in three- SIgmflcam changes in the treatment of certain life contracts, which have been
adopted retrospectively, in accordance with 1AS 8: :

i) Recognition of additional liabilities for guaranteed minimum death beneﬂts guaranteed ret«rement income benefits and benefits in
respect of annuitization options on an accrual basis, primarily for life policies in the United States. The recognition of guarantee liabilities
resulted in a write-down of deferred policy acquisition costs, due to a reduction in future estimated gross profits supporting these
reserves.

ii) Clarification of the distinction between universal life insurance and investment products, resulting in certain products in the life business

© inthe United Kingdon: now being treated as insurancé. The classuﬁcauon as insurance consequently resulted in the retrospective accrual
of additional insurance reserves.

iy “Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance: pohcyholders“ which are not bankruptcy protected from other creditors,
and “Insurance. reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried.by-policyholders” were reclassified to total investments
and insurance reserves in the amount of approximately USD 50 billion. This change also resulted in the inclusion in the consolidated
operating statements of additional investment result arising from.the reclassified investments and a substantially corresponding charge
in “Policyholder dividends and participation in profits”. As a result thereis no materaal net lmpact on the Group’s operating results.

The impact of the new standard is summanzed in the tables below

Table 3.1

Summary of restatement of key consolidated operating statement items :

due to implementation of new accounting standard : © Aspreviously Restatement  Restated
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31,2003 : S reported adjustment 2003
Revenues

Net investment income . o 7,004 1,391 8,395
Net capital gains on investments and impairments ‘ : 811 4,369 5,180
Benefits, losses and expenses : o . ) :

Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance ‘ o il (423)  {5.622)  (6,045)

Net income before income taxes and mmonty interests K ] . 3,746 (135) 3,611
Income tax expense ' ' R ) . (1,520) 24 (1,496)

Net.income:: S -2 2,009¢
Table 3.2 ’

Summary of restatement of key consolidated balance sheet |tems )

due to implementation of new accountmg standard . : As previously Restatement  Restated

in USD millions, as of December 31,2003 ) reported  adjustment 2003

Assets '

Debt securities o 113,002 6,030 119,032

Equity securities ) 15,188 37,134 52,322

Other investments A : : wreo 28,947 4,475 33,422
Cash and cash equtvalents ’ o ‘ 13,536 2,141 15677
Totalinvestments.., 175,967 . .49,780 225747:
Investments held on account and at nsk of hfe insurance. pohcyholders 71,936 (49,956) 21,980
Deferred policy acqmsmon costs _ 12,023 (239) 11,784
Total.assets., . : 17,876 . (234) 317642;

Liabilities ) . y g

Insurance reserves, gross Con 171,864 51,554 223,418
Insurance reserves for I;fe insurance where the mvestment rlsk is carned by pohcyholders o 73,233 (51,170) 22,063
Total liabilities . 97,5237 470.::216. 297739

Shareholders’ equity .

Cumulative translation adjustment o e P 181 (29) 152
Retained earnings ' : ' . 6,120 (421 5,699
Total shareholderst equity: UG 19,384 ., (450) 18,934
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Table 3. 3

Summary of restatement of key consolidated statement of cash flows items .

due to implementation of new accounting standard . As previously Restatement  Restated
in USD millions, for the year ended December 31,2003 L reported adjustment 2003
Cash flows from operating activities o L ‘

Net income R L 2,120 (111 2,009
Net capital (gains) on investments and impairments ) ) {811)  (4,369) {5,180)
Insurance reserves, gross e 6,452 9,115 15,567

Net cash provided by operating:activities ©..8.546. . ..4;634:, 13,180

Cash flows from investing activities

Sales and maturities: . p i

Debt securities o ol ‘ . 80,584 7,839 88,423
Equity securities T B S 31,800 14,248 46,048
Purchases: T R -
Debt securities L e v T (93,694)  (7.616) (101,310)
Equity securities SRR * A (21,227) (17,715)  (38,942)
Net cash Used in‘investing actwmes; 4(2:815).1+.(3,598) . {6,413}

£ 552 5,644
1,589 10,033
w2i141 185,677

Changeiin £ash and.cash-equivalents.
Cash and cash equnva#ents as of January 1 (Opemn balance)
Cashand cash.equivalentsasof December 31|

The SOP 03-01 restatemnent adjustments have been recorded pnmar:ly m the Life-insurance segmient, with-the exception of the write-down
of deferred policy acquisition costs which relate to busmess recorded in the Other Businesses segment

in 2004, amounts for the Group's internal reinsurance transact;ons have been allocated to the specmc reg|ons that wrote the underlying
business, whereas in 2003 those results were recorded inthe Centrally Managed Busmesses region. The 2003 amounts have been reclassified
to conform to this presentation. ) .

Farthcoming changes in accounting palicy :
For 2005 reporting, the Group will adopt new and amended accoummg standards.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 4 “Insurance’ Contracts” on March 31, 2004. The publication of this
standard provides, for the first time, guidance on accounting for insurance contracts. This standard applies to all insurance contracts
(including reinsurance contracts) that an entity issues and to reinsurance contracts that it holds, except for specified contracts covered by
other IFRS standards. in accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard the Group will adopt IFRS 4 as of January 1, 2005.

The most significant change as a result of the adoption of the'standard is the re-classification of certain contracts as financial instruments
and hence application of 1AS 39 to these contracts: The adoption of IFRS 4 does not provide comprehensive guidance on the accounting
treatment for insurance contracts and as such the’Group will continue to apply US GAAP incertain circumstances where IFRS is silent.

The IASB issued IFRS 3 "Business Combinations” on March 31, 20Q4‘ In'accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard,

the Group has applied this standard to business combinations forsvhich the agreement date is on or after March 31, 2004. The remaining

requirements of IFRS 3 will be adapted as of January1,2005. The most s’ignificant‘chang‘eys required by this standard are:

¢ All business combinations within its scope are to be accounted for. using the purchase method, previously IAS 22 permitted business
combinations to be accounted for using the pdoling of interests.method in certain circumristances,

« The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are to be recognized as part of allocating the cost of the combination
to be measured initially by the acquirer at their fair values at the acquisition date: Therefore, any minority interest in the acquiree is stated
at the minority’s proportion of the net fair values of those items.

» Goodwill acquired in a business combination is to be measured-after injtial recognition at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Therefore, the goodwill is not amortized and instead must be tested for.impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. .

|AS 36 "impairment of Assets" and IAS 38 “Intang|ble Assets” were rewsed in March 2004 by the IASB as part of the Business Combinations
Project. Consistent with the Group’s adoptlon of IFRS 3, the rewsed standards will:be adopted as of January 1, 2005.

The 1ASB issued IFRSS “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and D|scont|nued Operanons“ on March 31,2004. The standard adopts the
classification “held for sale”, introduces the concept of a dispasal group; and specifies. that assets or disposal groups that are classified as
held for sale are carried at the lower of carrying-amount and fair.value less costs'to sell. It also replaces 1AS 35 regarding the accounting
treatment for discontinued operations. In accordance with the‘transitional provisions of IFRS 5 the standard will be adopted by the Group
as of January 1, 2005. The most significant impact for the Group may be the re-classification of some of its assets as “held for sale”.
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IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” was revised in December 2003 as part of the 1ASB's project to improve 1AS 32

“Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and IAS 39. A further amendment was made in March 2004. This change related

to Fair Value Hedge Accounting for a Portfolio Hedge of interest Rate Risk. IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”

should be applied for annual periods beginning on or-after January 1,,2005. The most significant changes are as follows:

e The standard clarifies that the evaluation of the transfer of nsks and rewards of ownershnp precedes the evaluation of the transfer of
control for all derecognition transactions.

¢ The standard permits an entity to designate any financial asset or financial liability on mmal recognition as one to be measured at fair

value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. To impose-discipline on this categorlzatlon an entity is precluded from

reclassifying financial instruments into or out of this category.

The standard provides additional guidance about how to determine fair values using valuation techniques.

¢ The standard clarifies that an impairment loss is recognized ohly when it has beenincurred. It also provides additional guidance on what
events provide objective evidence of impairment for investments‘in equity instruments.

* Hedges of firm commitments are to be treated as fair value"hedges rather than cash flow hedges. However, the standard clarifies that a
hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment can be treated as either a cash flow hedge or a fair value hedge.

The Group has not yet quantified the impact these changes will have 6n the Group's financial bdéltion or-results.

4. Changes in the scope of consolidation

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, thé Group completed sales of several busmesses and recognized post-completion
adjustments. The total net gain on all divestments made during the'year before tax was USD 88 million and USD 351 miliion, and the
after-tax net gain on divestments was USD 71 million and USD 334 miillion for 2004 and 2003; respectively. Total cash consideration received
was USD 2,488 million.in 2004 and USD 2,737 mllllOI’l in 2003,

Table 4

Net gain on significant divestments-only ) : ) )

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 o L 2004 2003
Consideration received } I e R 2,488 2,664
Less: net assets divested e e e , (2,356) (2,242
Costs related to divestments i e C o (44) {79)
Net.gain on divestmentsbefore tax . ia . Yo s 343
Net assets divested ) : : L .

Cash and cash equivalents o : S o 435 339
Other assets . 6,090 20,808
insurance liabilities : o o . _ (4.014)  (9,558)
Other liabilities ‘ ' ' ' 2 (155) (9,347
Net.assefs divésted: 2,356 2242

The Group's most significant transactions affectmg the scope of consohdatlon durmg the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were
as described below: .

Changes in 2004

In Belgium and Luxembourg, the Group completed the sale to P&V Assurances of its Jife insurance operations (both consumer and
commercial), its workers' compensation portfolio-and'its general i msurance operatlons in‘'the consumer and small commercial segments,
recognizing a loss of USD 30 million before tax.

The Group completed severat other divestments with a net gain of USD 23 million before tax. These included the sale of its interests in
Thai Zurich insurance Company, life insurance policies written by the Group’s Taiwanese branch, Turegum insurance Company, the
real-estate investment company Zirich Atrium B.V,, Zurich Insurance (Singapore) Pte. Ltd, Zirich Krankenversicherung AG (Deutschland)
as well as its stake in Globale Krankenversicherungs-AG, Zurich Life Philippines and McMillan Shakespeare Australia Pty Limited.

The companies and businesses divested in"2004 contributed, before their sélé, a net foss of USD.19 million to the Group’s 2004 results
compared to a net income of USD 19 million in 2003. e

During 2004, the Group has also recognized several post-completion adjustments for divestments closed in 2003, The total aggregate post
completion gain was USD 95 million. The most significant impacts wefe from the finalization of the sale of Threadneedle Asset Management
Holdings Ltd., Riid, Blass & Cie AG and the transfer.of certaln denvatlve transactlons credit faolmes and related assets of Zurich Capital
Markets to BNP Paribas, :

Changes in 2003

The Group completed the sale of certain operatlons of Zurich France to Assicurazioni Generali-SpA, recognizing a foss of USD 28 million
before tax. The transaction included the life insurance operations (mcludmg Eagle Star business) and parts of consumer and commercial lines
of the general insurance operations. .

On Octaber 31, 2003, the Group completed the sale of Zurich L:fe Assurance Company (Zurich Life), one of the UK Life businesses, to
Swiss Re, recognizing & gain of USD 128 million before tax.
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On September 30 2003 the Group completed the sa!e of Threadneedle Asset Management Holdmgs Ltd to Amencan Express Frnancral
Corporation, recognizing a gain on divestments of:USD 325 mlllron before tax.

The Group completed the sale of Zurich Life, part of its US Irfe and annU|ty operat ons, to Bank One Corporatlon on September 3, 2003,
recognizing a loss on divestment of USD 165 million before tax, Kemper Investors Llfe !nsurance Company was not part of the sale and is
retained by the Group. .

On September 1, 2003, the Group completed the sale of parts.of its Dutch operations to.SNS Reaal Groep N.V.,, recognizing a gain on
divestment of USD 114 million before tax. SNS Reaal acquired all'ofthe Group's life operations as well as general insurance -operations in
the consumer and small business segments in the Netherlands

On March 31, 2003, the Group completed the sale of Rud Blass & Cre AG Bankgeschaft 10 Deutsche Bank (Suisse) SA. For this transaction,
a significant portion of the sales proceeds could not be recognized-at the time of sale, as it was contingent on the development of assets
under management over a period of fifteen moriths subsequént to'the closing. Finalization was completed in 2004.

In 2003, the companies and businesses divested contributed USD 131 million to the Groups netAlnc‘ome‘

As of December 31, 2003, Zurich Capital Markets (*ZCM*) cpnsolidate‘d Zurich Premier Series Ltd.(”Premier”), an investment company.
ZCM's equity interest in the investment company increased from .32 % to 59% during the yéar with the majority interest acquired on
December 31, 2003. As a result of the consolidation of PremrerA "Trading equity pom‘ohos in capital markets and banking activities” and
“other liabilities” increased by USD 638 mrlhon

5. Management fees

Table 5

Management fees .

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 L . L . } R 2004 2003
Farmers management fees and other related revenue o o o 1,985 1,885
Asset management fees . . 45 177
Total . ... 0 i i Lo T ©2,030 - 2,062

Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries ("FGI") are contractually permrtted to receive a° management fee of up to 20% (25% in the case of
the Fire insurance Exchange) of the gross premiums earned’ by the Farmérs Exchanges..in order to enable the-Farmers Exchanges to maintain
appropriate capital and surplus while offering compétitive insurance rates, FGI has historically charged a lower management fee than the
maximum allowed. The range of fees has varied by line of business over time and from year to year. During the past five years, aggregate
management fees have averaged between 12% and 13% of gross premiums-earned by the Farmers Exchanges. The gross earned premiums
of the Farmers Exchanges were USD 14,020 miillion in 2004 (USD 13,654 million in 2003).

Asset management fees were primarily earned by Threadneedle Asset Management Holdlngs Lid., WhICh was divested on
September 30, 2003.

6. Investments

A summary of net investment income and net capital gains and losses and impairments is given below.

; L . . Net capital
Table 6.1 T Net investment gains/{losses) and
Investment result - Total investments . o .income : : impairments? Investment result
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 . Yo .. 2004 - 2003 .. 2004 2003 2004 2003
Debt securities o cow oo, 5,446 5,318, 1,414 1,488 6,860 6,807
E£quity securities : . L 1,338 1,245 " 2,724 3,744 4,058 4,989
Investments in associates ’ . . .86 50 (36) (9) 50 81
Other investments: \ A - . ‘
investments held by investment companies \ . 14 1" 140 113 154 124
Real estate held for investment ‘ P 840 799 471 135 131 934
Mortgage loans, policyholders' collateral and otherloans L 1,075 785 187 74 1,262 859
Short-term investments . 129 105 3 1 132 106
Other? ' T 231 162 .23 254 (208)
Cash and cash equivalents g 355 . -210: 8 363 213

.9.51 872 v 80 14,444 131905
(396) (330 - - (396) (330)
5,494, .8395....4934 . 14,048 13,575

favestment:result, gross
Investment expenses?
Investment result, nets,..

! Impairments on total investments amounted to USD 175 million in 2004 and USD 1,067 million in 2003.
2including net capital gains/{losses) on derivative financial instruments of USD (5) mrllron in:2004 and USD {419) million in 2003
3 Rental operating expense for real estate held for investment of USD 182 million in 2004 and USD'118 million in 2003 are included in these-amounts.
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The details of the investment balances as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are given in the tables below.

Table 6.2 2004 2003
Breakdown of investments usbp % usb %
as of December 31 millions of total millions of total
Debt securities:
Available-for-sale 107,882 42.9% 100,086 44.4%
Held-to-maturity 5.855 2.3% 3,886 1.7%
Trading 16,775 6.7% 15,060 6.7%
Total debt securities 130,512 51.9% 119,032 52.8%
Equity securities (including tradmg equity portfolids in’ capltal markets and bankmg activities): - :
Available-for-sale BRI 12,064 4.8% 13,525 6.0%
Trading ; 49,443  19.6% 43,100 19.1%
of which: - Trading equity portfolios in capitaf markets.and banklng activities 2,773 1.1% 4,303 1.9%
- Investments for unit-linked products 44,574 17.7% 37,134 16.4%
Total equity securities ; 61,513 24.4% 56,625 25.1%
Investments in associates Ui 645 0.3% 991 0.4%
Other investments: - ; : : :
Investments held by investmant companies S4728 0 0% 1576 07%
Real estate held forinvestment : S . £.12,581 50% 11,101 49%
Mortgage loans SRS L. 10,251 41% 11,283 5.0%
Policyholders’ coltateral and other loans " 14,902 5.9% 7,479 33%
Short-term investments 1,943 0.8% 1,834 0.8%
Other 165 0.1% 149 0.1%
Total other investments © 41,530 16.6% 33,422 14.8%
Cash and cash equuvalents 16,959 6.8% 15,677 6.9%
Total ' 951159 1 10000% . 225,747 100.0%

Short-term investments incfude investments that have an original maturity of less than oné year.. -

Cash and investments with a carrying value of USD 7,78 imillion:ahd USD 7,466 million were deposited with regulatory authorities as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. As of Decerber 31,2004 and 2003, respectively, debt securities with a carrying value
of USD 5,009 million and USD 3,742 million have been sold to fmancnal institutions under short:term sale and repurchase agreements.
These securities continue to be recognized as investments i the balance sheet and an obligation to repurchase them is included in
liabilities in the balance sheet at that date. On December 31, 2004 and 2003, thevolume of securmes Ioaned out by the Group under
securities lending programs was USD 16.2 billioh and USD 7.4 blthon respec‘uveiy

Amortized Estimated
Table 6.3 cost fair value
Debt securities maturity schedule Held-to-maturity Available-for-sale
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003
Less than one year 181 106 9,498 4,386
One year through five years 1,195 287 32,759 30,903
Five years through ten years 948 - 249 30,601 31,877
Over ten years 3,531 3,244 20,799 20,882
Subtotal 5,855 3,886 93,657 88,048
Mortgage and asset backed securities s - 14,225 12,038
Total.? S e :3,886..7107,882 100,086

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of debt securities held-to-maturity and available-for-sale are shown by contractual maturity.
Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because certam borrowers have the nght 1o call or prepay certain obligations with

or without call or prepayment penalties.
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Table 6.4

Equity securities (including trading equity portfohos ‘ 2004 2003
in capital markets and banking activities) . USD % of total USD % oftotal
as of December 31 millions investments millions  investments
Common stocks, including equity unit trusts : 51,396 20.4% 46,435 20.5%
Unit-trusts {debt securities, real estate,

short-term investments) ) 5,270 2.1% 4,192 1.9%
Common stock portfolios backing the . ‘ )

participating with-profit policyholder contracts 2,074 0.8% 1,695 0.8%
Trading equity portfolios in capital markets : ’

and banking activities ’ 2,773 1.1% 1.9%
Total e e 61,513 .24.4% 25.1%:
Table 6.5 " Costor - Gross Gross Estimated
Available-for-sale securities amortized-cost unrealized gains unrealized losses fair value
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Debt securities — available-for-sale .
Swiss federal and cantonal governments 8,898 . . 8,170 455 404 (12) (12) 9,341 8,562
United Kingdom government 9,287 8009 457 358 © (29) (94 9,715 9,273
United States government 8,694 107165 196 207 (189) (90) 8,701 10,282
Other governments . 27,787 26788 992 687 (55) (296) 28,724 27,179
Corporate securities 35,608 31,149 .1,627 1,573 - (72) (268) 37,163 32,454
Mortgage and asset-backed securities -+~ 13,954 11,668 334 469 (62) (99) 14,226 12,038
Redeemable preferred stocks 11T 204 1 o4 e - 12 298
Totalidebt Saciirifios = available-for-sale -4 111 11104,239) 243 4082 3702 (419 358) 107,882 100,086
Equity securities — available-for-sale
Common stock . 1,090 (705) (1,561) 7,520 9,466
Unit-trust : 4,426 (271) (309) 4,274 3,806
Non-redeemable preferred stock - 237 (16) (17) 270 253
Totalequity'securiii ‘ * +(992)54:(1:887): 7 12,068 13,525"
Table 6.6
Realized capital gains/(losses) and impairments .
on available-for-sale debt and equity securities C .Debt securities Equity securities Total
in USD miltions, for the years ended December 31 ’ 2004 - 20037 2004 2003 2004 2003
Gross realized capital gains - available-for-sale 765 1,891 . 626 1,405 1,391 3,296
Gross realized capital losses - available-for-sale RO (173) (304) (753) (1,402) (926) (1,706)
Impauments - avarlable-for sale (25) - (48 (123) (989) (148) (1,037
Total : ~ 567 . (350). - (986). 317+ ., 553
Table 6.7 .
Net capital gains/{losses) on trading debt and equlty securities Debt securities Equity securities Total

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004. 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
et capitaligains/(iosses).on trading-debt and eqt es 4730, 3,821 4,680

Table 6.8 : : - . ‘Share in Ownership

Investments in associates S : .. Carrying value profnt/(loss) interest

in USD millions : 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Capital Z Financial Services Fund Il LP United States g ©379 - 3N 66 59 29.43% 29.41%
The Guarantee Company of North America, Canadd * - o . 88 82" T2 .2 32.08% 32.08%
PSP Swiss Property AG, Switzerland’ : o ' - 269 11 19 12.40% 22.34%
Other_ ' e 269 n/m n/m

Total oo . nim. . .n/m,

i v g

!Since May 13, 2004, PSP Swiss Property AG, Swnzerland has no longerbeen classified as'an investment in associates, as the Groups ownership interest deciined below 20%.

20 Zurich Financial Services Group - Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Consolidated Financial Staterments



Table 6.9

Real estate held for investment o : . S .
in USD millions R o 2004 2003

Carrying value as of January 1 (opening balance) . - o . o 11,101 10,572
Additions and capital improvements S L ; ' 1,115 231
Disposals o s . ' (636)  (1,051)
Market value revaluation ' 436 13
Transfer from/(to) assets held for own use L - ' (27) 310
Foreign currency translation effects S - C . 552 1,026

12,541 11,101

Carrying value as of Decerritiér 31 (closing balance)’

Real estate held for investment consists of investments in commercral re5|dent|al and mixed-use properties primarily located in Switzerland,
Germany and the United Kingdom.

T
L?rt:lfeilllozed gains/(losses) on investments included in shareholders equ’ty
in USD millions, as of December 31 . o . 2004 2003
Debt securities — available-for-sale ) o 3,643 2,843
Equity securities — available-for-sale . - ; ) 311 (708)
Other L e S T 83 (157)
Less amount of net unrealized (gains)/losses on investments attrlbutable to!, L ‘
Life policyholder dividends and other pollcyholder I|ab|!mes . i (2,248) (638)
Life deferred acquisition costs R - {176) (119)
Deferred income taxes ' S (513) (353)
Minority interests Lo , ' (25) (6)
Total T ’ 4 i 862
7. Investments held on account and at rlsk of life insurance pohcyholders and insurance reserves

for life insurance where the investment rusk is carried by pohcyholders
Table 7 :
Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance. pollcyholders and
insurance reserves for life insurance where the mvestment risk is carrled by pollcyholders
in USD millions, as of December 31 , 2004 2003
Debt securities ) . ) ‘ 150 235
Equity securities T . 23,149 21,175
Collateral and other loans 4 6
Other investments ' - : 797 453
Cash and cash equivalents L7 : ‘ 89 1M

Total investments held on account ai i 24,189 21,980.
Total insurance reserves for life insurance where the mvestment risk i is carried by policyholders 24,261 22,063

ln certain countries, "Insurance reserves for life insurance where the mvestment risk is carried by pohcyholders” include amounts due to
policyholders as well as deferred front-end fees and, thus, the' reserves are carried ata higher amount than the total “Investments held on
account and at risk of life insurance policyholders”, :

The implementation of SOP03-01, as discussed in note 3,.resulted in,a reclassification of the assets and reserves for products sold in certain
countries, predominantly the UK, to their respective investment categories and insurance reserves as they do not meet the criteria for
classification as “separate accounts”. The effects are disclosed in note 3. The remaining balances represent products that consist primarily of
variable life insurance and annuity products for which the palicyholder directly bears the investmenit risk of the related assets.

e

8. Fair value of financial instruments and 'other in’ve's’thwents

The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estlmatmg the fair value of the financial instruments and other investments are
discussed below.

e Debt and equity securities: Fair values are based on quoted market Jprices when available. If quoted market prices are not available,
then fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing medels, discounted cash flow or other recognized valuation techniques.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Accordingly, these participations are carried at the Group's
proportional interest of the investee's shareholders’ equ:ty The fanr value of these emmes part:cularly for publicly traded entities,
may differ from the carrying value.

» Investments held by investment companies: Estimated fair va!ues are determmed by the investment managers

Real estate held for investment: Fair value is determined on a regular basis with reference to current market conditions.

Mortgage loans: Fair values of loans on real estate are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations based upon the Group’s
current incremental lending rates for similar types of loans.
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et

. Pohcyholders coﬂateral and other ioans Fa;rvalues are estsmated on the basss of dlscoumed cash ﬂow pricing models or other
recognized valuation techniques.

e Short-term investments: Carrying amounts approxrmate falr values

» Cash and cash equivalents: Carrying amounts approximate falrvalues

* Derivative trading assets and liabilities: Fair values are based on quoted market pnces dealer pnce quotatlons discounted cash flow
models and option pricing models.

¢ Debt: Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow calculatlons based upon the Group’s current incremental borrowing rates
for simitar types of borrowings with maturities consistent with-those femaining for the’ debt bemg valued.

» Obligations to repurchase securities: Carryang amounts approxrmate fair value. - :

Table 8 T IR Total Total

Fair value of financial instruments. - -~ 0E e y oo fairvalue carrying value
in USD millions, as of December 31 . R o . e 2004 2003 2004 2003
Debt securities i S ) : 130,719 119,423 130,512 118,032
Equity securities (incl. trading equity port‘fohos in caprtal markets and banklng activities) -~ ~ 61513 56,625 61,513 56,625
Investments in associates B : L 647 991 645 991
Other investments: . : P

Investments held by investment companies s ‘, . 1,728 1,576 1,728 1,576
Real Estate held for investment o R A e 12,541 11,101 12,541 11,101
Mortgage loans EEEEEE ' 10,179 11,387 10,251 11,283
Policyholders’ collateral and other loans ' o ' , . 15441 7484 14,902 7,479
Short-term investments : e 1,943 1,834 1,943 1,834
Other . e e ‘ 165 149 165 149
Total other investments o o e 41,997 33,531 41,530 33,422

Cash and cash equivalents U ) o . 16,959 15,677 16,959 15,677
Derivative trading assets ) ) 5 2,583 1,424 2,583

Total of financial instrumentsi(assets) =~ ..228,830. . 252,583 . 228,330"
Debt ~ ' o (10,103) (11,037) (9,751) (10,736)
Obligations to repurchase securities ’ {5,009) (3,742) {5,009) (3,742)

Derivative trading liabilities

Total-of finandial instrumentsi(liabilities).

(1,300) (2,442) (1,300)  (2,442)
7!

16,412)

221):+{16;060) -* (16920}

9. Derivative financial instruments

{a) Principles : ‘ L

The Group uses derivative financial mstruments to manage nsks related to its caprtal assets and habrlmes and its commitments to third
parties. The Group, due to its multinational operations, has- forelgn currency exposure and, due to the long-term nature of some of its
insurance reserves, has exposure to interest rate-and reinvestment risks. The Group uses derivative fmancval instruments to mitigate the risks
posed by changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates, Therefore, derivative finangial instruments are part of insurance, investment,
asset-liability management, capital raising or ¢ash management actrvrtres and must coriform to the general guidelines of the Group for these
activities, which are documented and reviewed for compliance by the Group. If the Group were required to settle outstanding derivative
positions, the sum of gains and losses would not be material to the Group as of 'December 31,2004,

Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM") has a portfolio of derlvatrve products for the benefit of its customers. ZCM does not engage in proprietary
trading. ZOM's positions on derivative financial ifstruments are separately reported in subsection {d) of this nate.

For interest rate caps, floors and swap transactions, forward and futures.contracts and options written, only the potential market value
of the instruments represents a credit risk to the Group. The Group controls the credit risk Qf its interest rate swap agreements and forward
and futures contracts through credit approvals, limits and. mionitoring procedures

To limit credit risk exposure derivative financial instruments.are typically executed with counterpar‘tles rated A or better by Standard & Poor’s.
Wherever possible, efforts are undertaken to net the credit exposure with rndwrdual counterpames in.compliance with applicable faws.

The term "contractual amount” is used for derivative fmancral mstruments for which an exchange of the principal sum at maturity could
take place, e.g. options, futures, currency swaps. The term “notional-amount” describes instruments for'which the principal sum is only
notionally lent or borrowed, e.g. interest swaps, forward rate agreements (FRAs). The notional principal amounts are used to express the
extent of the Group's involvement in derivative transactions, This standard measurement of the volume of derivative transactions is not a
guantification of market risk or credit risk and it may not necessaily be recorded on the balance sheet.
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{b) Derwatwe fmancnal mstruments used ‘
Interest rate and currency swaps: Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two partles to exchange periodic payments
in the same currency, each of which is computed on a different interest rate basis, on a specified: notional amount. Most interest rate swaps
involve the net exchange of payments calculated as the difference bétween the fixed and floating interest payments. Currency swaps, in
their simplest form, are contractual agreements that involve the exchange of both periodic and final amounts in two different currencies.
Exposure to loss on both types of swap contracts will increase or decrease over their respective lives as a function of maturity dates, interest
and foreign exchange rates, and the timing of payments The Group uses currency swaps to manage the currency and interest rate risk of
its debt issuances.

Interest rate futures, forwards and options contracts: Interest rate futures are exchange-traded instruments and represent commit-
ments to purchase or sell 2 designated security or money market instrument at a specified future date and price. Interest rate forward
agreements are traded over-the-counter (“OTC") where two parties agree on an interest rate and other terms that will become a reference
point in determining, in concert with an agreed notional principal amount, a net payment to be made by one party to the other, depending
on what rate in fact prevails at a future point in time.-Interest rate:options, which consist primarily of caps and floors, are interest rate
protection instruments that involve the obligation of the seller to pay the buyer an interest rate differential in exchange for a premium paid
by the buyer. This differential represents the differencé between the current rate and an ‘agreed rate applied to a notional amount. Exposure
to loss on interest rate contracts will increase or decrease over theif respective lives as interest rates fluctuate. For interest rate futures and
exchange-traded options, the Group’s exposure to off-balance sheet credit risk is limited, as these transactions are executed on organized
exchanges that assume the obligation of the counterparty and generally require security deposits and daily settlement of margins.

Foreign exchange contracts: Foreign exchange contracts, which include. spot, forward and futures contracts, represent agreements to
exchange one currency for another currency at an agreed price and settlement date. Foreign exchange option contracts are similar to
interest rate option contracts, except that they. are based on currencies, rather than interest rates. Exposure to loss on these contracts will
increase or decrease over their respective lives as currency exchange and interest rates fluctuate: For exchange-traded foreign exchange
contracts, the Group’s exposure to off-balance sheet credit risk is limited, as these transactions are exectted on organized exchanges that
assume the obligation of counterparties and generally require secunty deposits and daily settlement of margins.

{¢) Outstanding positions of the Group (excliding ZCM)

Table 8.1

Maturity profile of notional principal amounts and o

market values of derivative financial instruments - : : Notional

(excluding ZCM) > Remaining life o principal amounts Market values
in USD millions, as of December 31 Up todyear ‘1to Syears overS years: 2004 2003 2004 2003
Swaps

Interest rate swaps . . - . 158 | 135 . .. 293 1,052 (30) {79)
Currency swaps e L 523 3,160 3,683 765 306 132
Total return equity swaps : . 1 2,663 2,524 5,188 5,324 (249) (173)
Other swaps , oL 178 - 178 - M -
Options T S i

Purchased call options ;L 1,970 - 312 -4 2,286 707 23 10
Purchased put options ) = 1,173 S - 1,173 1,893 44 43
Written call options . 792 303 1,095 2,251 (184) (146)
Written put options - - ) - .= 245 (4) (3)
Futures/forwards o . B .

Purchased futures/forward contracts 6:375 - e 6,375 8,863 94 54
Written futures/forward contracts {9) 1
Total: .5 “ " (10) (161)
of whmh.

derivative trading asset . NIRRT LN s . sl L . 560 431
derivative trading fiability B N T o IR (570) (592)
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(d) Outstandmg posmons of Zunch Capltal Markets ("ZCM”

ZCM’s risk management model focused on controlling incremental fisk and actively monitoring existing portfolio risk. Existing portfolio risk is
monitored through a variety of quantitative measures including Value-at-Risk (VaR) and stress testing.

Table 8.2 )
Maturity profile of notional principal amounts
and market values of derivative financial

Remaining life

Notional

instruments (ZCM) principal amounts Market valtues
in USD millions, as of December 31 Up to lyear 1toSyears overSvyears 2004 2003 2004 2003
Swaps R -

Interest rate swaps 2,107 3,286 5,295 10,688 12,507 94 1
Currency swaps 453 68 26 547 1,473 {6) 7
Total return equity swaps : . 21 - 67 88 313 {(26) [:3)]
Other swaps : - - - - 105 - D)
Options '

Purchased call options 1272 = = 272 209 272 1,480
Purchased put options 198 446 - 797 1,441 1,497 (28) 59
Written call options 40" 186 33 - 259 3,253 (205)  (1,248)
Wiritten put options ' 181 521 1,520 2,222 2,342 21 (12)
Futures/forwards L .

Purchased futures/forward contracts - 420 . = - 420 1,360 36 70
Sold futures/ forward contracts 443 - - 443 1,333 (24) (33)
Total 1350 asp7 .3 134 302
of which: '

derivative trading asset 864 2,152
derivative trading liability (730) (1,850)
10. Insurance benefits, losses and expenses

Table 10.1 ‘

Breakdown of insurance benefits, losses and expenses. Gross' - - Ceded Net

in USD millions, for the years-ended December 31 T 2004 2003. 2004 2003 2004 2003
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 28,429 25,196-  -(4,959) (4,068) 23,470 21,128
Life insurance death and other benefits TR e 43,3200 10,672 (278) (435) 13,042 10,237
{Decrease)/increase in future life policyholders’ benéfits (1,650 2,051 (362) (157)  (2,012) 1,894
Total insurance benefts and-losses X 513, | (5,599) (4660) 34,500 33259
of which: s .

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid 22,034 . 21,260 (4,519) (4,744) 17,515 16,516
Table 10.2

Breakdown of policyholder dividends and participation m profits - Gross Ceded Net

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 . 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Total policyholder dividends and participation in profits ‘7,013 6,004 1 41 7,014 6,045
Table 10.3

Breakdown of underwriting and policy acqunsmon costs _ Gross - Ceded Net

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 e 2004 - 2003 . 2004 2003 2004 2003
Underwriting and policy acquisition costs 8,496 (1.253)  (1,487) 7,243 6,445

The impact of the adoption of SOP 03-01 s discussed in note 3.
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11. Insurance reserves

Table 11.1 N

Insurance reserves ‘ : i .

in USD millions, as of December 31 b . 2004 2003

Gross )

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses ' 57,813 51,068

Reserves for unearned premiums 14,234 13,844

Future life policyholders’ benefits . 88,856 85,211

Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds . . o ' ( 24,168 22,007

Reserves for unit-linked products ) ) ! 61,091 51,188

Total insirance resery : i e ‘ U 286,162 223,418
Ceded )

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses . BT ' o (14,339) {14,055)
Reserves for unearned premiums - . : D o : (2,097) (2,157)
Future life policyholders’ benefits .- ~ 5 {1,149) {875)
Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds. ) . . (3,680) (3,799

Reserves for unit-linked products S i e - -
Total ceded resenves {reinstirers’share 6f insurance. reserves) ‘ ‘ o 121,265) - (20:886)
Net

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses - e Cad 43,474 37,013
Reserves for unearned premiums i TR - S o - 12,137 11,787
Future life policyholders’ benefits - o e S 87,707 84,336
Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds T R 20,488 18,208

Reserves for unit-linked products
Totalihsurance reserves;net.

61,091 51,188
224,897 . 702,532

Reserves for unit-linked products relate to the implemehtatidn of 'SOP 03-01as discussed in note 3.

Table 11.2 VT

Development of reserves for Iosses and loss adjustment expenses

in USD millions ’ 2004 2003
As of January 1{opening balance) BRI . L

Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses : & o 51,068 45,306
Reinsurance recoverable L o - ' ) (14,055) (14,940)
Net reserves forlosses and loss adjustment expenses ) B C S ) 37,013 30,366
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred ) ’ S

Current period . T L 21,506 19,254
Prior years » 1,964 1,874
Total ‘ 23,470 21,128
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses paid ' :

Current year . e e o (7,655) (7,593
Prior years - ~ : ‘ - (9,860)  (8,923)
Total o e (17.515) (16,516)
Divestments of companies and busnnesses . o : L g L : (743) (291)
Foreign currency translation effects : L 1,249 2,326

As of December 31 {(closing balance)
Net reserves forlossesiand loss adjustment iexpenses , 43,474 37,013
Reinsurance recoverable ) 14,339 14,055
Gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses . 57,813 51,068

The Group establishes loss reserves, which are estimates of future payments of reported and unreported claims for losses and related
expenses, with respect to insured events that have occurred. Reserving is @ complex pracess dealing with uncertainty, requiring the
use of informed estimates and judgments. Any changes in estimates are reﬂected in the operating statements in the period in which
estimates are changed.

Significant delays occur in the notification of claims and a.substantial‘measure of experience and judgment is involved in assessing
outstanding fiabilities, the uftimate cost of which cannot be known with certainty as of the balance sheet date. The reserves for losses
and loss adjustment expenses are determined on the basis of information currently available; however, it is inherent in the nature of
the business written that the ultimate fiabilities may vary as aresuit of subsequent developments,
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Deferred charges re!atmg (o] retrospedwe reinsurance assumed totahng USD 182 mllllon and USD 265 mllhon as of December 31 2004 and
2003, respectively, have been deducted from reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses.

Iia:Isee:rlris for losses and loss adjustment expenses for ashestos S

and environmental claims 2004 2003

in USD miltions : i ) ; C o Gross Net Gross Net
Asbestos . ‘

As of January 1 {opening balance) . e Con el 2,930 2,420 2,572 2,030
Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred e s e T ' 497 433 322 347
Losses and toss adjustment expenses paid . S (136) {125) (156) (114)
Divestments, commutations, settlements and other ' ' o (410) (297) 1 1
Foreign currency translatron effects ’ o ‘ - 83 93 191 156

2964 {5244 92,930 - 2,420

Environmental

As of January 1 (opening balance) - LT A _ 703 559 812 648

Losses and loss adjustment expenses incurred ) (55) {50) (56) (43)
Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid e . (91) (61) (72) (58)
Divestments, commutations, settlements and other R ‘ ‘ {52) (50) (1) 1

Foreign currency transiation effects . . . . (5) 3) 20 13
As of December 31(clsing balance). . ..395 703 559

Management has considered environmental and latent injury claims and claims expenses in estabhshmg the reserves for losses and loss
adjustment expenses. The Group continues 1o be advised of claims asserting injuries from toxic waste, hazardous materials and other
environmental pollutants and alleged damages to cover the clean-up costs of hazardous waste dumpsites relating to policies written in
prior years and indemnity claims asserting injuries from asbestos.: Coverage and claim settlement issues, such as determination that
coverage exists and the definition of an occurrence, may cause the ‘actual loss deveiopment to exhibit more variation than the remainder
of the Group’s book of business. Such claims cannot be estimated with traditional reserving techniques and, accordingly, the uncertainty
with respect to the ultimate cost of these types of claims has been greater than the uncertainty relating to standard lines of business.

The uncertainties arise out of changes or potential changes in varrous laws or thé interpretation of laws. While the Group believes that
it has made adequate provision for these claims, it is possible that-future.adverse development could have a material effect on the
Group's results of operations, cash flows and financial position. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the net reserve amounts related to
these claims included above were USD 2,919 million and USD 2,979 mi}llion,rrespectively.

;al.?tlz:"leltlfe policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’ contract deposnts and other funds’ (gross of remsurance)

in USD millions, as of December 31 . L 2004 2003
Future life policyholders’ benefits ' CET ’

Long-duration contracts ' o 88,755 85,119
Short-duration contracts ' e 101 92
Total R . .. 88,856 . 85211
Policyholders’ contract dep05|ts and other funds : . .

Annuities ) ’ 2,035 1,953
Universal life and other investment contracts . . 12,808 12,461
Policyholder dividends ’ : : ' , 9,324 7,593
Total B “ - 24,168 22,007

Long-duration contract liabilities included in future life policyholders’ benefits result primarily from traditional participating and non-

participating life insurance products. Short-duration contract liabilities are primarily accident and health insurance products. The liability

for future life policyhoider benefits has been established based upon the’ followmg .

¢ Interest rates which vary by territory, year of issuance and:product:

» Mortality rates based on published mortality tables adJusted for actual expenence by geographic area and modified to allow for
variations in policy form.

» Surrender rates based upon actual expenence by geographlc area and modified. to allow for vanatrons in policy form.

The amount of policyholder dividends to be paid is determined annual!y by each Group hfe insurance cornpany. Policyholder dividends
include life policyholders' share of net income and unrealized appreciation of investments that are.required to be allocated by the
insurance contract or by local insurance regulations. Experience adjustments relating to future policyholders’ benefits and policyholders’
contract deposits vary according to the type of contract and the territory. Investment, mortality and morbidity results may be passed
through by experience credits or as an adjustment to the premium mechanism, subject to local regulatory-provisions.
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in Swntzerland the “Iegal quote” legls!atron was adopted on Apnl 1 2004 it relates to the regulated pensuon busmess in Swttzerland and
provides for mandatory participation in profits by policyholders, Aminimum dividend rate of 90% of the calculated gross surplus must be
allocated to policyholders as the surplus arises, where previously such allocations occurred when bonuses were declared.

The Group accounted for the initial application of this-legislation in the conSOIidated financial statements as of June 30, 2004, by
transferring net unrealized gains on investments included in shareholders” equity 6f USD 226 million to insurance reserves as “Policyholders’
contract deposits and ather funds" In addition, the, Group recorded a pre -1ax charge of USD 54 million related to this change.

Guarantees arising from minimum death beneflts ("GMDB"), retlrement income beneflts {"GRiB")

and annuitization options (*GAQ")

The Group sells products for which policyholders bearthe full |nvestment risk associated W|th the underlying invested funds selected by
them. Certain of these products contain guarantees for: which liabilities have been recorded for additional benefits and minimum guarantees,
primarily in the subsidiary Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company which has written variable annuity contracts that provide annuitants
with certain guarantees related to minimum death and income benefits. The determination of these liabilities is based on models that involve
a range of scenarios and assumptions, including those regarding expected market rates of return and volatility, contract surrender rates,
annuitization elections and mortality experience. The assumptnons used are conststent with those used in determining estimated gross profits
for purposes of amortizing deferred:acquisition costs. :

The Group recorded provisions for certain guarantee features embedded in certain hfe msurance products for the first time as explained in
note 3 on the implementation of SOP 03-01. .

Irzk;Er]rLZnon on guarantee liabilities arising from minimum death benefits (”GMDB")

retirement income benefits (“GRIB”) as well as annuitization options (“GAO")

in USD milfions (except average age) 2004 2003

Account balance for products with guarantee features as of December 31

Gross L ‘ : v . 4,074 3,757

Ceded . C o {554) (537)
Net o 3,5 3,220
Amount at risk as of December 31 ‘ e . . » 2004 2003

Gross ‘ ' ' 740

Ceded 277)
Net: S 463
Average attained age of policyholders (in years) S ' R i B 61 61

The Group's exposure after reinsurance recoveries under ihese_‘polic'iés’ at the balance sheet date as of December 31, 2004 would be

USD 451 million (USD 463 million as of December 31, 2003). The'Group believes the crystallization of such liability is not likely.

Development of net liability recorded for additional- beneflts : 2004 2003
Balance as of January 1 (opening balance) . o 53 32

Benefits incurred L « 30 27

Benefits paid : S B (5) (6)
Balance;as .of Decémber bala ' ‘ . T a7 .. 53"
12. Income taxes

Table 121

Income tax expense ) : : :

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 , A . s 2004 2003
Current ) ’ e ) © 1,214 874
Deferred B : _ ' ' (129) 622

Total incometax expense’ L : o 1,093 1,496

The Group, as a proxy for life insurance policyholders.in the UK; is regtired to record taxes on investment income and gains each year.
Accordingly, the tax benefit or expense attributable to UK life insurance policyholder earnings is included in income tax expense. The tax
expense attributable to UK policyholder earnings was USD.254 million and USD 36 million forthe years ended December 31, 2004 and

2003, respectively. In addition, deferred income tax-on unrealized investment gains on unit-linked contracts is included as income tax expense
and an accrual for future policy fees that will cover the tax charge'isiincluded in gross written premuums and policy fees revenue. Income tax
is shown before reduction for the element attnbutable to pohcyholders :
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Table 12.2

Expected and actual income tax expense S - . e : :

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 o S o 2004 2003
Expected income tax expense v , ' ' 1,144 1,166
Increase/(reduction) in taxes resulting from: ‘ o .

Non-taxable income R P (398)  (320)
Non-deductible expenses I 129 122
Withholding, state and local-taxes o - o 18 (69)
Non-utilizable tax losses R = 45 509
Additional tax expense attributable to life insurance policyholder earnings .- 154 59
Other 29
Attialincome fax expense. . 1,496

The table above illustrates the factors that cause the actual income tax expense to differ from the expected amount computed by applying
the expected rate.

The expected weighted average tax rate for the’ Group was 30: 2% ‘and'32. 3% for the years 2004 and 2003, respectively. These rates were
derived by obtaining a weighted average of the appllcable statutory income tax rate in re!atron to the operating income/loss generated in the
main taxable territories in which the Group operates. .

Table 12.3

Deferred income taxes ‘ )

in USD millions, as of December 31 - N ’ 2004 2003
Deferred tax assets

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses o o , 632 787
Reserves for unearned premiums : co Ve 4 374 390
Accruals not currently deductible . SR . : . 176 160
Unrealized losses on investments L i ’ ‘ T 14 125
Depreciable and amortizable assets - - : = L o ) 174 87
Deferred front-end-fees o o : 490 423
Life policy reserves : : L 208 229
Loss carryforwards ) . ) ) o 1,550 995
Other , ' . f ‘ 927 874
Deferred tax assets, gross P : C . 4,545 4,070
Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets : . L ) (345) (351)
Deferred 1ix assets, net of valuation allowance e e o S 4,200 3,719
Deferred tax liabilities . s ]

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses e s : : (716) (493)
Deferred policy acquisition costs ‘ N T . (2,406) (2,079)
Unrealized gains on investments ' ' = ' ' (527) (478)
Depreciable and amortizable assets : B . = (1,022) (1,134
Life policy reserves ' (678) (490)
insurance reservesfor life insurance where the investment risk is carried by-policyhiolders - - (232) (59)
Other . (495) (7117)

Deferred tax fiabilities »
Net deferred tax liabilitie:

'(6,076)  (5.450)
(1,876) (1,731

The current income tax payable {net of income tax receivable) as of December 3, 2004 and December 31, 2003 was USD 971 million and
USD 614 million, respectively.

As of December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively, the Group had incomie tax loss carryforwards ‘of USD 4,835 million and USD 3,251 million
available (subject to various statutory restrictions) for use against future taxable income: Deferred tax assets for loss carryforwards of

USD 3,300 million and USD 2,218 million. were recognized as of December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively. No deferred tax assets were
recognized in respect of the remaining USD 1,535 million and USD 1,033 million as.of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
majority of the income tax loss carryforwards expire after five years.

The Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded in the tax paying entities throughout the world, which may include several legal
entities within each tax jurisdiction. Legal entities are grouped into a single taxpayer only when permltted by local legislation and when
deemed appropriate.

The recoverability of the deferred tax asset of each tax payer is based on ts ability to utilize the deferred tax asset over a reasonable period
of time. This analysis considers the projected taxable income to be generated by the taxpayer, as well as the ability to offset deferred tax
assets with deferred tax liabilities. As of:December 31,2004, the foI!owmg taxpayer groups carry a net deferred tax asset position on their
balance sheets. . S
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Deferred tax assets,

Table 12.4 o v ' net of valuation
Deferred tax assets by taxpayer ‘ Gross deferred allowance and
in USD millions, as of December 31, 2004 - iy tax assets other tax liabilities
Taxpayer groups

North America Corporate group of companies o ' ) i ‘ 1,444 1,250
Centre group of companies : : e 555 132
Zurich Capital Markets companies . 337 -
UK General Insurance companies ) ' . ‘ ) 271 116
Other 204 87

The North America Corporate group of companies has reported tax losses in three.of the last four years, thus creating a significant net
operating loss carryforward of approximately USD 2,280 million, which is utilizable over a 15 year period. In addition, revenue streams
criginated by the North America Corporate.group of companies also support the recoverability of the Centre group of companies’ deferred
tax asset. Based on the current taxable income. projections for the North America Corporate group of companies and the other taxpayer
groups noted above, management believes that the carrying values of the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 are fully recoverable.

13. Receivables

Table 13

Receivables . . - . )

in USD millions, as of December 31 k B . . ' 2004 2003

Receivables from policyholders L o ‘ 3,021 2,634

Receivables from insurance companies, agents, brokers and mtermedmnes - L 5,173 5,565

Other receivables . S : 3,245 3,164

Allowance for uncollectible amounts ‘ S (278) (355)
T — ~ 11,008
14. Reinsurance assets

Table 14

Reinsurance assets S : i

in USD miltions, as of December 31 : ’ 2004 2003

Reinsurers’ share of insurance reserves : ' : 21,265 20,886

Receivable arising from ceded reinsurance : ‘ s 2,112 2,155

Allowance for uncollectible amounts
Total reinsurance asséts. ... . .

(373) (371)
...23,008 22,670

Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its direct obligations to its pdlicyholders. Thus, a credit exposure exists with
respect 10 reinsurarice ceded 1o the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance agreements,
The Group holds substantial collateral as security under related‘remsurance agreements in the form of deposits, securities and/or letters of
credit. As of December 31,2004 and 2003, 44% and 41%,.respectively, of total reinsurance assets were collateralized.

The life insurance operations limit exposure to 1oss on any s'in‘glé-’!ife policy. Retention limits vary by territory and product line. Approximately
6.3% and 6.7% of gross written premiums and policy fees were ceded as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for life operations,
and 19.8% and 23.3% for general insurance operations as of December31 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Net insurance reserves were USD 224,897 million.and USD 202, 532 mdhon as of December 31 2004 and 2003, respectively, after deducting
the amount of reinsurance ceded to reinsurers.

15. Deferred policy acquisition costs

Table 15 L General life - Other

Deferred policy acquisition costs .- ., dnsurance ) Insurance segments’ Total

in USD milfions .. 2004 .5 2003 . :2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
As of January 1 (opening balance) 2,085 ;1,895 .© 9,564 8,788 135 179 11,784 10,862
Acquisition costs deferred and transfers 2,226,227 - 1,571 1,322 (15) 6 3,782 3,455
Amortization charged to income 2117)  (1.919) (606) {528) 42) 87) (2,765) (2,530
Amortization charged to shareholders’ equity i - - (105) (16) 4 10 (101) (6)
Divestments . (14 (73) (781) 1 - (88) (782)
Increase/(decrease) due to currency rranslatlon 85 . 644 779 3 27 732 785

As of December 31.({closing balance) . 112265

tincluding eliminations of intersegment transactions.

135 13,384 11,784,
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16. Fixed assets

Table 16 YT

Fixed assets N

in USD millions, as of December 31 R : S ) 2004 2003
Land held for own use , - ' 457 487
Buildings held for own use : DR : . 1,688 1,820
Furniture and fixtures R o 478 558
Computer equipment T R L 747 865
Other fixed assets . G e e e S 644 638
Total cost before depreciation ) . - 4,014 4,368
Less: accumulated depreciation (1,898) (2,062)
Total “2,116 2,306
Actlwty durmg the years ended December 31 . A R .

Carrying value as of January 1{opening balance) ) o B i 2,306 2,362
Additions, capital improvements and transfers . : : 239 237
Disposals and transfers B IR ' R ~ (316) (205)
Depreciation o . e (247) (357)
Foreign currency translation effects K 134 269
Catrjing valtis'as “o’fﬁé’é‘e‘ﬁiBé’r"’3‘1‘*‘(aas‘iﬁg=b‘alahce . 296 27306

The fire insurance value of the Group's own use real estate’ investment.réal estate and further fxxed assets totaled USD 10,160 million and
USD 12,173 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectwely .

17. Goodwill and other intangible assets -

1 Prédant value
. of profits of * -
acquired Other

Table 17 ) ’ - insurance intangible. Attorney-in-fact

Intangible assets Goodwill .- contracts assets’ relationship Total

in USD milions 2004 20037 2004 02003 . 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Carrying value as of January 1 ' ’

(opening balance) 779 792 1,025 1,200 - 702 765 1,067 1,110 3,573 3,867
Additions and transfers 47 47 L= 4, 135. . 150 - - 182 201

Disposals and transfers . 831 69 = . (216) (22) (13) - - (53) (298)
Amortization , {92) . ~(107) (89) - (63) {224y - (223).... (43) (43)  (448)  (4396)

Foreign currency translatlon effects 3 116

=30 - 100 2 T 23 - - 80 239

e

3334 13,573

Accumulated amortlzat . . .
as of December 31- (598) (463) . (1,334) (1,352) (1,197) (1,425 (685) {642) (3,814) (3,882)
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18. Debt

Table 18.3
Debt ) B .
in USD millions, as of December 31 S P L 2004 2003
a) Debt related to capital markets and banking actlvutles } .
Zurich Capital Markets Commeircial paper, due in the followmg year . . - 2,113
Notes and loans payable; due in the following year : 2,873 2,855
Notes and loans ‘payable, due 2006 -2014 ' 726 546
Notes and loans payable; die after 2014 ) 150 150
Dunbar Bank Short-term borrowirigs 19 136
Centre Solutlons {Bermuda) Ltd. Vanous debt mstruments L p ) 112 161
ital markets andiban " ' 5,061
b) Senlor debt L : s :
Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. 2.75% CHF bond, dué July 2006 o 438 403
3.5% CHF bond; due July 2008 R 263 242
4.5%: EUR bond, due’September 2014 - R 1,342 -
2urich International (Bermuda) Ltd. Zero coupon CHF exchanigeable bond, due July 2004 - 427
Kemper Corporation Various debt instrurments, due in 2009 . ' 27 27
Zurich Insurance Company 3.875% CHF bond; due july 2011 . 880 807
Various borrowings and hotes 99 94
Zurich Financial Services (UKISA) Short-term bank borrowings e - 54
Other Various short- and medium-term debt instruments ' 306 306
Séniordebt o ' T ‘ ’ P 1703385 2,360
) Subordinated debt o e :
Zurich Capital Trust! 8.376%" USD Capital Securities, due Jupe2037 o . 1,000 1,000
Zurich Finance (UK) p.l.c. 6.625% GBP bond, undated notes - .. .., L 848 795
Zurich Finance (USA) Inc. 5.75% EURbond; due October 2023 2 668 620
Subordinatedidebti. o ' ' PR 2516 2,415°
Total senior and:subordinatéd deb ' 5,871 4,775
Total debt 09,751 . 10,736

(a) Debt related to capital markets and bankmg activities o :

in 2003 a framework agreement was signed with BNP Paribas for the transfer of certain der!vat ive transactrons credit facilities and related
assets by Zurich Capital Markets to BNPParibas. As of December 31, 2004, these transfers were completed and this contributed to a
reduction of Zurich Capital Markets debt compared to December:31, 2003. In March 2004, all Commercial Paper outstanding under ZCM
Matched Funding Corp.’s USD 2.5 billion US:Commercial Paper Program matured and were fully repaid. As the program was not renewed,
there were no amounts as of December 31,2004,

As of December 31, 2004, the major part of ZCM's debt corﬁprised a.number df‘strudured notes, most of which carried fioating rate
coupons. The remainder consisted of fixed rate deposrts with Zurrch Bank. .

Dunbar Bank p.l.c., a wholly-owned banking subsidiary of Allied Dunbar Assurance p.i.c, had total outstandmg borrowings of GBP 10 million
and GBP 76 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. These shart-term borrowings were drawn under various committed credit
facilities totaling GBP400 million and GBP 415 million as of December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively. Net proceeds of these funds were
used to finance Dunbar Bank’s lending activities. .

(b) Senior debt

The Group has a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (EMTN Programme) which allows for the issuance of up to USD 4 billion of senior

and subordinated notes. Issuing entities under the EMTN Programivie include Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. and Zurich Finance (UK) p.l.c.

On September 17, 2004, Zurich Finance (USA), Inc. issued EUR 1 biﬂion of 4.5% notes, due September 2014. The notes were issued under the
EMTN Programme and are guaranteed by Zurich Insurance Company. : -

The zero coupon CHF 539 million exchangeable bond issued by Zufich International (Bermuda) Ltd. which was exchangeable into
4,800,000 registered shares of UBS AG and guaranteed by Zurich' insurance Company was due and repaid in July 2004. No exchange
options were exercised over the whole term of the bond issue.
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(c) Subordmated debt ‘ ' ’ ) :

The USD 1,000 miltion Capital Securities, issued by-Zurich Capital Trustl, a whoily owned subsudlary of Zurich Holdmg Company of America,
will mature in 2037, The Group has the option at any time’on or after june1, 2007.to redeem the securities in whole or in part at a price of
104.188%, decreasing each year to a price of 100% on June 1, 2017

The 6.625% GBP 450 million perpetual bond is callable in 2022 and 1he 5.75% EUR 500 million bond, maturmg in 2023, is callable in 2013.

Table 18.2

Maturity schedule of outstanding debt )

in USD millions R A i 2004
2005 T @t 3,008
2006 L e i 652
2007 R T 612
2008 o R 292
after 2008 el e T " e 5,187
Total: 9,751
Table 18.3 oo 5

Interest expense on debt g

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 : . ) 2004 2003
Debt related to capital markets and banking activities : 94 160
Senior debt o ' : ' 109 150
Subordinated debt » S e 159 135
Totalv i L 362 445

Loan facilities i el

On April 21,2004, 2 USD 3 billion synd;cated revolvmg cred:t faci! :ty was 51gned 1o replace the USD 1.5 billion facility, which was due to
mature on May 28, 2004, The credit facility consists of two equal tranches maturing in 2007 and 2008. Zurich Group Holding, together
with Zurich Insurance Company and Farmers.Group, Inc.are-guarantors of the facmty and ¢an draw up to USD 1.25 billion, USD 1.5 billion
and USD 250 miliion, respectively, No borrowings were outstanding as of December 31,2004. Farmers Group, Inc. cancelled their

UsD 250 million credit facility, which was due to mature in September 2004.

Eagle Star Holdings Ltd.’s GBP 400 million revolving credit facility matured on August 18, 2004

Zurich Capital Markets' USD 1.27 billion syndicated revolving credit facility which was in place as of December 31, 2003 as a backstop for the
USD 2.5 billion Commercial Paper Program mentioned-above, was terminated as per March 12,2004,

In addition, there are facilities in place for Dunbar Bank as me'ri‘tion'éd'underf (a) Debt related 1o capital markets and banking activities.

19. Other liabilities

Table 19

Other liabitities v ST o

in USD millions, as of December 31 R s 2004 2003
Amounts due 1o reinsurers, agents and other i insurance compannes T e 3,238 3,264
Amounts due to life policyholders : : o ' 701 551

Other payables o : : 6,584 6,675
Tax payables ‘ ; \ ' 1,834 1,159
Derivative trading liabilities : o S 1,300 2,442

Deferred income and other liabilties o i 1,867 1,890
Jotal: e 15,9814
20. Minority interests

Table 20 -

Minority interests o S - o

in USD millions, as of December 31 . PR e - T 2004 2003
Preferred securities R : 407 390
Other ' 439 579
Total o e Bl TR L 846 969

Minerity interests include third-party equity interests, preferred securities and similar. instruments issued by consolidated subsidiaries of the
Group in connection with providing structured financial solutions to its customer's.
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In December1999 Zunch Frnancral Servrces (Jersey) errted a sub5|drary of Zunch Group Holdrng (formerly Zurrch Fmancral Servrces)
issued 12,000,000 perpetual non-voting, non-cumulative Serles A Preterence Shares on the’Euromarket with a par value of EUR 25

{EUR 300,000,000). The securities benefit from a subordrnated support agreement of Zurich Gfoup Holding and carry a fixed coupcn of
7.125%, payable quarterly. The securities are, sub;ect to cedam conditions, redeémable at the option of the issuer in whole, but not

in part, from time to time on or after five years from'the issue date. Proceeds from thei issue were used to refinance existing intercompany
debt and for general corporate purposes. With this issue,:the’ Group was able torreinforce its capital base while raising equity-like but
non-dilutive long-term funds.

As of December 31, 2004, and December:31; 2003 mmorrty rnterests in Zurlch Capltal Markets ("2CM”) totaled USD nil million and
USD 212 million, respectively. These mrnorrty intérésts prrmarrly represented third- party equrty interests in consolidated alternative investment
vehicles arising from ZCM's managed asset‘business. . ..

21. Shareholders’ equity

Table 21.1

Common and treasury stock

number of shares, as of December 31 ’ 2004 2003
Authorized, contingent and issued common stock CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 par value, respectwe!y 156,988,783 156,988,783
Issued common stock, CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 par.value, respectively, : . 144,006,955 144,006,955
Treasury stock R o 298,113 762,507
Table 21.2

Preferred securities , o

in USD-millions, as of December 31 ’ w2 o P . 2004 2003

Preferred securities, USD 1,000 par value ; T - ' 1,125 1,125

{a) Issued stock :

At the Annual General Meeting of April 16, 2004, shareholders approved a share’ capltal reductron in'the form of a capital nominal

value reduction of each registered share from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50. As 4 result of this reduction; thé share capital was reduced by

CHF 360,017,387.50 from CHF 1,296,062,595 to a new total'of CHF936,045,207.50. In the previous year, shareholders approved, at the
Annual General Meeting of April 30,2003, a share capital reduction i the form of a capital nominal value reduction of each registered
share from CHF 10 to CHF 9. As aresult of that reduction, the share caprtal was reduced by CHF144, 006 955 from CHF 1,440,069,550 to
CHF1,296,062,595.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Financial Services had 144,008, 955 shares of CHF 6. 50 parva!ue and CHF 9 par value,
respectively, common stock issued and fully paid. : . o

{b) Authorized stock v

Until June 1, 2005, the Board of Zurich Financial Services is-authorized ta mcrease rts share capital by an amount not exceeding

CHF 39,000,000 by issuing up to 6,000,000 fully paid registered shares with-a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each. An increase in

partial amounts is permitted. The Board determines the date of issue of such new shares, the issue pfice, type of payment, conditions
for exercising pre-emptive rights, and the beginning of the dividend entitlement. The Board may issue such new shares by means of

a firm underwriting by a banking institution or syndicate with subsequent offer of those shares to the current shareholders. The Board
may allow the expiry of pre-emptive rights which have not been exercised, or it may place these nghts as well as shares, the pre-emptive
rights of which have not been exercised, at market conditions. -

The Board is further authorized to restrict or withdraw the pre-’emptive rights of sharehclders-and to allocate them to third-parties if the
shares are to be used: for the take-over of an enterprisé, or parts-of an enterprise or of participations or if issuing shares for the financing
including re-financing of such transactions; or for the purpose of expanding the. scape of shareholders in connection with the quotation
of shares on foreign stock exchanges. . A

(<) Contingent stock

Capital market instruments and option rights to shareholders The share capital of Zurich Frnancral Services may be increased

by an amount not exceeding CHF 35,631,882 by issuing up 105,481,828 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50
each through (1) the exercise of conversion and/or option rights which:are granted in connection 'with the issuance of bonds or similar
debt instruments by Zurich Financial Services.or one of its Group companies in national or international capital markets and/or (2)

by the exercise of option rights which are granted to the shareholders. When i issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with
conversion and/or option rights, the pre-emptive rights of the shareholders will be excluded, The current owners of conversion and/or
option rights shall be entitled to subscribe for the new shares. The conversron and/or option conditions are to be determined by the Board.

The Board of Directors is authorized, when issuirg bonds or similar debt mstruments connected with conversion and/or option rights,
to restrict or withdraw the right of sharehalders for advance subscription in cases where such bonds are issued for the financing or
re-financing of a takeover of an enterprise, of parts of an enterprrse ar of participations. If thé right for advance subscription is with-
drawn by the Board, the convertible bond or warrant issues ate to-be offered at market conditions (including standard dilution
protection provisions in accordance with market practice)-and the new shares are issued at then current convertible bond or warrant
issue conditions. The conversion rights may be exercisable during a maximum of 10 years and option rights for a maximum of 7years
from the time of the respective issue. The conversion or option price:or its calculation methodology shall be determined in accordance
with market conditions, whereby for shares of Zurich Financial Services the quoted share price is to be used as a basis.
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Employee participation: The share caprtal may be mcreased by an amount not exceedmg CHF9 750, OOO by issuing up to 1 SOO OOO
fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each to empioyees of Zurich Financial Services and Group companies.

The pre-emptive rights of the shareholders, as well as the right for advance subscription, are excluded. The issuance of shares or respective
option rights to employees shall be subject to one-or more regulations to be issued by the Board of Directors and taking into account
performance, functions, levels of responsibility ard criteria of profltabrhty Shares or option rights may be issued to the employees at a price
lower than that quoted on the stock exchange.

{d) Preferred securities

In February 2001, the Group placed six seriés of Trust Capital Securities (Zurich’ RegCaPs)in the total amount of USD 1,125 million

{USD 1,096 million net of issuance costs) with a limited number of qualified institutional and corporate US investors, The securities, which
were issued under Rule 144A in the United States, are perpetual,.non-cumulative and have a par value of USD 1,000 each. They have

no voting rights, except for certain specified circumstances and are tinked to.Farmers Group, Inc. Class C shares. The Group has the option
to call the securities after five, seven or ten yedfs, depending ‘oh the series. Two series have & fixed rate coupon (6.01% and 6.58%) and
four have a floating rate coupon (between Libor +46 bps and 4716ps). These coupon rates step up after the first call dates.

(e} Additional paid-in capital (capital reserve)
This reserve is not ordinarily available for distribution.

(f) Dividends
Dividends for Zurich Financial Services shares are declared in CHE ~ © -

(g) Dividend restrictions and capital and solvency requirements

Zurich Financial Services is not subject tc legal restrictions on the amount of dividends it may pay to its shareholders other than under
the Swiss Code of Obligations. The Swiss Code of Obligations provides that 5% of the annual profit must be allocated to the general
legal reserve until such reserve in the aggregate has reached 20% of the paid-in share capital. As of December 31, 2004, the amount of
the general legal reserve exceeded 20% of the paid-in'share capitél of Zurich Financia! Services. Similarly, the company laws of many
countries in which Zurich Financial Services’ sub51d|arres operate may restrict the amount of dividends payable by such subsidiaries to their
parent companies. . ; .

Other than by operation of the restrictions mentroned above the abllrty of Zurich Fmancral Services' subsidiaries to pay dividends may
be restricted or, while dividend payments per se may be iegally permrned, may be indirectly influenced by minimum capital and solvency
requirements that are imposed by insurance, bank and other ré’g'ulators in the countries in which the subsidiaries operate as well as by
other limitations existing in certain of these countries (e.g: forelgn ‘exchange control restrictions).

In the United States, restrictions on payment of dwndends may be mposed by the insurance laws or regulatnons of an insurer’s state of
domicile. For general insurance subsidiaries, dividends are generally limited over a twelve month period t0.10% of the previous year’s
policyholders’ surplus or previous year’s net income. For life, accident and health insurance subsidiaries, dividends are generally limited
over a twelve month period to 10% of the previous year's- pohcyholders surplus.or the previous year's net gain from operations.
Dividends paid in excess of statutory limitation's require prior approval' of the [nsurance Commissioner of the insurer’s state of domicile.

Insurance enterprises in European Union memnber countries are required to maintain minimum solvency margins. The required minimum
solvency margin for general insurers is the greater of 16% of premiiums written for-the year or23% of a three-year average of claims,
subject to the first tranche (EUR 50 million).of premiums being at 18% and the first tranche (EUR 35 million) of claims at 26%. Life insurance
companies are required to maintain a minimum-solvency margin of generaHy 4% of insurance reserves (up to 1% of "insurance reserves

for life insurance where the investment risk is carried by policyholders”) plus 0.3% of the amount at risk under insurance policies. The same
minimum capital requirements are applicable for insurance enterpnses operating in. Swrtzerland In addition, in certain European countries
further requirements may apply. ‘

Zurich Financial Services is further subject to certain solvency and its own fund requirements-based on a Decree on the Consolidated
Supervision of the Zurich Financial Services Group issued by the Swrss Federal Office of Private Insurance on April 23, 2001.

As of December 31, 2004, the subsidiaries were substantrally in comphance with applicable regu!atory capital adequacy requirements.
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(h) Earnings per share ; e

I Nétincome - Number of Per share Per share

Table 21.3 S S

Earnings per share LR ““in USD millions) shares (USD) (CHF!
2004 o T —

Basic earnings per share e 2,587 143,577,437 18.01 2234
Effect of potentrally dilutive shares related to share based compensatlon plans = 1,067,047 (0.16)
Diluted eatnings per share 144,644,484 22.18"

2003 . L .

Basic earnings per share ’ B 2,009 . 142,064,985 14.14 19.00

Effect of potentlally dl|Uth€ shares re ated to share- based compensatlon - 1,025,296 0.10) (0.14)
~ 3,090.281 1886

* The translation frorn USD into CHF has been done for information purposes only at the Group's average exchange rates for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period, excluding the weighted average number of shares held-as treasury shares. Diluted earnings per share reflects the effect of potentially
dilutive shares.

22. Employee benefits

The Group had 53,246 and 58,667 employees (full time equrvalents) as of December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively. Personnel and other
related costs incurred for 2004 and 2003 were USD 4,462 million and USD 4; 702 million, respectrvely

The Group cperates a number of active retirement benefit arrangements for pensnons The majority of employees belong to defined benefit
plans. Other employees participate in defined contribution plais provrdmg ber\efrts equal solely to contributions paid plus investment returns.

The Group also operates post-employmerit plans, which provide employees w1th cer‘tam defined post- employment benefits other than
pensions; the major plans are in the United States. !

The summary of the status of the defined beneﬂt plans and other deﬂned post-emp[oyment benefns is glven below.

{a) Defined benefit plans . :

Defined benefit pension plans: Employees of the Groups operating compames are covered under various pension plans. Certain
companies run defined benefit plans, some-of Which’ provide benefits related’to final pensionable-earnings and others provide cash
balance plans, where the participants receive the benefit of annual contributions and a credit for the investment return achieved on the
assets. Eligibility for participation in the various plans is either based on completion of-a specified period of continuous service or

date of hire. Benefits are generally based on the employees' years of credited service and average compensation in the years preceding
retirement. Annual funding requirements are determiried based on actuana\ cost methods

Most of the Group's defined benefit plans are funded through the Group making ‘contributions o trusts or foundations independent of
the Group’s finances. In these cases, the annual funding requirements are determined in accordance with:local funding and actuarial
cost methods. Where plans are not specifically funded, for example, as.is usual in the case of pension plans in Germany, a liability for the
accrued pension obligations is recognized in'the Group's balance sheet.

Other defined post-employment beneflts: Certain of the/Groups operating companies provide a post-employment benefit program for
medical care and life insurance. Eligibility in the various plans,is'generally based on completing a specified period of eligibie service and
reaching a specified age. The programs pay.a stated percentage of medical expenses reduced by deductibles and other coverage. The cost of
post-employment benefits is accrued during the employees! serwce penod The methed of accountrng 'and the frequency of valuations are
similar to those for defined benefit pension plans. . ; . -

T . . ’ Other defined

Table 22.1 ) Defined benefit post-employment
Weighted average assumptions used in determmmg the actuarral Ilabllltles . pension plans benefits

a5 of December 31 ) . . 2004 2003 2004 2003
Discount rate . . : ) L 51% 53% 5.7% 5.7%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets. ) - 6.1% 6.1% 5.0% 6.6%
Future salary increases - - T 38% - 38% 3.7% 41%
Future pension increases ‘ ' , ' 2.3% 1.7% - -
Increase in long-term health cost e C - - - 9.5% 9.3%
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. R : L Other defined
Table 22.2 Coy o Defined benefit post-employment

Status of funded defined benefit plans LT e o pension plans benefits

in USD miilions, as of December 31 * G g 2004 2003 2004 2003
Present value of obligations . : . (10,640) (8,562) (104) (108)
Fair value of plan assets ‘ 8,451 7.256 17 22
Funded status R e o (2,189)  (1,306) (87) (86)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses S 2,457 ¢ 1,708 20 27

Asset/{liability)'as of Decémber31 40200 (67) 159

The funded status discloses the balance of pensicn plan assets at.current fair valuesless the pension liability at current conditions.

Pensions, however, are long-term by nature. Short-term variations between long-term actuarial assumptions and actual experience may be

positive or negative, i.e. resulting in actuarial gains of-losses. In principle, such actuarial gains or lasses are not recognized under IAS 19

as it is expected that such actuarial gains and losses will-equalize over time. Only.unrécognized. actuarial gains or losses exceeding certain
“corridors” as deﬂned in IAS 19 are amortized through-the operatmg Statément (see table 224 below, "Net actuarial losses recognized

inyear”).

The funded status of the Group’s funded defined benefit.plans moved-from a deficit of USD 1,306 million as of December 31, 2003 to a
deficit of USD 2,189 million as of December 31, 2004. Pension plans in the UKISA region accounted for substantially all of the movement
in the balances. The increase in the present value of the pension.obligations in UKISA, which increased greater proportionally than the fair
value of plan assets thus impacting the funded status, is due to changes in actuarial assumptions about future pension benefits. The
funded status was further impacted by the pension contribution holiday in the UK which centinued'in.2004, during which time pension
assets of approximately USD 140 million were liquidated to pay | ‘benefits wnhout new contributions-added to plan assets. Foreign
exchange movements also had a total impact on the funded status of the Group s funded defmed benefit plans in Switzerland and the
UKISA region of approximately USD 72 million. - & . .

. - Other defined
Table 22.3 : ’ o Defined benefit post-employment
Status of unfunded defined benefit plans ) . e : . pension pians benefits
in USD millions, as of December 31 ' A e ) 2004 2003 2004 2003
Present value of obligations . ] e (894) (775) (224) (199)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses . L < ) 55 5 66 63

Unrecognized prior service cost . e R - (1) @)
Liability as-of December 31 s (159) . (138)

The summary of the amounts recognized in the ‘consalidated opérétihg statements is given below.,

. . . Other defined

Table 22.4 ) : - Defined benefit post-employment
Components of net periodic expenses : : . C ‘pension plans benefits

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 : - ; Co . B 2004 2003 2004 2003
Current service cost N C T . (351) (332) 8) {5)
Interest cost o (520) (460) (17) (13)
Expected return on plan assets o . . A75 417 1 1
Net actuarial losses recognized in year : o e . (106) (137) (5) (2)
Past service cost ) (11) - (2)

Gains on curtailment or sertlement
Net periodic: pens:on expense-.

29 21

The actual returns on defined benefit pension plan assets for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were USD 637 million and
UsSD 778 million, respectively. The actual returns on other defined post-employment plan assets were UsD nil million and USD 1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The summary of the balance sheet movements in relation to defined beneﬂt plans and other def ned post employment benefits is given

below.
o : . Other defined

Table 22.5 : e Defined benefit post-employment
Summary of balance sheet movements : Ty ’ ) *- pension plans benefits

in USD millions S 2004 2003 2004 2003
Liability as of January 1 {opening balance) St R (368) (182) (197) (186)
Current year expense : L S ' " (498) (500) (29) @1
Contributions paid : © 303 381 6 4
Divestments o E . 24 . 18 - 13
Foreign currency translation effects ) : , (32) (85) (6) @

Liability in the consolidated Bala scember 31 (closing balance): w7 {226) *(197)
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{b) Deflned contrrbutron pension pians

Certain of the Group's operating companies sponsor various defrned contribution plans. Eligibility for pamcapatron in the various plans is
either based on-completion of a specified period of continuous service or date of hire. The plans provrde for voluntary contributions by
employees and contributions by employer which typically range from 3% to 15% of annual salaries, depending on the employees’ years
of service. The Group's contributions under these plans amounted to USD 13 million and USD 12 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

23. Share-based compensation and cash mcentrve plans

The Group has adopted various share-based compensation and.cash incentive plans to attract retain and motivate executives and
employees. The plans are designed to reward employees for their contribution to the performance of the Group and to encourage
employee share ownership. Share-based compensation plans include plans under which shares and options to purchase shares, based on
the performance of the businesses, are awarded. Share-based plans are based on'the provision of Zurich Financial Services shares.

(a) Cash incentive plans :

Various businesses throughout the Group operate shon term mcentlve programs for executives, management and, in some cases, for
employees of that business unit. Awards are made.in cash, baséd o 'the accomplishment of both organizational and individual
performance objectives. The expenses recognlzed for.these cash- rncentrve plans amounted to s 242 million and USD 213 million
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectrve!y e

(b) Share-based compensation plans:for employees
The Group encourages employees to own shares of Zurich Financial Services-and has set up 3 framework based on the implementation of
either share options and/or performance share programs. Actual plans are tailored to meéet local market requirements.

Table 23.1

Expenses recognized in the operating statements ‘ . )

in USE millions, for the years ended December 31 . 2004 2003
Total option-based expenses . . 23 10
Total share- based expenses : : : 45 41

-y

Totat .expenses:: Lyl

The explanations below give @ more detailed overview of the plans of the Group.

Share option plans for UK employees . : :

UK Sharesave Plan: The plan is open to employées in the Unrted Klngdom Partrcrpants enterinto a savings contract with a bank for the
accumulation of contributions of between GBP 5 and GBP 250 pér month for a period of three or five years. An interest bonus is credited

at the end of the savings period. Participants are granted options<to acquire-Zurich Financial Services shares at a pre-determined price,
which is not less than.80% of the market price prior to grant. Optrons under the plan can normally be exercised for a period of six months
after the end of the savings period. Early exércise, limited 1o 'the value of shares that can’ bé acquired with-accrued savings, is permitted

in certain circumstances. There were a total of 2,409 and 3,303 participants in this plan as of December31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
first grants were made in March 1999.

Allied Dunbar Share Option Plan: Inland Revenue unapproved;sh‘_ar_e options were granted ~to'se!ected managers and franchisees in the
United Kingdom. Vesting is over a maximurn five-year period with“an éxercise period of six months after vesting occurs. Participants

have the right to acquire Zurich Financial Services shares at the ‘exercise price determined at the day of grant. The first grants were made in
February 2000 and based on performance achievements, -additional grants were made in 2002, 2003 and 2004. All grants under this plan
vested on December 31, 2004. There were a tota! of 492 and 1,232 pammpants in.this plan as of December 31,2004 and 2003, respectively.

Employee share plans :

Share Incentive Plan for employees in the UK InJune’ 2003 the Group established an Inland Revenue approved Share Incentive

Pian and launched the partnership shares element of this plan, Thi¢ plan enabled participating emp\oyees to make monthly purchases of
Zurich Financial Services shares at the ruling market price out of their gross earnings. There were 500 and 507 participants in the plan

as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively, The Group also latinchéd reward shares, the proﬂt—sharrng element of the Share Incentive
Plan in March 2004 with share allocations being made in“May 2004. The awards were based on the performance of the participating
employee’s business units for the year, subject to a maximum award of 5% of participant’s base salary {before any flexible benefit adjust-
ments) or GBP 3,000. The total number of participating-employees'as of December 31,2004, was 6,149.

Share Incentive Plans for employees in Switzerland: In 2004, a.new Employee Incentive Plan was introduced for employees in
Switzerland that combined the features of the annual cash-based incentive plan and the previous employee performance share plan.
Under this new plan employees who receive an incentive payment undeér the Employee Incentive Plan.have the option to acquire
sales-restricted shares at a 30% discount on'the market value, with the maximum value-of the discount being CHF 1,500. During 2004,
6,115 employees participated in the Employee Incentive Plan. As of December 31,2004, 4,613 employees received shares under the
2003 employee performance share plan.

(c) Share based compensation plans for executives B :

The Group operates long-term incentive plans for selected executives. These plans comprise the allocation of a target number of
share options grants and/or shares grants with the vesting of these option/share grants being subject to the achievement of specific
financial performance goals. The Group can also make Restricted Share grants to selected employees which provide share awards

if the individual remains employed with the Group on selected dates in the future.
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Semor executlve Group Iong term lncentrve plans : -

Senior Executives are granted annually performance options arid’ performance shares whlch vest on an annuai basis over the subsequent
three year period. The actual level of vesting, which can be between 0% and 150% of the orlglnal number granted, depends on the
performance of the Group during the previous calendar year. The current performance metrics are the Group‘s return on equity (ROE)
and the positioning of the Group’s totat shareho|der return against an international peer group of insurance companies. One-half of the
shares that actually vest are sales-restricted/deférred for a further period of three years. The options have a 7 year term from the date of
grant. Grants under the plan are made annually on April 3: The actual number of performance options and performance shares granted
is determined such that the economic value is a defined percentage of the annual salary in the year of aliocation. During 2004 and 2003,
a total of 186 and 184 participants were granted shares and options under this pfan.

Executive long-term performance share plans

Annually, selected executives are granted annually performance shares which vest over a period of three years, either on an annual basis
or at the end of the three year period. Specific performance parameters are established for each. of the Business Divisions and include,

for example, return on equity or business operating profit cbjectives: The actual number of performance shares granted at the beginning
of the performance period is determined such that:the economic.value-is defined'percentage of the annual salary in the year of allocation.
Actual awards under these plans are made fully in shares of Zurich Financial Services, of:which 50% are sales-restricted/deferred for a
further period of three years. There were 3 totai of 535 and 497 pamc:pants in thls pian as, of December31 2004 and 2003, respectively.

(d) Further information on share and optron plans
Weighted average

o : e s « . . Number of shares exercise price’

Table 23.2 R : . under option (in CHF)
Movements in options granted under the various equlty partlclpatlon plans 2004 2003 2004 2003
Outstanding as of January 1 ] 1,795,120 1,554,177 340 445
Options granted CPrawi e oL 477,022 597,894 202 121
Options forfeited ' s oot (260,671)  (356,951) 397 435
Options exercised R s T (24,692) - 121 n/a
Expired during period ' L (111,763) - 405 n/a
Outstanding as of December3 o i E287 a 340

875,01

138 004 407 698

Exercisable as of December 31

* Only fixed exercise prices were applied.

As certain plan participants elected in 2002 to take thelr option award in the form of Share Appreaatson Rights, the above table includes
in the number of shares under option, outstanding as of December 31 2004 77,234 shares urider option which will be settled through cash
payments rather than through actual shares. .

The average share price for Zurich Financial Services shares in 2004 and 2003 was CHF188: 76 and CHF 154.65, respectively.

Table 23.3 o : Weighted average Weighted average
Range of exercise prices of options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 o - contractual  remaining expected
in CHF . . i -life in years life in years
100- 400 . R , o 6.8 52
401- 700 ' T e e e 6.5 2.2

701-1,000 : ol ‘ 6.7 1.0

Weighted average
: . . - ’ fair value at grant
Table 23.4 S . c T .. Number date (in CHF)

Options and shares granted during the period . . - : 2004 2003 2004 2003
Shares granted during the period Lo T .- 384,420 530,341 213 121
Options granted during the period’ - ' ' U 4770220 597,894 67 47

' Number of options granted is shown as the number of shares under op!ion'granteﬁydbring 1he period.

Additional information : '

The shares and options granted during the period are the target allocations made under the performance optron and the performance
share plans together with any restricted share awards granted-during the year. Whether these grants become vested or not will depend
upon whether the performance achievements are met and the expense is then adjusted accotdingly. «
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The fair value of the optrons granted 1o senior executlves is estlmated usrng the Black Scholes optron pricing model wtth the followrng

assumptions.

Table 23.5

Black-Scholes assumptions 2004 2003
Share price CHF 213.25 CHF 120.50
Exercise price CHF 213.25 CHF 120.50
Implied volatility 31.75% 41.00%
Risk-free interest rate 2.47% 2.34%
Expected dividend rate 1.50% 1.50%
Contracted option life 7years 7 years

The risk-free interest rate was determined. by using’ the seven yearC HF swap'rate: for 2004 and 2003 respectively, The fair value of any other
share options granted during the year has been determmed usmg the same methodology

24, Related partytransactrons : o

in the normal course of business, the Group enters rnto various transactrons withrelated. compan es; mcludmg various reinsurance and
cost-sharing arrangements. These transactions are not considered material to the Group, either individually o in the aggregate. Parties are
considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or
operational decisions. The table below sets forth related party transactions reflected in the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated
operating statements.

Table 24

Related party transactions : L :

in USD millions N ) 2004 2003
Consolidated operating statements for the years ended December 31 .

Net earned premiums and policy fees ' e « 7 1

Net investment income o T el 105 96
Other income/(expense) i o C , (9) 11

Losses and ioss adjustment expenses a 5 , . E ' 1) 7
Consolidated balance sheets as of Decémber 31 ‘ )

Policyholders’ collateral and other loans B C 7 23 32

Reinsurance assets “ o 1 4
Other receivables C L, ‘ ' 2 1

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses e . e (4) ()

Ouistanding loans-and guarantees granted to members of the Group Executive Committee amounted to USD 3 million for both years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003. No outstanding loans or guarantees were granted tg directors of Zurich Financial Services for either of the
years ended December 31,2004 and 2003. The term "directors” and ““members of the Group Executive Committee” in this context inctudes
the individual as well as merbers of their respactive households. Rémiuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors of Zurich
Financial Services in 2004 and 2003 were-USD-2.0 millisri:and USD'1.9 million, respectively.

25. Farmers Exchanges

Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries {“FGI") provide certain non-claims related management services to the Farmers Exchanges. In
addition, the Group has the following relationships with the Farmers Exchanges.

Certificates of contribution and surplus notes of the Farmers Exchanges
As of December 31,2004 and 2003, FG! and other Group companies held the following surplus note and certificates of contribution of the
Farmers Exchanges. Originally these were purchased by FGli in (order to supplement the policyholders’ surplus of the Farmers Exchanges.

in USD millions - ’ o 2004 2003
6.15% surplus note, due December 2013 {in 2003:8.5%. due February 2005) 88 88
6.15% certificates of contribution, due December 2013 : o 524 -
6.15% certificates of contribution, due August 2014 (in 2003: 7. 85% due March 2010) 296 370
6.00% certificates of contribution, due September 2006 * o r i 107 557
Various other certificates of contrrbutron ) : N 23 23

Conditions governing payment of interest and repayment.of prmcrpal are outlined in the certificates of contribution and the surplus note.
Generally, repayment of principal may be made only when theissuer has-an appropriate amount of surplus, and then only after approval

is granted by the issuer’s governing Board and the appropriate state instirance regulatory department. In addition, payment of interest may
generally be made only when the issuer has an appropriate amount of surplus and then only after approval is granted by the appropriate
state insurance regulatory department. :
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Quota share reinsurance treatxes wrth the Farmers Exchanges : :
The Farmers Exchanges have Quota Share reinsurance treaties with Farmers Remsurance Company (“Farmers Re"), a wholly owned
subsidiary of FGI, and Zurich Insurance Company (“ZIC"):.

With effect from January 1, 2004, Farmers-Re assumes annually USD 200 million (USD 200 million in 2003) and ZIC assumes USD 800 million
(USD 1,200 million in 2003) of gross written premiums under an Auto Physrcal Damage ("APD") Quota Share reinsurance agreement with the
Farmers Exchanges.

Effective December 31,2002, Farmers Re and ZIC entered into a 10% All Lines Quota Share reinsurance treaty with the Farmers Exchanges
under which each reinsured a percentage of all lines of business written by the Farmers Exchanges. Under this treaty, Farmers Re assumes

a 2% quota share of the premiums written and the ulumate net losses sustained in all Imes of business written by the Farmers Exchanges
(ZIC reinsures 8% under this agreement after the APD reinsurance treaty has been applied). Losses assumed are subject to a maximum
combined ratio of 112.5% (except in Texas where they. are subjéct to'a comblned ratio of 116.2%) as well as USD 800 million of catastrophe
losses and a minimum combined ratio of 93.5%. The reinstrance agreemem which-can be terrriinated after 60 days notice by any of the
parties, also provides for the Farmers Exchanges to réceive a provisional cedmg ¢commission’of 22% of premrums for acquisition expenses and
14.1% of premiums.for other expenses with additional expenence commissions that depend on-loss. experlence As of December 31,2004,
this All Lines Quota Share reinsurance treaty'was increased from 10% to 12%

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Group companies assumed USD1 269 mrlllon of gross written premiums (USD 1,056 million in
the prior year) from the Farmers Exchanges under this treaty.

L

In addition, effective December 31, 2002, Farmers Re and ZIC entered int6'a20% Personal Lines Auto Quota Share reinsurance treaty with
the Farmers Exchanges under which each reinsured a percentage of the personal lines auto- business witten by the Farmers Exchanges.
Under this treaty, Farmers Re assumes a 4% quota-sharé of the prémiums written and the ultimate net losses sustained in the personal fines
auto liability and physicat damage lines written by the Farmers Exchanges after all other reinsurance treaties are applied (ZIC reinsures 16%
under this agreement). Losses assumed are subject 10 a“maximum combmed ratio of 112.5% as-well a5'USD 150 million of catastrophe losses
and a minimum combined ratio of 97.0%. The feinsurance agreement which'can be terminated after 60 days notice by any of the parties,
also provides for the Farmers Exchanges to receive a provisional ceding commission of 20% of premiums for acquisition expenses and 17.2%
of premiums for other expenses with additional experience commission’sf‘that depend on loss experience.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, Group companies assumed UsD.859 million of gross written premiums {USD 1,019 million in the
prior year) from the Farmers Exchanges under this treaty, -

Effective December 31, 2004, this 20% Personal Lines Auto Quota" Share reinsurance treaty was cancelled and unearned premiums
(USD 338 million) net of acquisition costs {USD 68 million) were transferred to the Farmers Exchanges. -

26. Commitments and contingencies | : ‘

The Group has provided guarantees or commitments to ex{ernal partiés associates, partnerships’ and joint ventures. These arrangements
include commitments under certain conditions to- make- Irqmdlty advances to cover dehnquent pnnmpal and interest payments, make capital
contributions or provide equity financing. i . .

Table 26.1

Quantifiable commitments and contmgencres R ]

in USD millions, as of December 31 L : P . 2004 2003

Commitments under investment agreements ' 5 " : - T : 3,642 3,638

Less funded o ' ‘ ' (2,785)  (2,349)
Remaining commitments under investment agreements o - : 857 1,289

Guarantees', surety bonds, letters of credit L ) . ‘ : ) B 3,168 2,824

Future rent commitments : ) : 1,619 1,673

Undrawn loan commitments (capital markets and banking act:vmes) . L e 570 1,577

Other commitments and contingent liabilities - . . s 271 1,082

! Guarantee features embedded in life insurance products are'not included. For such guarantee Teatures refer to note oninsurancer reserves

Commitments under investment agreements . ' ‘

The Group has committed to contribute capltaI 1o subsidiaries, assoaates and third parties that engage in'making investments in direct
private equity, private equity funds, emerging market funds and’ hedge funds. included in the remaining commitments is USD 473 million
to Capital Z Investments It, L.P, USD 167 million to Capital Z Investments, L.P.and USD 116 million to Gresham. Part of these commitments
may be called at any time and in any amount, based on various criteria. The remaining comimitments also include a minimum aflocation for
hedge fund investments.

Guarantees, surety bonds, letters of credit

The Group knows of no event of default that would requrre it to satisfy guarantees frrevocable letters of credit and surety bonds were
issued to secure certain reinsurance contracts.
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Future rent commltments :
The Group has entered into various operating leases as lessee for ofﬂce space and certain computer and other equipment. Rent expenses
for these items totaled USD 180 million and USD 197 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Table 26. o >

Fauture ;zaayments under non-cancellable operatmg leases wnth terms in excess of one year Rental
in USD millions g i payments
2005 ) ) . ) 205
2006 : ) : L o 186
2007 ) Bk : S 172
2008 B Ch ‘ 157
2009 ' e , 136
2010 and thereafter o N 763
Total” L1619

The Group also leases its real estate held for investment to. outside partiésfunder,operating leases.

indemnity agreements e ‘

The Group, through certain of its subsidiaries, has agreed o arrangements that cap Convenum 's net'exposure for losses arising out of

the September 11, 2001 event at USD 289 millioA. Addmona!ly the Group has provided Converium.with coverage for net losses in excess
of USD 59 million, including non-performance of the retrocessionaire, related to Amerisafe business-ceded to the Unicover pool. As of
December 31, 2004, the Group has recorded provmons in respéct of both arrangements of USD162 mnlhon and USD 13 million, respectively.

Pledged assets :
Total assets pledged including securities pledged in respect of securrt:es repurchase agreements -amolnted to USD 5,048 million and
USD 4,133 million as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 respectlvely ‘Assets pledged were finandial assets.

Other contingent liabilities

The Group has received notices from various tax, authontles asserting defloenqes in taxes for various years. The Group believes that

it has meritorious legal defenses to those claims and, ‘believes:that the ultimate outcome of the cases will not result in a material impact
on the Group’s consolidated results of operation or fmanda! posmon

In common with other groups with life assurance businessés in the United ngdom the Group remains exposed 1o a number of
Conduct of Business issues which are currently under review by the;UK Financial Services Authority. While provisions are maintained
which reflect management’s evolving best estimate of the probabie costs and expenses of resolving these matters, significant
uncertainty regarding the ultimate costs remains. The-main area of uncertainty concerns sales advice related complaints, The key
assumptions used to derive the complaint provision are the volume of complaints, both those already recorded and an assumption as
to the future complaint levels, the percentage of complaints which will be successful (the uphold rate), the average redress payable
per complaint and the expenses of reviewing each case or complaint. The assumptions used to set the provision have been based on
actual experience over the past three years weighted towards more recent experience.

in 2003, the Group completed the divestments of various asset management operations. As part of these agreements, the Group has
guaranteed certain minimum levels of “assets under management” 1o the acquirérs. The guarantees provide that if the " assets under
management” fall below those defined levels under certain conditions, the Group may be required to compensate for these shortfalls.
The compensation is limited to the considerations recéived and the Group does not believe any such compensation to be probable.

Litigation ’ ’ ¢

The Group and its subsidiaries are continuously involved in lega! proceedmgs clatms and litigation arising, for the most part, in the
ordinary course of its business operations. The Group and its subsidiaries are also involved in a number of regulatory investigations. These
investigations involve certain business practices between insurance brokers and insurance companies, the purchase and sale of

"non traditional” products, certain reinsurance transactions engaged.in by the Group and its subsidiaries and other matters. The Group
has been conducting its own internal reviews with respect to these matters and is cooperating fully in these investigations.

The outcome of such current legal proceedings, claims, litigation and investigations could have .a material effect on operating results
and/or cash flows when resolved in a future period. However,.in the oplmon of-managément these matters would not materially affect
the Group's consolidated financial position.
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27. Segment information

Table 27.1 . : General Life

Operating statements by business segment Insurance Insurance

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 . S 2004 2003 2004 2003
Revenues : s :

Direct written premiums and policy fees Dol ‘ ..’ 32,838 30,944 10,876 11,547
Assumed written premiums : N T, : 4,800 5,306 103 78
Gross written premiums and policy fees ) Uy . 37,638 36,250 10,979 11,625
Less premiums ceded to reinsurers i e e 0 T o (7,440) (8,460) {695) (777)
Net written premiums and policy fees " in e o . 730,198 27,790 10,284 10,848
Net change in reserves for unearned premiums =~ . . (™ i .(38) (652) 3 35
Net earned premiums and policy fees R T T o 30,160 27,138 10,287 10,883
Management fees o T ' Co= - 17 156
Net investment income - 2,425 1,952 6,224 5,883
Net capital gains on investments and impairments . 87 278 4,525 4,380
Net gain/(loss) on divestments of businesses o ' .. (34) (89) 37 427

Other income . . 517 - 451 853 861

Total revenugs™ i 29,7304, 21,943 22,580
Intersegment transactions (227) (369) 7
Benefits, losses and expenses e -

Losses and loss adjustment expenses, net of reinsurance ... .. . . 23,249 19,617 89 76
Life insurance death and other benefits, net of reinsurance "> "5 118 206 12,166 9,303
(Decrease)/increase in future life policyholders’ benefits; net of reinsurance ) .9 8 (2,075) 1,820
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance o 23,376 19,831 10,180 11,189
Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance. 9 11 6,754 5,861

Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance 1,361 1,271

Administrative and other operating expenses 1,243 1,528

Amortization of intangible assets 230 176
Interest expense on debt 33 49
Interest credited to policyholders and other mterest 755 885

Total:benetits, losses,and expenses

0,556 . 20969: .. .

1387 . . 1,621

Netincome/{iossy before incorne taxés and minority interests’

Netincome/{loss) 873 14850

Supplementary segment information

Losses and loss adjustment expenses paid, net 16,639 15,184 92 94
Significant non-cash expenses; ' T ed A ) i

Depreciation and impairments of fixed assets . . B o 101 17 68 101
Amortization and impairments of intangible assets ’ 106 101 230 176
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Other ,

Farmers Management ) Corporate
Services Businesses Center Eliminations Total

2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
- - 452 2240 .. 18 32 .13 34 44,195 42,781
- - 906 1,475 661 570 (1,361) {1,405) 5,109 6,024
- - 1,358 . 1,699 677 - 602 .. (1,348) (1,371 49,304 48,805
- - (183) (202) -5, {655) 7 {578). .. 1,348 1,371 (7,625) (8,646)
- - 1,175 1,497 7 722 24 Y= - 41,679 40,159
- - 159 b2i ) - - 125 {562)
- - 1,334 1,559, " e23 17 - - 41,804 39,597
1,985 1,885 26 24 11 8 (9) (mn 2,030 2,062
86 77 798 892 ... A68 422 (887) (831) 9,114 8,395
1 - 206 342 .. - 4,934 5,180
- - 32 93 - 88 351
235 261 .., (288) 1,708 1,623
i 2,631 . 59,678 - ' 57,208
( (382) (427): - -
- - 138 1,341% +"30 213 (36) (119) 23,470 21,128
- - 722 597 28 41 8 90 13,042 10,237
- - 70 133 (3 - 72 7. 5 (2,012) 1,804
- - 930 2,071 35 182 21) (24) 34,500 33,259
- - 251 348 - S 175) = - 7,014 6,045
- - 514 458 7 K - - 7,243 6,445
915 854 387 618 766 633 (552) {257) 5,316 5,779
92 90 12 ’ ' - 436
- 46 142 (730 445
- 2 248 (119) 1,188
12,484 {11300 53,597+
3,611
*..2,009
- - 818 1,276 2 80 (32) {118) 17,515 16,516
40 43 1" 28 27 14 - - 247 357
92 30 12 15 8 ' 54 - - 448 436
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Table 27.2 ° k ) .General Life

Assets and liabilities by business segment : T Insurance Insurance

in USD millions, as of December 31 ' : 2004 2003 2004 2003
Total investments ) . 62,727 56,862 170,611 153,628
Investments held on account and at risk of life insurance policyholders - 6 8,272 6,916
Reinsurance assets B 16,670 17,128 1,787 1,105
Deposits made under assumed reinsurance contracts ' 1,786 1,683 24 9
Deferred policy acquisition costs ) ' - 2,265 2,085 10,995 9,564
Goodwill i 164 184 514 524
Cther related intangible assets! o ’ . - - 973 .1,025
Other assets ' v 12,985 12,575 11,365 11,984
Total assets after conselidation'af investments in stbsidiaries. 01,5971:'90,523 ", 204,541 184,755 .
Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, grass: 54,121 45,337 116 85
Reserves for unearned premiums, gross - .- . 14,008 13,470 147 131
Future life policyholders’ benefits, gross = o . 174 157 86,510 82,642
Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds, gross ‘ o 1,038 1,058 16,251 13,968
Reserves for unit-linked products, gross ) IR R - 61,034 51,127
Insurance reserves, gross 69,341 60,022 164,058 147,953
Insurance reserves for life insurance where the mvestment nsk is carned by pohcyholders R - 8,345 7,004
Debt related to capital markets and banking. actwmes - SRR - - -
Senior debt , ST 8,508 7,585 679 1,488

Subordinated debt o S oo - - -
Otherliabilities ; 13542‘ 13,067 19,129 18,472

Total liabilities.. £192,211 174,917 .

1 Other related intangible assets consists of present value of pmfrts of acqwred insurance contracts and ammey in-fact relationship,

Supplementary segment information

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, net: . o ' 41,079 31,986 95 76
Reserves for unearned premiums, net . o o - 11,776 11,215 145 129
Future life policyholders’ benefits, net 174 159 85,195 82,002
Policyholders' contract deposits and other funds, net ™ - 1,011. 1,043 16,144 13,844
Reserves for unit-linked products, net L S ) . - - 61,034 51,127
Insurance reserves, net S ... 54,040 44,403 162,613 147,178
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Farmers Management Other 7 o {‘Corp'or‘,aﬁe

Services - ~Businésses. . e Center .~ Eliminations Total

2004 2003 2004 1200377 2004 20037 2004 2003 2004 2003
2,547 2,219 18,927 21,3610 16,176 14,644 (24,829)  (22,967) 251,159 225,747
- - 15917. 15058 - . .= - - - 24,189 21,980
a4 429 6,457 7,250, 4639 385 (2,990) (3,627) 23,004 22,670
- - 1,516 1,931 .58, 51 . (68) (66) 3,312 3,608

- T 1 - (3) 13,344 11,784

- 6 . 7 Co- - 744 779
1,024 - <L - - 1,997 2,092
708 ] - 28,334 28,982

(1,916) (3,261)

w720 (29,803) 0.924)" 346,083  317.642.
- (1.424) (2,882) 57.813 51,068

- - {330) (253) 14,234 13,944

- 619, .. 6747 .77 (790) . (408) 88,856 85,211

- Lo e (320) (373) 24,168 22,007

- : - — A - 61,091 51,188

- 1,391 - 1,504 (2,864) (3,916) 246,162 223,418

- - - - - 24,261 22,063

- - - (1,130) (360) 3,880 5,961

- 16,530 . 14,288  (22,465)  (21,192) 3,355 2,360

- 3,749 3398 (1,233 - (1.412) 2,516 2,415

1.389 2,391 1,706 (2,111) 42,882 41,5272
3By | 28061 ; (29,803) ..-323,056 297,739
- - 2,154 4737 - 151 L2190 (8) (5) 43,474 37.013

- - 202 390 9 ‘9. B 44 12,137 11,787

{199) (194) 1,939 1,788 it 593 577 - - 5 4 87,707 84,336
(242) (235) 3,633 3676 - - - (58) (120) 20,488 18,208

- - 57 61 e e ’ < e - 61,091 51,188

(441) (429) 7,985 10,652 - 753 805 (53), (77) 224,897 202,532
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R Gross written premiums .
Table 27.3 ' “and policy fees Revenues

Premiums, revenues and assets by geographlcal segment 7.+ fortheyearsended - fortheyears ended as of g:zzﬁber 31
in USD millions i 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
North America Corporate Coeowe 15,708 15476 11,530 10,0001 43,589 36,549
North America Consumer ) Lot 3,696 4,204 16,046 6,342 15,576 14,671
Continental Europe : “UU 18,278 18,267 20,828 20,529 120,698 113,070
UKISA N ] ’ 8,733 7,998 15,849 14,579 117,180 100,149
Rest of the World . . e Lo e 70 2,834 2,851 2,393 2,176 10,777 10,428
Centrally Managed Businesses - T 2,508 -3,078 3,970 4,213 58,056 61,366
Eliminations - (2,454) (3,069).. (938) (632) (19,793) (18,591)

+346,083° 317,642

Total v

Table 27.4 : o : Co :

Purchases of fixed and intangible assets by geographlcal segment STt Fixed assets Intangible assets
in USD millions, for the years ended DecemberBl R St T 2004 2003 2004 2003
North America Corporate ) S P i 010 47 44 31
North America Consumer ‘ E o 56 39 9 54
Continental Europe ol o ' 25 66 84 58
UKISA ' : ' : S . 35 31 1 5
Rest of the World o . S : 16 6 11 4
Centrally Managed Businesses R L ' 97" 23 49
Total.ooaw 39 71820 77201

46  Zurich Financial Services Group - Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Consolidated Financial Statements




el T TR TR W T mew I WM M

Significant subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2004

Book value

\ ”\lotirk\g Ownership of common stock
: . , rights interest {in local
. .Domicile o Segment! G . % % currency miffions)
Australia . L L , o :
Zurich Australia Ltd: - .Sydney Life Insurance: - 100.00 100.00 AUD 10.0
Zurich Australian Insurance Limited e Sydney : General Insurance 100.00 100.00 AUD 97.1
Austria . . )
Zurich Versicherungs-Aktiengesellschaft Vienna~ ~ -+ " General Insurance” - - 99.98 99.98 EUR 12.0
Bermuda N '
B G Investments Limited Hamilton . Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 ust 0.3
Centre Group Holdings Limited Hamilton . Other Businesses . 100.00 100.00 usb 0.3
CMSH Limited . ‘Hamilton: .+ Corporate Center 100:00 100.00 usb 0.3
Lanner Re Limited ' © Hamilton e Corporate Center. . 10,00 100.00 usb 144.4
ZCM Holdings (Bermuda) Limited .0t Hamilton..v 0 OtheriBusinesses - - -100,00, 100.00 usD 158.9
2G Investments Ltd; " Hamilton - <755 - Corporate Center. - 100.00 100.00 usd 0.01
2G Investments |l Ltd. Hamilton " 'Cofporate Center ~ 100.00 100.00 usD 0.01
ZG Investments [V Ltd. Hamilton . Corporate Center ~ 100.00 100.00 usb 0.01
Zurich International (Bermuda) Ltd, ~ Hamilton - ) Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 UsD 9.9
Chile ‘ R S e
Chilena Consolidada Seguros de Vida S.A. Santiago.. . Life Insurance - 98.95 98.95 CLP 24,4840
France : AREN B :
Zurich international (France) Cie d'Assurances S.A. Levallois-Perret General Insurance - - 99.99 99.99 EUR 20.2
Germany . .
BONNSECUR Grundst{icksverwaltung GmbH Bonn Life Insurance - 76.83 76.83 EUR 0.1
DA Deutsche Aligemeine Versicherung AG . . : Oberursel” = % General Insurance ~~ 100.00 100.00 EUR 24.5
Deutscher Herold Aktiengesellschaft Bonn Life Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 18.4
Deutscher Herold Allgemeine Versicherung AG ~Bonn- . General Insurance 76.83 76.83 EUR 20.5
Deutscher Herold Lebensversicherung AG Born - - Lifé Insurance, - 76.83 76.83 EUR 46.2
Zarich Beteiligungs-Aktiengeselischaft ‘ .

(Deutschiand) Frankfurt/Main General dnsurance . - 100.00 100.00 EUR 152.9
Zurich Lebensversicherung AG (Deutschland) Frankfurt/Main - ‘Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 13.4
Zurich Versicherung AG (Deutschland) g Frankfurt/Main General Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 106.5
treland : ‘ i ’ '

Eagle Star Insurance Company (Ireland) Ltd. Dublin Generalinsurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 4.6
Eagle Star Life Assurance Company e o :

of Irefand Limited Dublin-- ¢ . ‘Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 17.5
Orange Stone Holdings Dublin . Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 UsD  1,609.3
Orange Stone Reinsurance ‘ " Dublin “Corporate Centre -~ 100.00 100.00 UsD  1,663.0
italy B e : : R
Zurich international (ltalia) S.p. A. Milan ’ General Instirance’ ~ 100.00 100.00 EUR 38.6
Zurich Investments Life S.p.A. Milan Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 34.0
Zurich Life Insurance ltalia S.p.A. Milan St lifelnsurance. 100,00 100.00 EUR 259
Portugal
Zurich, Companhia de Seguros, S.A. .- Lisbon.. .., General Insurance .. . 100.00 100.00 EUR 10.0
South Africa o ' ‘ o .

SA Fire House Limited Bryanston™ - General Insurance - 100.00 100.00 ZAR  0.0006
South African Eagle Insurance Company Limited Bryanston . ‘General Insurance - . 83.61 83.61 ZAR 3.0
Spain — - -

Zurich Espafia, Compania de Seguros . o ; FITE .

y Reaseguros, S.A. : Barcelona - .. - . General Insurance . . 99.78 99.78 EUR 33.6
Zurich Vida, Companiia de Seguros :

y Reaseguros, S.A. Madrid D Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 EUR 50.4
! The segments are defined in the Notes to-the Consolidated Financial Statements, notet. Basis-of presentation. ' B -
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Book value

Voting . Ownership of common stock
; T fights interest {in tocal
Domicile Segment! - % % currency millions)
Switzerland R i
Assuricum Company Limited Zug - ‘Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 610.0
La Genevoise, Compagnie d’Assurances sur |a Vie Geneva Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 CHF 17.0
Zurich Group Holding Zurich Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF  1,600.0
Zurich Insurance Company * Zurich Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 825.0
Zurich Life Insurance Company Limited Zurich Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 CHF 60.0
Taiwan ‘ :
Zurich Insurance (Taiwan) Ltd. . Taipei.. General Insurance - 91.68 91.68 TWD  2,000.0
United Kingdom o T R ‘ '
Allied Dunbar Assurance p.l.c. “ ' Swindon, England > . . - Life Insurance “100.00 100.00 GBP  465.1
Allied Zurich Holdings Limited Jersey, Channel Islands ~ Corporate Center  100.00 100.00 GBP 90.7
Allied Zurich p.l.c. London, England. “Corporate Center -*- 100.00 100.00 GBP 3781
Claims Management Group Limited London, England, Corporate Center 100:00 100.00 GBP 3.5
Dunbar Group p.l.c. London, England Other Businesses , 100.00 100.00 GBP 60.3
Eagle Star Group Services Limited London, England Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 GBP 0.000002
Eagle Star Holdings Limited Londen,.England: - Corporate Center ** 100.00 100.00 GBP 553.7
Eagle Star Insurance Company Limited Fareham, England Generalinsurance 100,00 100.00 GBP 591.7
Zurich Assurance (2004) p.l.c. ~ Londoh, England - Life insurance . 100.00 100.00 GBP 162.6
Zurich Assurance Limited London, England Life Insurance -100.00 100.00 GBP 879.9
Zurich Financial Services (Jersey) Limited Jersey. Channél Islands Corporate.Center 100,00 100.00 GBP 0.01
Zurich Financial Services (UKISA) Limited London, Englangd” Corporate Center .~ 100.00 100.00 GBP  1,492.1
Zurich Holdings (UK) Limited -Fareham, England Corporate Center -~ 100.00 100.00 GBP 87.1
Zurich International (UK) Limited Fareham, Erigland Gengral Insurance-.. 100.00 100.00 GBP 40.0
Zurich International Life Limited ) Doug!aé, Isleof Man .- Life Insurance -100.00 100.00 GBP 35.6
Zurich Invest (Jersey) Ltd. Jersey, Channelislands - General4nsurance .- 100.00 100.00 GBP 0.1
Zurich Specialties London Limited London, England General Insutance 100.00 100.00 GBP 150.0
Zurich Whiteley investment Trust Limited _Fareham, England ... Othér Businesses 100.00 100.00 GBP 10.2
United States of America , I : .. o
Centre Reinsurance Holdings (Delaware) Limited:  Wilmington, DE Other Businesses 100.00 100.00 usD  0.0196
Crown Management Services Limited Wilmington, DE Corporate:Center .~ "100.00 100.00 USD  0.00003
Farmers Group, Inc. ’ Los Angeles; CA_ ke Fa'r\,mers Méhagemen;, i
) v 7 Services - 96.63 100.00 Uusp 0.001
Farmers New World Life Insurance Cormipany Mercerlsland; WA : Life Insurance 100.00 100.00 usD 6.6
Farmers Reinsurance Company Los Angeles, CA - General Insurance 100.00 100.00 usD 5.0
Kemper Corporation Schaumburg, iL Corporate Ceénter 100.00 100.00 usD 220.0
Kemper Investors Life Insurance Company Mercer island, WA .~ Other Businesses 100:00 100.00 usD 2.5
Universal Underwriters Insurance Company Overland Park, KA General Insurance 100.00 100.00 usd 15.0
Universal Underwriters Life insurance Company . ‘Overland Park, KA. General Insurance 100.00 100.00 usD 2.5
Zurich American insurance Company S V
(and subsidiaries) Schaumburg 4L <. -~ General Insurance, ~ 100.00 100.00 usD 5.0
Zurich Finance (USA), inc. Schaumburg, 1L Corporate Center 100.00 100.00 UsD 0.000001
Zurich Holding Company of America, Inc. Dover, DE Corporate Center . 100.00 100.00 ushD 0.6
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Report of the Group auditors

To the General Meeting of Zurich Financial Servicés, Zyrich ‘

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the consolidated financial statements {operating statement, balance sheet, statement of cash
flows, statement of shareholders’ equity and notes on pages:1 to 48) of Zurich Financial Sevices for the year ended December 31, 2004.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our respohsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm-that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification
and independence. ‘ :

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession and with international Standards

on Auditing, which require that an audit be planned-and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about-whether the consolidated

financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined,on-a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disciosures
in the consolidated financial statements. We have also assessed the~éccouhting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall
consolidated financial statement presentation. We befieve that our audit provides a reasonable Basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements gii/“éia true-and fairview 6f the ﬁnéncial p'osition, the result of operations and the cash
flows in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards.(IFRS) and comply. with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements,éubmiﬁed to you be approved.
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG o
R Marshall W Eriksen-Grundbacher ;.-

Zurich, February 16, 2005
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Embedded value results ~ Life Insurance (unaudited)

7w

TN e

North America

Consumer
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 : AT 2004 2003
Gross new business premiums including deposits |, - e e ' , 252 711
of which: 1 ' ' ‘ R
Annual premiums I - L s 106 175
Single premiums e . e . 146 536
Gross new business annual premiums equivalent (APE) , =~ 7. o I 120 229
Embedded value information: ' N o
Opening embedded value g e T 2,555 3,160
Operating profit expected from in-force busmess and net assets, aftertax o 176 232
New business profit, after tax : ] o s 74 71
Operating variance, after tax ) ; . ' et | : o (§)] (5)
Operating assumption changes e T T . 81 20
Total operating profit, after tax ‘ ) - o 330 318
Economic variance:
investment variance s j R ) 4 78
Change in economic assumptions e L s {15) 37
Embedded value profit/(loss), aftertax .~ B T R o 319 358
Dividends and capital movements i o ' . (472) (964)
Closing embedded vaiue before fareign currency translation effects ) 5 Co : ) 2,402 2,555
Foreign currency translation effects : i , ’ ; ' - -
Closing embedded value after foreign currency translation effects Coi R 2,402 2,555
of which: o I o v
Shareholders’ net assets ,-  Rl ' . 1,012 1,308
Value of business in-force - S e L L 1,390 1,247
After-tax operating return before forelgn cufrency translatlon effects ) ' 15.0% 10.0%
After-tax return on opening embedded value before fore|gn currency translation effects B . 14.5% 11.4%
New business profit margin (in % of APE) ' ) : : o : 61.0% 311%
Embedded value economic assumptions: . oo
Discount rate ) 8.0% 8.0%
Investment returns before tax: ’ y
Fixed interest o AT N ) . 5.4% 4.9%
Equities S ‘ ‘ 8.0% 8.0%
Property : S - -
Expense inflation L N 2.3% 2.3%
Attributed tax rate o o - 35.0% 35.0%

Embedded vaiue notes: The above information should Be read in conj'uﬁction with additional notes on the foliowing bage.

External Review: Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”). our consulting actuaries, have reviewed the choice of methodology together with the assumptions and calculations made

by Zurich Financial Services Group {“the Group") in the calculation of the embedded.value results of its Life Business as of December 31, 2004. Deloitte have reported to the Group
that they consider that the methodology is appropriate, the Group's assumptions are together reasonable.and that the embedded value resuits as published above have been
praperly compiled-on the basis of the methodology and assumptions chosen, For the purpose of this report, De!ome have performed cenam checks on data provided by the Group,
but have not verified and have relied on financia! information underiying the Group s fmancual statemems

1 Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Financial Statistics



Céntinental

: Europe ; UKISA' . ‘Rest of the World Yotal
2004 : 2003 2004 .. 2003¢ 2004 2003 2004 2003
2,724 2,600 5,770 4,286 1,189 770 9,935 8,367
873 599 489 » 483 98 184 1,566 1,441
1,851 2,001 5,281 3,803 1,091 586 8,369 6,926
1,058 799 1,017 863 207 243 2,403 2,134
2,510 1,944 " 4,608 4308 739 675 10,412 10,088
139 142 . . 1482 7320 75 69 842 763
134 63 .. 59 59 6 m 273 192
(98) 31 (132 (140) (1) (12) (232) (126)
244 144 {115) 82 24 (16) 234 230
418 380" 264 321 104 40 1,117 1,059
129 274. a2 22 30 (16) 205 358
159 (359) 17 (74) (35) (19) 126 (489)
707 295 . 323 269 ~. 99 5 1,848 928
(501) (121). 1,175 ©. {446) - - (53) 202 (1,584)
2,716 2,118 6,106 4132.,°. 838 627 12,062 9,432
217 “392 454 476 T 24 112 695 980
2,033 . 2510 6,560 . 4,608 " 862 739 12,757 10,412
1,403 1,162 3,862 . 1,660 506 478 6,873 4,608
1,530 1,348 -2,698 2,948 - 266 261 5,884 5,804
23.8% 196% .- 4.7% 7.4% 13.7% 5.9% 10.8%  10.5%
40.2% 152% . .57% 6.2% 13.1% 0.7% 14.0% 9.2%
12.7% +7.9% . 5.8% " 6.9% 3.1% (0:5%) 11.4% 9.0%
73% . 79% . 07.5% ¢ 8.0%. 94% - 98% 7.7% 8.1%
3.8%  42% 4.4% "5.0% - 5.7% 4.6% 4.2% 45%
7.2% 7.8% . 6.9% 76% . .8.2%- 8.8% 7.1% 7.8%
4.8% A9% . . 6.8% 73% - 6:6% 6.8% 5.0% 52%
1.6% 1.6% 3.0% 3.0% 3.1% 2.3% 2.4% 2.4%
32.7% 329%. - 289% 28.7% 25.5% 27.5% 30.7% 31.2%

2Zurich Financial Services Group - Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Financial Statistics
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Addmonal notes to the embedded value results

1. The after-tax operating return and after-tax return on openmg embedded value have been calculated to reflect the incidence of capital
movements in and out of the embedded value.

2.The 2003 year-end embedded value included the value of certam Ilfe operations whrch are now. centrally managed outside the Life
Insurance segment.
The IFRS financial statements as of December 31, 2004 reflect this change and these cperatrons are rncluded in "Other Businesses” for
IFRS reporting. The life embedded value results as of December 31,2004, asstime that these operations have been transferred out of the
Life Insurance segment at their embedded value as of January 1, 2004 {USD 770 million). The regions affected by this change are North
America Consumer and Continental Europe. In the UKISA region.during 2004 there was a large capital inflow of assets in exchange for
a holding of a General Insurance company. These assets were brought in to the embedded value at their locked in value.

3. The Life Insurance segment includes some non-insurance subsidiary companies, Where appropnate we have included the value of these

companies in accordance with our embedded value methadology. For those companies for which no embedded value has been calculated,

these have been included at their shareholders’ equrty value, as ca!culated in accordance with IFRS, which represents approximately 2%
of our total published embedded value.

4. The UK Life business distribution network generated an addrtnonal USD 16 mrHron of new busmess proflt for the Group relating to0 a
product accounted for in a non-insurance subsidiary whrch from year-end 2004 s not included in the life value of new business. In 2003,
sales of this product accounted for USD 20 million.of hew busmess profit, wi ithout whrch the new business margin would have been
4.6% for UKISA and 8.1% for the total Group. :

. The UKISA operating profit after-tax for 2004 has been adversely affected by an-increase-in provisions for settling customer complaints
relating to past sales of mortgage endowment and other contracts {reducing the operating profit by USD 208 miltion). Without this effect,
the after-tax operating return on embedded-value would have been 8.4% for UKISA and 12.8% for the total Group.

6. The published embedded value assumes that at least the locally.required minimum statutory capital is held to support the business. In

some countries, a higher amount has.been locked in where this'is in fing with management strategy or market practice. In 2004, the

amount of shareholder capital used to meet these requrrements was, USD 5.0 billion, which produced -an associated shareholder economic
cost of USD 1.6 billion.

in 2004, the capital strain on writing new business was approxrmately USD 0.7 billion. The after tax internal rate of return on new business

is 11-12%. The new business profit before cost of solvency is USD 352 millich.

8. For both 2003 and 2004 the new business profitand new bisiness premium information are shown gross of any minority holdings
although the embedded value is shown net of minorjty holdings. The minorities share of new business profit is reversed out through the
line "Operating variance, after tax” in the table of embedded value results on the precedrng pages. Most of the minorities share of
new business profit relates to our subsidiary Deutscher Herold Lebensversicherung AG in Continental Europe. The new business profit
and APE net of minority holdings for 2004 are USD 254 million and USD 2,243 million, respectively.

Ul

.“J

Embedded Value Sensitivities :
The foliowing tables show the sensitivity of our 2004 embedded value and value of new business to changes in several key assumptions:

Discouint Drs;ount Investment Investment... MVof Renewal Demo-

. ; rate’ .~ “rate return return. | equities expenses graphy Lapses
Change in embedded value ‘ 1% ~ A% 1% 1% 10% 10% 10% 10%
in USD millions increase decrease  increase decrease decrease decrease worsening worsening
Change in embedded value o (667) -. 795 596 - (861) (290) 207 (548) {197)

Discount *Discount Investmeént Investment Initial  Renewal Demeo-
. rate |, ; rate: ' return, return . -expenses expenses graphy Lapses
Change in new business value 1% 1% 1% 1% 10% 10% 10% 10%
in UsSD millions : increase ' .decrease - increase - decrease.- decrease decrease worsening worsening
Change in new business value ' (62')“ . 75 . 59 (57)” 70 21 (29) (46)

Please note that the figures shown above are “sensitivities”.— for each assumpt;on change, all other assumptions have remained unchanged.
The exceptions to this are the investment return sensitivities. The'investment return sensitivity assurnes a change to future new money
rates for fixed interest securities and a change to returns on both. existing assets and future new.money rates for equities and properties.
These sensitivities reflect the change to embedded valueiin this’ thanged investment environment. For example, where appropriate,

changes to statutory valuation bases or policyholder boriuses have'been reflected accordingly. In Jaditi ion, changes to the market values of
fixed interest assets have been reflected where appropnate However these investment return sensitivities assume that the risk discount
rates remain unaffected. .

3 Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Results Reporting 2004 * Financia! $tatistics



Embedded value methodology
The embedded value represents the shareholders’ interest, excludmg any value from future new busmess in theentities included in the Life
insurance segment as per the IFRS financial statements. It is the total of the shareholders interest in the net assets of these Life Insurance
entities and the present value of the projected releases to shareholders arising from the business in-force, less a charge for the cost of capital
supporting the solvency reguirements of the business. The.discount rate used to value the in-force business in each country reflects long
term government bond rates at the valuation date plus a risk margin. The assumpticns for mortality, persistency and expenses reflect recent
and expected experience. All changes in assumptions not classified:as " economic” are included in the “"Operating assumption changes” line
item. Gross new business annual premium equivalent (APE)is calculated as new annual premiums plus 10% of single premiums.

Embedded value profit is the change in the embedded value overthe year after adjustment forany dividends and capital movements. The
profit is calculated on an after-tax basis. :

Embedded value profit consists of the following components, the ﬂr_st two of whig:h in aggregate are referred to as operating profit:
¢ new business profit, after tax, which represents the value added by new business written during the period, including allowance for the
cost of holding solvency capital, and is valued at point of sale using the apphcabfe discount rate;
* the operating profit from existing business, which is equal to;
- the profit expected from the in-force business and net assets; after tax; mcludmg aliowance for the cost of holding solvency capital,
- the experience variances caused by the differences’ between the: actual expenence dunng the period and. the expected experience
assumed in the prior year embedded value, and ;
- the impact of changes in assumptions of future’ opera‘ung expenence
» the economic variance, which is equal to:
- theinvestment variance caused by differences between the;actual and the expected experlence ‘over the reporting period, and
~ the change in future economic assumptions, such as changes in discount rates and, future mvestment rates. This also includes, where
appropriate, changes in legislation. » :

The calcuiation of embedded values necessarily makes numgrous assumptions with respect fo economic conditions, operating conditions,
taxes, and other matters, many.of which are beyond the Group's control. Although the assumptions used represent estimates which

the Group and Deloitte believe are together reasonable, actual future experience may vary from that assumed in the calculation of the
embedded value results, and such variation may be material: Deviations from assumed experience aré normal and are to be expected.

The embedded value results have been prepared using generally-accepted actuarial methods that use determlnlstlc projections that do not
allow for alf of the cost of options and guarantees on a market consnstent basis. L

Zurich Financial Services Group - Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Financial Statistics 4
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Analyst presentation

Zurich, February 17, 2005

Disclaimer and cautionary statement 7]
ZURICH

Certain statements in this document are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements
that are predictions of or indicate future events, trends, plans or objectives. Forward-looking statements include
statements regarding our strategic direction, targeted profit improvement, return on equity targets, expense
reductions, pricing conditions, dividend policy and underwriting claims improvements. Undue reliance should not
be placed on such statements because, by their nature, they are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties and can be affected by other factors that could cause actual results and Zurich Financial Services’
plans and objectives to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward looking statements (or
from past results). Factors such as (i) general economic conditions and competitive factors, particularly in our core
markets; (i) performance of financial markets; (iii) levels of interest rates and currency exchange rates; (iv)
frequency, severity and development of insured claims events; (v) mortality and morbidity experience; (vi) policy
renewal and lapse rates; (vii) changes in laws and regulations and in the policies of regulators may have a direct
bearing on Zurich Financial Services’ results of operations and on whether Zurich Financial Services will achieve its
targets. Zurich Financial Services undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any of these forward-
looking statements, whether to reflect new information, future events or circumstances or otherwise.

This communication is directed only at persons who (i) have professional experience in matters relating to
investments or (i} are persons falling within Article 43(2)(a) to (d) (high net worth companies, unincorporated
associations, etc) of The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2001 {(as amended)
or to whom it may otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as relevant
persons). This communication must not be acted on or relied on by persons who are not relevant persons. Any
investment or investment activity to which this communication relates is available only to relevant persons and
will be engaged in only with relevant persons.

It should be noted that past performance is not a guide to future performance. Persons requiring advice should
consult an independent adviser.

© Zurich Finandlal Services - Annual Resufts Reporting 2008, February 17, 2005 2




Agenda 7
ZURICH
¢ Introduction James J. Schiro
¢ Annual Results 2004 Patrick O'Sullivan
* The Way Forward James J. Schiro
e Q&A
7]
ZURICH
Introduction

James J. Schiro
Chief Executive Officer

February 17, 2005




Financial highlights 7

ZURICH
in USD millions 2004 2003
Gross written premiums and policy fees " 48,805
General Insurance GWP and policy fees 36,250
Life Insurance GWP and policy fees 11,625
Net investment result for Group investments 7,815
Business operating profit 2,316
Net income 2,009

Return on equity 3 12.1%
Business operating profit return on equity 9.8%

General Insurance combined ratio
Life new business profit margin (as % of APE)

Payment per share’

1 In CHF; payment in form of a nominal value reduction

© Zurich Finandlal Services - Annual Resufts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 s
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Annual Results 2004

Patrick O’'Sullivan

Group Finance Director

February 17, 2005




Improved reserving process

Z)

ZURICH

¢ New formal review structure

¢ Rolling reviews of all reserves

s Third party actuaries support where appropriate
¢ Strengthened actuarial reporting lines

¢ Consistent methodologies supported by reporting process

© 2urich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reparting 2004, February 17, 2005

Split of insurance reserves as at December 31

Z)

ZURICH

2002: USD 30,366 million 2003: USD 37,013 million 2004: USD 43,474 million

Il NA Corp. Cont. Europe B ukisa Il ~NA Cons.

in USD millions Cont. _
NA Corp. Europe UKISA NA Cons. RoW CMB Total
2002 9,384 8,836 6,075 746 897 4,428 | 30,366
2003 12,005 10,628 8,212 907 1,212 4,049 | 37,013
2004 17,306 11,517 9,633 1,078 1,289 2,651 | 43,474

© 2urich Finandial Services - Annual Resusits Reporting 2009, February 17, 2005




Insurance reserves development 7 )

ZURICH
in USD millions 2003
Losses and LAE reserves, net, at January 1 30,366
Losses and LAE paid 16,516
Losses and LAE incurred
Current year 19,254
Prior year 1,874
Other movements (FX and divestments) 2,035
Losses and LAE reserves, net, at December 31 37,013
Insurance reserves: prior year development by 7,
ZURICH

business division

NA Corporate

NA Consumer

Continental Europe

UKISA

Rest of the World

Centrally Managed Businesses
Total

Major lines of business affected in the US
* Workers' Compensation
* Commercial General Liability

¢ Primary
e Construction defect
e Products

¢ Business Owners/Package
s Construction defect

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 10




Business operating profit by segment 7
ZURICH

in USD millions

General Insurance
Life Insurance
Farmers Management Services

Other Businesses

Corporate Center

Total

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 n

General Insurance key performance indicators @@
ZURICH
Business Operating Profit Combined ratio (%)
in USD millions Total'
NA Corporate
NA Corp.
NA Consumer
Continental Europe NA Cons.
UKISA Cont. Eur.
Rest of World : UKISA
Centrally Managed Businesses | Restof T
Total World
80 90 106 110 126
12004
22003

' Including Centrally Managed Businesses

€ 2urich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, Fabruary 17, 2008 7




General Insurance combined ratio by business (7 )
division — excluding reserve adjustments ZURICH

NA Corporate

NA Consumer
Continental Europe
UKISA

Rest of World

Total excluding reserve strengthening

Total combined ratio as reported

' Includes USD 617 million hurricane and tsunami losses (5.8 pts. impact on combined ratio)
2 Inctudes USD 762 million hurricane and tsunami losses (2.5 pts. impact on combined ratio)

© Zurich Finendial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 13

Combined ratio NA Corporate 7 )
ZURICH

As reported

Excluding reserve strengthening/releases

¢ Reduced underwriting and claims leakage
¢ Current terms and conditions firm

+ Maintained low expense ratio

* Book comfortably above technical price

¢ Growth in selected lines of business

' Includes USD 617 million hurricane and tsunami losses (5.8 pts. impact on combined ratio)

© Zurich Finandal Servicas - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 "




Combined ratio Continental Europe 7 )
ZURICH

As reported

Excluding reserve strengthening/releases

* Excellent performance in all countries

* Claims frequency down in mator books

* USD 85 million from motor claims initiatives
» Italy motor book up 10%

¢ Corporate book up 8%

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Resulls Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 15

Combined ratio UKISA >
ZURICH

As reported

Excluding reserve strengthening/releases

¢ Low CAT and large loss experience
¢ Reduction in motor claims frequency

+ Rate increases in strong market positions

© Zurich Financial Services - Annual Resuits Reporting 2004, Februery 17, 2005 13




Life Insurance key performance indicators 7]

ZURICH

Business operating profit New business margin’' (%)
in USD millions Total
NA Consumer
Continental Europe NA

Cons.
UKISA Cont.
Rest of World Europe

Total UKISA

Rest of
World

! The after tax internal rate of return is approx. 11-12% (2003: 10-11%)

© Zurich Finandat Services - Annuat Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

Life Insurance performance highlights 7/
ZURICH

e 15% growth in new business APE’ (adjusted for f/x and divestments)
¢ Continental Europe
- Record sales growth in Germany
- Strong performance in Italy
e UKISA
- IFA channel 20% APE growth
- Openwork launched
- Agency numbers reduced to 2,200
- Market leading third party products
*» NA Consumer (Farmers New World Life)
- Attractive new business margins
- Strongsales

' Annual Premiums Equivalent

© Zurich Finandial Services + Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005




Life embedded value performance 7

ZURICH

EV operating profit EV operating return (%)
in USD millions Total
NA Consumer
Continental Europe NA Cons.
UKISA Cont. Eur.
Rest of World
Total UKISA

Rest of

World

0 5 10 15 20 25
7 2004

#2003

© 2Zurich Financial Services - Annual Resutts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

Farmers Management Services with record year @@
ZURICH

in USD millions

Management fees & other related revenue
Management & other expenses
Investment income

Net income

Business operating profit

Gross operating margin

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Resutts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005
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Other Businesses financial highlights 7/
ZURICH

in USD millions

Business operating profit
of which: Centre

other

Net income
of which: Centre

other

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

Shareholders’ equity 7]
ZURICH

in USD millions

23'000

22'000

21'000

Balance as of SOP 03-01 Restated  Netincome Translation
Dec 31,2003 implement. Balance asof
Dec 31, 2003

Change in Nominal Impact of Balance as of
adjustments net unreal. value initial Dec 31, 2004
gains on reduction  applitation
investments' and other?  of legal
quote in
Switzerland

' Excluding translation adjustments
2 Includes dividends on preferred securities, treasury stock & share-based payment transactions

© Zurich Finanda Services - Annus! Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005
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Z)

ZURICH
The Way Forward
James J. Schiro
Chief Executive Officer
February 17, 2005
Having delivered the turnaround, we 7
are now building the future ZURICH

@X“N;m?
%rmm * Establish a clear direction

W
= Cr:?;;;tr?ﬁ"e = . « Align organizational model
* Delivered for customers with strategic priorities

and shareholders .
¢ Zurich Way:

Drive businesses by rigorous
focus on operational

* Improved core processes  excellence and by applying
¢ Performance culture common methodologies

* Focus on core * Business model operating

» Improve financial and to underwriting profit
operational discipline
¢ Strengthen capital

* De-risk balance sheet « improved capital

* Implement operational management and
improvement program balance sheet

e Start cultural change
2003 - 2004

2002 - 2003

© Zurich Finanda! Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, Februsry 17, 2005 6
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The Zurich Way — one “best” way to achieve 7

operational excellence in all core processes ZURICH

Seven initial work streams The Zurich Way framework

1. General Insurance claims

2. Large corporate and commercial
underwriting

Personal lines underwriting
Life (with 4 sub workstreams)
Tied agent distribution

Talent management

N v & w

Financial discipline <
PO
¢ CEO/GEC sponsorship

e Full time central team to support workstreams

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annusl Resufts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 B

Financial benefits of improvement initiatives of ~ @
the entire Zurich Financial Services Group ZURICH

100% = 100% = 100% =
USD 1 billion USD 540 million USD 500 million
] e P B = 2

%

Life, AM & other

Growth/Distribution

Claims

Underwriting Process

Pricing

Operating Expenses

2003 2004 2005

© Zurich Finandiaf Services - Annual Resuits Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 26
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We have a well diversified General Insurance 7 )
book! ZURICH

North United Cont.

Total

Corporate
Lines

Commercial
Lines

Personal
Lines

Total

! Customers segments pro-forma reporting
2 Incl. Small Businesses

3 NA Consumer

4 Based on 2004 GWP, adjusted for Group eliminations and Centrally Managed Businesses

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 X Y
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Z)

ZURICH
Appendix
Return on equity 7
ZURICH
2003
Business Operating Profit’ 2,235
Average IFRS Equity? T 19,462 9.8%
3
Net Income _ 2,587 12.1 %
Average IFRS Equity? 19,462
' In USD millions, after tax (2004 BOP = 3,143 less tax @ 28.9% = 2,235)
2 |n USD miilions, IFRS Equity {excluding preferred shares) BoY: 17°838, EoY: 21'085, average: 19'462
3 In USD miliions
© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, Februsty 17, 2005 30
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Asbestos & Environmental reserves

ZJ

ZURICH

Ashestos
of which: US
of which: UK

Environmental

Total

7 in USD millions

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

3-year sur-
vival ratio

Life Insurance financial highlights

Z]

ZURICH

in USD millions

GWP, policy fees & deposits

Business operating profit

Net investment income!

New business premiums (APE2)

New business profit margin {as % of APE)
EV aperating profit, after tax

EV operating return, after tax3

Discount rate

! Including investments for unit-linked products
2 Annual Premiums Equivalent
3 Before foreign currency translation effects

© 2urich Financia! Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005
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Life IFRS equity adjusted to bridge EV

Z)

ZURICH

in USD billions

Tangible assets in IFRS equity
" DAC and other intangibles
Goodwill
Life IFRS equity

Adjustments:  Reserves and investment valuation differences!
Deduct DAC and other intangibles?
Deduct goodwill3

Subtotal adjustments
Value of business in-force (before cost of capital)
Cost of capital

Embedded value
Net asset value
Value of business in-force (after cost of capital)

' Difference between tangible IFRS Equity and NAV under EV
? DAC and other intangibles included in IFRS Equity are subtracted
3 Goodwill is not included in the EV, thus needs to be deducted from IFRS equity

© 2urich Finandial Sarvices - Annua) Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

Shareholders’ deferred acquisition costs and
recoverability

Z)

ZURICH

in USD millions

DAC asset incl. in Life Insurance segment balance sheet
Present value of future profits'
Deferred front-end fees

Investments less reserves where the investment risk is
carried by the policyholder

Policyholder share of DAC and other intangibles

Tax deductions on intangible assets

Net shareholders’ intangibles to be recovered from
future earnings?

* linked to acquisitions
2 after tax

© Zurich Finandsl Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, Fehrusry 17, 2005
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Total Group investments by major category 7
ZURICH

USD 163.8bn UsD 176.0bn USD 191.1bn
100%

75%

50%

25%

0%

Other equity securities
@ Common stock, including equity unit trusts

Debt securities
Other investments

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

96% of the bond portfolio is investment 7
grade ZURICH

Bond portfolio ratings® distribution as at December 31, 2004

‘BB’ & below 1%
‘BBB’ 4%

Not available 3%

‘A" 12%

'AAA’ 63%

"AA 17%

' Lower of Moody's and S&P issuer ratings, if no rating available, internal ratings have been assigned

© Zurich Finandat Services - Annusl Results Reporting 7004, February 17, 2005
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The bond portfolio diversification (7

ZURICH
Bond portfolio currency distribution as at December 31, 2004
Other 3.2%
CHF 11.8%
EUR 36.8%
GBP 19.1%
e
USD 28.7%
© Zurich Finanda! Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 37
The equity portfolio diversification 7/
ZURICH
Equity portfolio country distribution as at December 31, 2004
Other 10.2%
Switzerland 7.9%
Europe 39.5%
UK 21.4%
North America 21.0%
© Zurich Finandal Sendces - Annual Resutts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 38
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Credit quality! of reinsurance counterparties / 7]
collateralization of recoverables ZURICH

Not rated 8%
‘BB’ & below 1%
N

‘BBB’ 5%.___

‘A’ 20% Collateralized: 44%

‘AA' 18% '
'AAA’ 4%
' Lower of Moody's and S&P issuer ratings; if no rating is available, internal ratings have been assigned

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Resuits Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 33

Farmers Exchanges! financial 7/
highlights ZURICH

in USD millions 2003 4'000 40.0%
Gross written premiums 13,833
. - 38.0%
Net underwriting gain -372.6 3'800
Net surplus change (YTD) 2111 r 36.0%
Ending Surplus 3,684.2 3600
- 34.0%
Surplus Ratio 36.7%
3'400
r 32.0%
3'200 + 30.0%

2001 2002 2003 2004

s Surplus  —— Surplus ratio

' Zurich Financial Services has no ownership interest in the Farmers Exchanges. Farmers Group, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group, provides management services to the Farmers Exchanges and receives a fee for
its services

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 %0
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Farmers Exchanges — combined ratio by
line of business

Z

ZURICH

Auto
Homeowners
Commercial P&C’
Specialty

Total

Adjusted combined ratio?

T Excludes earthquake losses before quota share treaties
2 Adjusted for profit portion of management fees

© Zurich Finandal Services « Annual Resufts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

103.8%
96.8% |
101.9% |

Farmers Exchanges — development of the
combined ratio

Z)

ZURICH

Quarterly combined ratio

125%

120%

115%

110%

105% 1

100% -

95% -

90% - 3 i 4 i
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

.
T
2 2

Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2001 2002 . 2003

© Zurich Finandiat Sarvices - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005
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Zurich, February 17, 2005

Disclaimer and cautionary statement (7
ZURICH

Certain statements in this document are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements
that are predictions of or indicate future events, trends, plans or objectives. Forward-looking statements include
statements regarding our strategic direction, targeted profit improvement, return on equity targets, expense
reductions, pricing conditions, dividend policy and underwriting claims improvements. Undue reliance should not
be placed on such statements because, by their nature, they are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties and can be affected by other factors that could cause actual results and Zurich Financial Services’
plans and objectives to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward looking statements (or
from past results). Factors such as (i) general economic conditions and competitive factors, particularly in our core
markets; (ii) performance of financial markets; (iii) levels of interest rates and currency exchange rates; (iv)
frequency, severity and development of insured claims events; (v) mortality and morbidity experience; (vi) policy
renewal and lapse rates; (vii) changes in laws and regulations and in the policies of regulators may have a direct
bearing on Zurich Financial Services’ results of operations and on whether Zurich Financial Services will achieve its
targets. Zurich Financial Services undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any of these forward-
looking statements, whether to reflect new information, future events or circumstances or otherwise.

This communication is directed only at persons who (i) have professional experience in matters relating to
tnvestments or (i} are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (high net worth companies, unincorporated
associations, etc) of The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2001 (as amended)
or to whom it may otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as relevant
persons). This communication must not be acted on or relied on by persens who are not relevant persons. Any
investment or investment activity to which this communication relates is available only to relevant persons and
will be engaged in only with relevant persons.

it should be noted that past performance is not a guide to future performance. Persons requiring advice should
consult an independent adviser.

© Zurich Finandia! Services - Annual Resuits Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 2
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Z)

ZURICH

¢ Introduction

e Annual Results 2004
The Way Forward

* Q&A

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005
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Financial highlights 7/
ZURICH

in USD millions

Gross written premiums and policy fees / ] 48,805 |
General Insurance GWP and policy fees 36,250
Life Insurance GWP and policy fees 379 11,625

Net investment result for Group investments 7,815 |

Business operating profit
Net income
Return on equity

Business operating profit return on equity

General Insurance combined ratio
Life new business profit margin (as % of APE)

Payment per share'

' In CHF; payment in form of a nominal value reduction

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 s
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Business operating profit by segment 7]
ZURICH

in USD millions

General Insurance

Life Insurance

Farmers Management Services
Other Businesses

Corporate Center

Total
General Insurance key performance indicators @@
ZURICH
Business Operating Profit Combined ratio (%)
in USD millions Total'
NA Corporate
NA Corp.
NA Consumer
Continental Europe NA Cons.
UKISA Cont. Eur.
Rest of World vkisa |
Centrally Managed Businesses Rest of
Total World
80 %0 100 1110 120
82004
32003

' Including Centrally Managed Businesses

© Zurich Finandal Serdces - Annusl Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 s




Improved reserving process

Z

ZURICH

* New formal review structure

¢ Rolling reviews of all reserves

* Third party actuaries support where appropriate

e Strengthened actuarial reporting lines

¢ Consistent methodologies supported by reporting process

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Resutts Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

General Insurance combined ratio by business
division — excluding reserve adjustments

Z)

ZURICH

NA Corporate

NA Consumer
Continental Europe
UKISA

Rest of World

Total excluding reserve strengthening

Total combined ratio as reported

' Includes USD 617 million hurricane and tsunami losses (5.8 pts. impact on combined ratio)
2 Includes USD 762 million hurricane and tsunami losses (2.5 pts. impact on combined ratio)

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005




Life Insurance key performance indicators 7/

ZURICH
Business operating profit New business margin' (%)
in USD millions Total
NA Consumer
Continental Europe NA
Cons.
UKISA Cont.
Rest of World Europe
Total UKISA
Rest of
World
5 0 5 10" 50
2 2004
m 2003
' The after tax internal rate of return is approx. 11-12% (2003: 10-11%)
© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, Fabruary 17, 2005 "
Life Insurance performance highlights (7
ZURICH

* 15% growth in new business APE' (adjusted for f/x and divestments)
* Continental Europe
- Record sales growth in Germany
~ Strong performance in ltaly
e UKISA
- IFA channel 20% APE growth
- Openwork launched
- Agency numbers reduced to 2,200
- Market leading third party products
¢ NA Consumer (Farmers New World Life)
- Attractive new business margins

- Strong sales

' Annual Premiums Equivalent

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annust Results Reparting 2004, February 17, 2005 2




Farmers Management Services with record year

?

ZURICH

in USD millions

Management fees & other related revenue
Management & other expenses
Investment income

Net income

Business operating profit

Gross operating margin

© Zurich Financial Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

Shareholders’ equity

Z)

in USD millions
23'000
N EEIEYTR
22'000
21'000
20000
19000 -+
18'000 - T T T v v
Balance asof SOP 03-01 Restated  Netincome Translation Changein Neminal Impactof Balance as of
Dec 31,2003 implement. Balance as of adjustments netunreal. value initial Dec 31, 2004
Dec 33,2003 gains on reduction  application
investments' and other?  of legal
quote in
Switzerland

1 Excluding translation adjustments
2 Includes dividends on preferred securities, treasury stock & share-based payment transactions

© Zurich Finanda! Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005




Z)

ZURICH
The Way Forward
James J. Schiro
Chief Executive Officer
February 17, 2005
Having delivered the turnaround, we 7]
ZURICH

are now building the future

- Lay the =
foundation =™ | o Establish a clear direction
= Cr:laattef;t::le 7 - » Align organizational model
2 * Delivered for customers strategic priorities

and shareholders .
* Zurich Way:

Drive businesses by rigorous
focus on operational

* Improved core processes  excellence and by applying
¢ Performance culture common methodologies

* Focus on core ¢ Business model operating

¢ Improve financial and to underwriting profit
operational discipline
¢ Strengthen capital

* de-risk balance sheet « improved capital

* Implement operational management and
improvement program balance sheet

e Start cultural change
2002 - 2003 2003 - 2004

© Zurich Finandial Services - Annual Results Reparting 2004, February 17, 2005 16




The Zurich Way — one “best” way to achieve 7]
operational excellence in all core processes ZURICH

Seven initial work streams The Zurich Way framework

1. General Insurance claims

N

Large corporate and commercial K
underwriting £
Personal lines underwriting T L
Life (with 4 sub workstreams)

Tied agent distribution
N

Talent management &\o@ ‘

2 [
Financial discipline Ry

N oo v s ow

¢ CEOQ/GEC sponsorship
¢ Full time central team to support workstreams

© Zurich Finandia! Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 w

Financial benefits of improvement initiatives of @

the entire Zurich Financial Services Group ZURICH
100% = 100% = 100% =
UsD 1 billion USD 540 million USD 500 million

i

Life, AM & other

Growth/Distribution

Claims

Underwriting Process

Pricing

Operating Expenses

2003 2004 2005

0 Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Resuits Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005 L3




We have a well diversified

Z)

General Insurance book! ZURICH
North United Cont. Inter-
America Kingdom ntional Total

E'orporate 19%

ines
f_ommeraal 51%

ines
Personal
Lines 30%
Total 100%"

—_
44%

' Customers segments pro-forma reporting
2 Incl. Small Businesses
3 NA Consumer

¢ Based on 2004 GWP, adjusted for Group eliminations and Centrally Managed Businesses

© Zurich Finandal Services - Annual Results Reporting 2004, February 17, 2005

Z)

ZURICH

Q&A
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Statement of annual results 2004:
Excerpts from Annual Report 2004 of Zurich Financial Services Group

Consolidated operating statements of Zurich Financial Services Group
in USD millions, for the years ended December 31

2004
Revenues
Gross written premiums and policy fees 49,304
Less premiums ceded to reinsurers (7,625)
Net written premiums and policy fees 41,679
Net change in reserves for unearned premiums 125
Net earned premiums and policy fees 41,804
Management fees 2,030
Net investment income 9,114
Net capital gains on investments and impairments 4,934
Net gain on divestments of businesses 88
Other income 1,708
Total revenues 59,678
Benefits, losses and expenses :
Insurance benefits and losses, net of reinsurance 34,500
- Policyholder dividends and participation in profits, net of reinsurance 7,014
Underwriting and policy acquisition costs, net of reinsurance 7,243
Administrative expense 4,035
Other operating expense 1,281
Amortization of intangible assets 448
Interest expense on debt 362
Interest credited to policyholders and other interest 1,009
Total benefits, losses and expenses 55,892
Net income before income taxes and minority interests 3,786
Income tax expense (1,093)
Net income applicable to minority interests (106)
Net income 2,587
in USD
Basic earnings per share 18.01
Diluted earnings per share 17.88
in CHF
Basic earnings per share 22.34
Diluted earnings per share 22.18

2003

48,805
(8,646)
40,159
(562)
39,597
2,062
8,395
5,180
351
1,623
57,208

33,259
6,045
6,445
4,188
1,591
436
445
1,188

53,597

3,611
(1,496)
(108)
2,009

14.14
14.04

19.00
18.86

Further information is available on our Web site www.zurich.com. Please click on the "Annual Results Reporting 2004 —

Investor View" button.

Statement of annual results 2004:
Excerpts from Annual Report 2004 of Zurich Financial Services Group

Consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity of Zurich Financial Services Group
in USD millions, except number of shares, for the years ended December 31

Number of

common

shares issued

Balance as of December 31, 2002, as previously reported 144,006,955
Implementation of new accounting standard’ -
Balance as of December 31, 2002, restated 144,006,955

Change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on investments

(excluding translation adjustments) -
Translation adjustments -
Change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on investments not recognized

in the operating statement -

file://C:\Documents%20and%20Settings\chkrrus\Local%20Settings\Temp\C.Docume...

Preferred
securities
1,096

1,096

17.02.2005



Nominal value reduction of common stock
Share-based payment transactions
Treasury stock transactions

Net income

Dividends on preferred securities

144,006,955

Balance as of December 31, 2003
Balance as of December 31, 2003, as previously reported 144,006,955 1,096
Implementation of new accounting standard’ - -
Balance as of December 31, 2003, restated 144,006,955 1,096
Change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on investments
(excluding translation adjustments) - -
Transfer arising from initial application of “leqal quote” legislation in Switzerland? - -
Translation adjustments - -
Change in net unrealized gains/(losses) on investments not recognized
in the operating statement - -
Nominal value reduction of common stock® - -
Share-based payment transactions - -
Treasury stock transactions - -
Net income - -
Dividends on preferred securities - -
Balance as of December 31, 2004 144,006,955 1,096
Treasury Net
stock Additional unrealized Cumulative Total
Common (nominal paid-in gains/(losses) translation Retained  shareholders’
stock value) capital on investments adjustment earnings equity
1,028 (14) 10,031 1,080 (484) 4,038 16,775
- - - 2 - (310) (308)
1,028 (14) 10,031 1,082 (484) 3,728 16,467
- - - (312) - - (312)
- - - 92 636 - 728
- - - (220) 636 - 416
(105) - - - - - (105}
- - 33 - - - 33
- 8 144 - - - 152
- - - - - 2,009 2,009
- - - - - (38) (38)
923 (6) 10,208 862 152 5,699 18,934
923 (6) 10,208 862 181 6,120 19,384
- - - - (29) 421) (450)
923 (8) 10,208 862 152 5,699 18,934
- - - 386 - - 386
- - - (226) - - (226)
- - - 53 688 - 741
- - - 213 688 - 901
(288) - - - - - (288)
- - 19 - - - 19
- 5 61 - - - 66
- - - - - 2,587 2,587
- - - - - (38) (38)
635 (1) 10,288 1,075 840 8,248 22,181
1 Implementation of new accounting standard as discussed in the Annual Report 2004, and as published in the Half
Year Report 2004.

2 Transfer of net unrealized gains on investments to insurance reserves as “Policyholders’ contract deposits and other
funds” in connection with the initial application as of June 30, 2004 of the new “legal quote” legislation in Switzerland.
3 Effective as of June 30, 2004, the share capital was reduced by a nominal value reduction from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50

per each registered share. The payment to shareholders was made on July 1, 2004.

Further information is available on our Web site www.zurich.com. Please click on the "Annual Results Reporting 2004 —

file://C:\Documents%?20and%20Settings\chkrrus\Local%20Settings\Temp\C.Docume...
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Investor View" button.

Statement of annual results 2004:
Excerpts from Annual Report 2004 of Zurich Financial Services Group

Note on “Minority interests” to the consolidated financial statements of Zurich Financial Services Group

Table

Minority interests
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003
Preferred securities 407 390
Other 439 579
Total 846 969

Minority interests include third-party equity interests, preferred securities and similar instruments issued by consolidated
subsidiaries of the Group in connection with providing structured financial solutions to its customers.

In December 1999, Zurich Financial Services (Jersey) Limited, a subsidiary of Zurich Group Holding (formerly Zurich
Financial Services), issued 12,000,000 perpetual non-voting, non-cumulative Series A Preference Shares on the
Euromarket with a par value of EUR 25 (EUR 300,000,000). The securities benefit from a subordinated support
agreement of Zurich Group Holding and carry a fixed coupon of 7.125%, payable quarterly. The securities are, subject to
certain conditions, redeemable at the option of the issuer in whole, but not in part, from time to time on or after five years
from the issue date. Proceeds from the issue were used to refinance existing intercompany debt and for general corporate
purposes. With this issue, the Group was able to reinforce its capital base while raising equity-like but non-dilutive long-
term funds.

As of December 31, 2004, and December 31, 2003, minority interests in Zurich Capital Markets (“ZCM”) totaled USD nil
million and USD 212 million, respectively. These minority interests primarily represented third-party equity interests in
consolidated alternative investment vehicles arising from ZCM’s managed asset business.

Further information is available on our Web site www.zurich.com. Please click on the "Annual Resuits Reporting 2004 —
Investor View" button.

Statement of annual results 2004:
Excerpts from Annual Report 2004 of Zurich Financial Services Group

Note on “Shareholders’ equity” to the consolidated financial statements of Zurich Financial Services Group
Table
Common and treasury stock

number of shares, as of December 31 2004 2003
Authorized, contingent and issued common stock,

CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 par value, respectively 156,988,783 156,988,783
Issued common stock, CHF 6.50 and CHF 9 par value, respectively 144,006,955 144,006,955
Treasury stock 298,113 762,507

Table

Preferred securities
in USD millions, as of December 31 2004 2003
Preferred securities, USD 1,000 par value 1,125 1,125

(a) Issued stock

At the Annual General Meeting of April 16, 2004, shareholders approved a share capital reduction in the form of a capital
nominal value reduction of each registered share from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50. As a result of this reduction, the share capital
was reduced by CHF 360,017,387.50 from CHF 1,296,062,595 to a new total of CHF 936,045,207.50. In the previous
year, shareholders approved, at the Annual General Meeting of April 30, 2003, a share capital reduction in the form of a
capital nominal value reduction of each registered share from CHF 10 to CHF 9. As a result of that reduction, the share
capital was reduced by CHF 144,006,955 from CHF 1,440,069,550 to CHF 1,296,062,595.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, Zurich Financial Services had 144,006,955 shares of CHF 6.50 par value and CHF 9
par value, respectively, common stock issued and fully paid.

file://C:\Documents%20and%20Settings\chkrrus\Local%20Settings\Temp\C.Docume... 17.02.2005



(b) Authorized stock

Until June 1, 2005, the Board of Zurich Financial Services is authorized to increase its share capital by an amount not
exceeding CHF 39,000,000 by issuing up to 6,000,000 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each.
An increase in partial amounts is permitted. The Board determines the date of issue of such new shares, the issue price,
type of payment, conditions for exercising pre-emptive rights, and the beginning of the dividend entitiement. The Board
may issue such new shares by means of a firm underwriting by a banking institution or syndicate with subsequent offer of
those shares to the current shareholders. The Board may allow the expiry of pre-emptive rights which have not been
exercised, or it may place these rights as well as shares, the pre-emptive rights of which have not been exercised, at
market conditions.

The Board is further authorized to restrict or withdraw the pre-emptive rights of shareholders and to allocate them to third-
parties if the shares are to be used: for the take-over of an enterprise, or parts of an enterprise or of participations or if
issuing shares for the financing including re-financing of such transactions; or for the purpose of expanding the scope of
shareholders in connection with the quotation of shares on foreign stock exchanges.

(c) Contingent stock

Capital market instruments and option rights to shareholders: The share capital of Zurich Financial Services may be
increased by an amount not exceeding CHF 35,631,882 by issuing up to 5,481,828 fully paid registered shares with a
nominal value of CHF 6.50 each through (1) the exercise of conversion and/or option rights which are granted in
connection with the issuance of bonds or similar debt instruments by Zurich Financial Services or one of its Group
companies in national or international capital markets and/or (2) by the exercise of option rights which are granted to the
shareholders. When issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with conversion and/or option rights, the pre-
emptive rights of the shareholders wiil be excluded. The current owners of conversion and/or option rights shall be entitled
to subscribe for the new shares. The conversion and/or option conditions are to be determined by the Board.

The Board of Directors is authorized, when issuing bonds or similar debt instruments connected with conversion and/or
option rights, to restrict or withdraw the right of shareholders for advance subscription in cases where such bonds are
issued for the financing or re-financing of a takeover of an enterprise, of parts of an enterprise, or of participations. If the
right for advance subscription is withdrawn by the Board, the convertible bond or warrant issues are to be offered at
market conditions (including standard dilution protection provisions in accordance with market practice) and the new
shares are issued at then current convertible bond or warrant issue conditions. The conversion rights may be exercisable
during a maximum of 10 years and option rights for a maximum of 7 years from the time of the respective issue. The
conversion or option price or its calculation methodology shall be determined in accordance with market conditions,
whereby for shares of Zurich Financial Services the quoted share price is to be used as a basis.

Employee participation: The share capital may be increased by an amount not exceeding CHF 9,750,000 by issuing up to
1,500,000 fully paid registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 6.50 each to employees of Zurich Financial Services
and Group companies. The pre-emptive rights of the shareholders, as well as the right for advance subscription, are
excluded. The issuance of shares or respective option rights to employees shall be subject to one or more regulations to
be issued by the Board of Directors and taking into account performance, functions, levels of responsibility and criteria of
profitability. Shares or option rights may be issued to the employees at a price lower than that quoted on the stock
exchange.

(d) Preferred securities

in February 2001, the Group placed six series of Trust Capital Securities (Zurich RegCaPS) in the total amount of USD
1,125 million (USD 1,096 million net of issuance costs) with a limited number of qualified institutional and corporate US
investors. The securities, which were issued under Rule 144A in the United States, are perpetual, non-cumulative and
have a par value of USD 1,000 each. They have no voting rights, except for certain specified circumstances and are linked
to Farmers Group, Inc. Class C shares. The Group has the option to call the securities after five, seven or ten years,
depending on the series. Two series have a fixed rate coupon (6.01% and 6.58%) and four have a floating rate coupon
(between Libor +46 bps and +71 bps). These coupon rates step up after the first call dates.

(e) Additional paid-in capital (capital reserve)
This reserve is not ordinarily available for distribution.

(f) Dividends
Dividends for Zurich Financial Services shares are declared in CHF.

(g9) Dividend restrictions and capital and solvency requirements

Zurich Financial Services is not subject to legal restrictions on the amount of dividends it may pay to its shareholders other
than under the Swiss Code of Obligations. The Swiss Code of Obligations provides that 5% of the annual profit must be
allocated to the general legal reserve until such reserve in the aggregate has reached 20% of the paid-in share capital. As
of December 31, 2004, the amount of the general legal reserve exceeded 20% of the paid-in share capital of Zurich
Financial Services. Similarly, the company laws of many countries in which Zurich Financial Services’ subsidiaries operate
may restrict the amount of dividends payable by such subsidiaries to their parent companies.
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Other than by operation of the restrictions mentioned above, the ability of Zurich Financial Services’ subsidiaries to pay
dividends may be restricted or, while dividend payments per se may be legally permitted, may be indirectly influenced by
minimum capital and solvency requirements that are imposed by insurance, bank and other regulators in the countries in
which the subsidiaries operate as well as by other limitations existing in certain of these countries (e.g. foreign exchange
control restrictions).

In the United States, restrictions on payment of dividends may be imposed by the insurance laws or regulations of an
insurer’s state of domicile. For general insurance subsidiaries, dividends are generally limited over a twelve month period
to 10% of the previous year's policyholders’ surplus or previous year's net income. For life, accident and health insurance
subsidiaries, dividends are generally limited over a twelve month period to 10% of the previous year's policyholders’
surplus or the previous year's net gain from operations. Dividends paid in excess of statutory limitations require prior
approval of the Insurance Commissioner of the insurer's state of domicile.

Insurance enterprises in European Union member countries are required to maintain minimum solvency margins. The
required minimum solvency margin for general insurers is the greater of 16% of premiums written for the year or 23% of a
three-year average of claims, subject to the first tranche (EUR 50 million) of premiums being at 18% and the first tranche
(EUR 35 million) of claims at 26%. Life insurance companies are required to maintain a minimum solvency margin of
generally 4% of insurance reserves (up to 1% of “insurance reserves for life insurance where the investment risk is carried
by policyholders”) plus 0.3% of the amount at risk under insurance policies. The same minimum capital requirements are
applicable for insurance enterprises operating in Switzerland. In addition, in certain European countries further
requirements may apply.

Zurich Financial Services is further subject to certain sclvency and its own fund requirements based on a Decree on the
Consolidated Supervision of the Zurich Financial Services Group issued by the Swiss Federal Office of Private Insurance
on April 23, 2001.

As of December 31, 2004, the subsidiaries were substantially in compliance with applicable regulatory capital adequacy
requirements.

(h) Earnings per share

Table Net income Number of  Pershare  Pershare
Earnings per share (in USD millions) shares (USD) (CHF'
2004

Basic earnings per share 2,587 143,577,437 18.01 22.34
Effect of potentially dilutive shares related to share- - 1,067,047 (0.13) (0.16)
based compensation plans

Diluted earnings per share 2,587 144,644 484 17.88 22.18
2003 '

Basic earnings per share 2,009 142,064,985 14.14 19.00
Effect of potentially dilutive shares related to share- - 1,025,296 (0.10) (0.14)
based compensation plans

Diluted earnings per share 2,009 143,090,281 14.04 18.86

1 The translation from USD into CHF has been done for information purposes only at the Group’s average exchange
rates for the years ended December.31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

" Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period, excluding the weighted average number of shares held as treasury shares. Diluted earnings
per share reflects the effect of potentially dilutive shares.

Further information is available on our Web site www.zurich.com. Please click on the "Annual Results Reporting 2004 —
Investor View" button.

Proposed/approved appropriation of available earnings of Zurich Financial Services Holding Company

No dividend is proposed to be paid out for 2004. For 2003, no dividend was paid either. Instead for 2003, the Board of
Directors proposed to repay CHF 2.50 of the nominal value of each registered share, as a result of a reduction of the
nominal value from CHF 9 to CHF 6.50 per registered share. This proposal was approved by the ordinary General
Meeting of shareholders on April 16, 2004.

Proposed payout of nominal value reduction
The Board of Directors proposes to repay CHF 4.00 of the nominal value of each registered share, as a result of a
reduction of the nominal value from CHF 6.50 to CHF 2.50 per registered share. The proposed payout would reduce the
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share capital by CHF 576,027,820. The proposed payout of the nominal value reduction of CHF 4.00 per each registered
share is expected at the beginning of July, 2005, subject to approval by the ordinary General Meeting of shareholders and
subject to the fulfiiment of the necessary requirements and the entry of the share capital reduction in the Commercial
Register of the Canton of Zurich.

Further information is available on our Web site www.zurich.com. Please click on the "Annual Results Reporting 2004 —
Investor View" button.
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Media Release

Zurich Financial Services
Media and Public Relations
Mythenquai 2

P.O. Box

8022 Zurich

Switzerland

Phone +41 (0)1 625 21 00
Fax +41 (0)1 625 26 41
media@zurich.com

http /Anvww. zurich.com
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REOEIT e FINANCIAL SERVICES

Zurich Financial Services reports strong 2004 results with an
increase in net income of 29% to USD 2.6 billion and signifi-

cant strengthening of the balance sheet

® Net income of USD 2,587 million, generating a return on equity
(ROE) of 13.3%

¢ Business operating profit (BOP) of USD 3,143 million, up 36%
from 2003. BOP ROE after tax increased from 9.8% to 11.5%

® Gross written premiums in General Insurance of USD 37.6 billion;
combined ratio at 101.6% including hurricane and tsunami impact
of 2.5 percentage points

¢ Gross written premiums and policy fees in Life Insurance of
USD 11.0 billion; new business profit margin improved by 2.4
percentage points to 11.4%

® Net income at Farmers Management Services of USD 686 million,

up 14% from 2003

¢ Net insurance loss reserves of USD 43.5 billion, an increase of USD

6.5 billion of which USD 2.0 billion was prior year strengthening

® Total shareholders’ equity of USD 22.2 billion compared with USD
18.9 billion at December 31, 2003

¢ Proposed payout of CHF 4.00 per share in form of a reduction of
the nominal value. Earnings per share (diluted) of CHF 22.18

James J. Schiro, Chief Executive Officer of Zurich Financial Services, on the

2004 results:

“We are pleased to report a 29% increase in net income to USD 2.6 billion
reflecting our well diversified portfolio and the strong underlying profitabi-
lity of our businesses. Current operations in General Insurance were strong
in all regions, with excellent underwriting results in particular in
Continental Europe, the United Kingdom and our International

Businesses.”
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“l am particularly pleased with the ongoing improvements of our Life insu-
rance operations. Our businesses in the United Kingdom and Switzerland
continued their recovery and, based on our strong distribution platform,

Germany recorded one of the best years ever.”

“At the same time we continued to strengthen our balance sheet by adding to

our reserves and growing our equity base.”

Operations and Results Review

Zurich, February 17, 2005 — Zurich Financial Services Group (Zurich)
reported a strong increase of 29% in 2004 net income and a significant
strengthening of the balance sheet on the basis of the Group’s well diversi-
fied General and Life insurance portfolio in North America, Europe and in

our International Businesses.

The Group’s strong overall result reflects further progress in the profitability
of the Life business, record earnings contribution from Farmers
Management Services, and the excellent investment result with a return of
5.9% achieved on the Group’s investment portfolio. In General Insurance,
the Group benefited from its diversified portfolio with a strong presence on
both sides of the Atlantic. Excellent underwriting results in Continental
Europe, the United Kingdom and our International Businesses mitigated the
impact that extraordinary catastrophes and our decisive action to address the
legacy that poor underwriting in the years 1997 to 2001 had left on our

commercial business in North America.

The Group continued to strengthen its capital base and reserve position.
Shareholders’ equity grew by 17% to USD 22.2 billion. We further reduced
our exposure to common stock for which the Group bears equity

investment risk from 6.4% to 4.9%. Total financial capital in support of
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our operations increased by 18% to USD 28.1 billion. Total net insurance
loss reserves are now USD 43.5 billion, an increase of USD 6.5 billion, of
which USD 2.0 billion was for prior year strengthening based on more
conservative assumptions. Reserve strengthening of USD 2.6 billion in
North America Corporate was mitigated by reserve releases in other regions
without departing from our overall conservative stance. These actions

contributed to a significant strengthening of the Group’s balance sheet.

The year 2004 marked the end of an unprecedented two-year period charac-
terized by the absence of large catastrophes. In August and September, four
hurricanes struck the US and the Caribbean leading to record insurance
losses of more than USD 22 billion. Just before the end of the year, a
powerful tsunami destroyed vast coastal areas from Indonesia to East Africa,
leaving a tragic toll of death and destruction. In the wake of these

unparalleled events, Zurich recognized claims net of reinsurance and taxes

of USD 585 million.

Last year, the insurance industry, including Zurich, came under heightened
scrutiny by public authorities and regulators concentrating primarily on
certain business practices involving insurance carriers and brokers, the use of
non-traditional products and reinsurance. We proactively performed our
internal reviews and have taken remedial actions where necessary. In parti-
cular, we completed our response to the information requests relating to
certain business practices involving insurance brokers and insurance carriers.
In addition, we finalized our internal review of reinsurance arrangements
that the Group placed externally, where such risks were partially or fully
retroceded to the Group, and have taken the appropriate accounting actions.
The Group has also reported these transactions to appropriate regulatory
bodies and is cooperating with all regulatory inquiries. We continue to

strengthen our processes and are committed to comply with laws, regulations
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and ethical standards as embodied in Zurich Basies, our internal guideline

defining the principles and values of our Group.

Our business operating return after tax was 11.5%, up 1.7 percentage points
from 2003. Our goal is to deliver an operating return of 12% in the medium
term and our action plan is clear. We must remain focused on the funda-
mentals of our business, ensuring that operational improvements are en-
grained in our culture and replicated across different units around the world.
We are committed to perform in the industry’s top tier based on our compe-
titive advantage as a major provider of general and life insurance services
with a well-diversified mix of businesses with respect to lines of business and

geographies.

To support the achievement of our sustainable profitability and growth
targets, Zurich has designed and is now implementing processes that will
help to achieve world-class best practices. Regardless of market conditions we
must perform to operational excellence in all our core activities. That is why
we are strengthening controls and governance to include all areas in our
worldwide operations. The range of actions and initiatives that we have
designed and are now implementing in order to achieve best practice

execution is called The Zurich Way of doing business.

These initiatives are designed to generate improvements in 2005 and
subsequent years with the anticipated benefit in the first year amounting to
USD 500 million after tax. They cover all core processes in both Life and
General Insurance, in particular underwriting, claims management, sales,
distribution, and finance. A major aspect of these initiatives is the
development of standard, best practice Group methodologies for these core
processes which will lead to greater efficiency and consistency by defining

The Zurich Way of doing business. Pilots are running in all functions across
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the business divisions and we will begin rolling out concrete projects in early
2005. They will be implemented and monitored with the same operational
discipline used to drive our profit improvement programs over the past two
years, which generated more than USD 1 billion in 2003 and another USD
540 million in 2004. Our goal is to maintain a strong balance sheet with the
objective to deliver sustainable operating income and maximize long-run

shareholder returns.

General Insurance. The segment recorded gross written premiums and policy
fees of USD 37.6 billion, an increase of 4%, while net earned premiums
grew by 11%. Taking into account the effects of divestments and exchange
rate movements, gross written premiums remained at the level of 2003. This
reflects small rate increases in key regions moderated by some volume
reduction in certain lines as we completed our underwriting renewal
programs. The combined ratio rose from 97.9% to 101.6%. It was
impacted by catastrophes and reserve strengthening, which added 2.5 and
6.9 percentage points respectively. Our current operating performance was
strong in all regions. The United Kingdom, Ireland and Southern Africa
(UKISA) region as well as Continental Europe reported sizeable
improvements in their combined ratios of 9.7 points and 4.3 points
respectively, with strong improvements in business operating profits and net
income. In light of large losses due to the hurricanes in the US and prior
year reserve strengthening by North America Corporate, the segment’s net
income declined from USD 1,779 million to USD 1,427 million, while
business operating profit decreased by 36% to USD 1,380 million.

Life Insurance. In 2004, we made rapid progress in the continued efforts to
strengthen our life business. Business operating profic rose by 24% to USD
1,063 million. Net income was USD 873 million, which, adjusted for net

gains on divestments, corresponds to an increase of 17%. The continuing
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efforts to improve performance are also mirrored in the 2.4 percentage point
increase in the new business profit margin to 11.4%. Zurich is also making
progress with the new model for the distribution of life insurance products
in the UK, separating distribution from manufacturing. Gross written
premiums and policy fees decreased by 6% to USD 11.0 billion, but they
grew by 3% after adjusting for the sale of certain life operations, the redesign
of the group pension business model in Switzerland and the effects of

exchange rate movements.

Farmers Management Services. Farmers generated record profits for the
Group. Net income grew by 14% to USD 686 million. Management fees
and other related revenue increased by 5% to USD 2.0 billion. The
premium volume of the Farmers Exchanges, which Zurich manages but does
not own, grew by 3% to USD 14.2 billion and the Farmers Exchanges
increased their surplus by USD 462 million.

Group Investments. Group investments increased from USD 176.0 billion at
December 31, 2003, to 191.1 billion, driven by the positive operating cash
flow, higher market valuations and the impact of foreign currency
translation. Net Group investment income was USD 7.4 billion. Including
net capital gains, the net investment result was USD 8.4 billion. The
Group’s investment return for 2004 improved by 1 percentage point to
5.9% on average investments of USD 183.5 billion. The share of common

stock, for which the Group bears equity investment risk, was further reduced

t0 4.9% from 6.4% at the end of 2003.

Shareholders’ equity. Zurich continued to improve its capital position.
Shareholders’ equity increased from USD 18.9 billion to USD 22.2 billion.
The improvement reflects strong net income and translation adjustments of

USD 741 million. This was offset primarily by a transfer of USD 226
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million arising from the initial application of the “legal quote” legislation in
Switzerland and the USD 288 million payout to shareholders in the form of

a nominal value reduction of common stock.

The Board of Directors will propose to the shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting, to be held on April 19, 2005, a payment of CHF 4.00 per
registered share in form of a reduction of the nominal value from CHF 6.50

to CHF 2.50 per share.

In the last two years, Zurich has laid a solid foundation for continued
profitable growth. Financial and operational discipline has been instilled
throughout the organization, and we are operating from a position of
improved financial strength. We are confident that Zurich is well prepared

for the future.

Note to editors:
There will be a media conference at 10 a.m. CET art the Zurich

Development Center, Keltenstrasse 48, Zurich.

The presentation to analysts and investors will be webcast on our website
www.zurich.com live from 1 p.m. CET followed by a webcast playback

available after 5 p.m. CET.

Presentations for analysts and media, as well as supplemental information
including information on the Business Divisions, will be available on our
website www.zurich.com. Please click on the “Annual Results Reporting

2004 - Media View” button on the bottom right corner of our homepage.
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Zurich Financial Services is an insurance-based financial services provider with a
global network that focuses its activities on its key markets in North America and
Europe. Founded in 1872, Zurich is headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland. Zurich

has offices in more than 50 countries and employs about 57,000 people.

For further information please contact:

Zurich Financial Services, Media and Public Relations

8022 Zurich, Switzerland

Phone +41 (0)1 625 21 00, Fax +41 (0)1 625 26 41, www.zurich.com
SWX Swiss Exchange/virt-x: ZURN
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The following table presents the summarized consolidared results of the Group for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003 and the financial positions as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. The 2003 amounts have been
restated following the adoption of a new accounting standard in 2004. Certain prior year balances have also been

reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Consolidated operating statements

in USD millions, for the years ended December 31 2004 2003 Change
Gross written premiums and policy fees 49,304 48,805 1%
Business operating profit 3,143 2,316 36%
Net income 2,587 2,009 29%
Consolidated balance sheets

in USD millions, as of December 31

Total Group investments 191,100 175,967 9%
Insurance reserves, gross 246,162 223,418 10%
Total shareholders’ equity 22,181 18,934 17%
General Insurance key performance indicators

for the years ended December 31

Business operating profit (in USD millions) 1,380 2,146 -36%
Combined ratio 101.6% 97.9% -3.7 pts
Life Insurance key performance indicators

for the years ended December 31

Business operating profit (in USD millions) 1,063 856 24%
New business profit margin (as % of APE) 11.4% 9.0% 24 pts
Embedded value operating return, after tax 10.8% 10.5% 03 pts
Return on common stockholders’ equity

for the years ended December 31

Return on equity 13.3% 12.1% 1.2 pts
Business operating profit (after tax) return on equity 11.5% 9.8% 1.7 pts
Per share data

for the years ended December 31

Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) 22.18 18.86 18%
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Disclaimer and cautionary statement

Certain statements in this document are forward-looking statements, including, but not
limited to, statements that are predications of or indicate future events, trends, plans or
objectives. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our targeted profit
improvement, return on equity targets, expense reductions, pricing conditions, dividend
policy and underwriting claims improvements. Undue reliance should not be placed on such
statements because, by their nature, they are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties and can be affected by other factors that could cause actual results and Zurich
Financial Services’ plans and objectives to differ materially from those expressed or implied
in the forward looking statements (or from past results). Factors such as (i) general
economic conditions and competitive factors, particularly in our key markets; (ii)
performance of financial markets; (iii) levels of interest rates and currency exchange rates;
(iv) frequency, severity and development of insured claims events; (v) mortality and
morbidity experience; (vi) policy renewal and lapse rates; and (vii) changes in laws and
regulations and in the policies of regulators may have a direct bearing on Zurich Financial
Services’ results of operations and on whether Zurich Financial Services will achieve its
targets. Zurich Financial Services undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any
of these forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new information, future events or
circumstances or otherwise.

This communication is directed only at persons who (i) have professional experience in
matters relating to investments or (ii) are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (high
net worth companies, unincorporated associations, etc) of The Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2001 (as amended) or to whom it may
otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as relevant
persons). This communication must not be acted on or relied on by persons who are not
relevant persons. Any investment or investment activity to which this communication
relates is available only to relevant persons and will be engaged in only with relevant persons.

It should be noted that past performance is not a guide to future performance. Persons
requiring advice should consult an independent adviser.
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Group Financial Review

Performance
highlights

Gross written
premiums

Business
operating profit

Grdup Highllghts ‘

Zurich Financial Services Group (the Group) recorded net income of USD 2,587 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, an increase of 29% compared with USD'2,009 million in'2003. Business operating profit
improved by 36% over 2003 to USD 3,143 million for 2004. This result was built on the strong underlying
performance of our core businesses and the stabilized development of our Centre opérations.

General Insurance showed significant improvements in both business operating profit and net income across

all key regions except for North America Corporate, which strengthened reserves for development in business
written during the soft market years of 1997 through 2001. In addition, General Insurance, which had enjoyed a
two year period of benign catastrophe experience, was impacted by the four hurricanes in the US and the
Caribbean and the tragic tsunami in Asia. Life Insurance continued its turnaround with an improved underlying
performance, primarily in Europe, after consideration of divested businesses. This improvement is demonstrated

in the increase of the new business profit margin to 11.4%: Farmers Management Services increased substantially
its contribution to businéss operating profit and net income, Other Businesses also contributed strong results
based.on-the management actions taken in 2003. The results across all segments were supported by the
improved investment return and lower effective tax rate. ;

Diluted earnings per share rose. 18% to CHF 22.18 compared with CHF 18 86 in 2003. For 2004, the return on
equity based on net income was 13.3%, an increase of 1.2 percentage points over 2003. Our after-tax business
operating profit return on equity was 11.5%, an increase of 1.7 percentage points compared with the
2003 year return. :

Change
1%
9% =
(5%)
36%

3 T29%
T 979% (379N
9.0%  24pts
“121%
S98% 1. :
1886 . 18% .

ed.earnings. per.share nCHF)?g’ ]

Results for 2003 in this Group Financial Review are restated for the mplementatuon of a new accounting
standard. Business operating profit figires for 2003 Have been restated to conform with the current year
presentation. Details are set outin the sectrons "Ba5|s of Current and Future Presentation and Comparability” and
"Investment Performance”.

Performance Overview -

Gross written premiums of USD.49.3 billion in 2004 showed an increase of 1% while in local currency there
was a decrease of 4% In"General Insurance, premiums.remained level after adjusting for the effects of exchange
rate movements and the effects of the sale of certain géneral insurance businesses. Premiums in Life Insurance
increased by 3% after eliminating the effects of the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland,
the sale of certain life operations“and the effects of exchange rate movements.

Business operating profit increased by USD 827 million, or 36%, over 2003 to USD- 3,143 million in 2004
driven by the improved performance in Life Insurance and Other Businesses and the continued consistent profit
contribution by Farmers Mahagement Services, partially offset-by a fower result in General Insurance. The total
expected claims costs, net of reinsurance and before tax, arising from the four hurricanes and the tsunami were
USD 700 million and USD 90 million, respectively.

* General insurance business operating profit decreased by USD 766 mnlnon 10 USD 1.4 billion, as a result of
the USD 2.1 billion net strengthening of reserves related to prior accident years. In acdition, General insurance
incurred losses of USD 680 million related to the hurricanes and USD 82 million related to the December
tsunami. These factors have been partially compensated by improved underwriting results in the current year.

+ Life Insurance increased business operating profit by USD 207-million to USD 1.1 biflion. This improved
performance reflects the successful latiniching of profitable new products as well as reduced operating
expenses, particularly in Europe. We are progressively changing the business model to position this
segment in order to sustain future profitable growth.

Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Group Financial Review
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Net income

Balance sheet
highlights

Farmers Management Servuces mcreased busmess operatmg prof:t by USD 107 mxllxon to USD ‘I 1 bllhon
This continued improvement is driven by the increase in management fee income, which in turn is based on
higher premiums in the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage but do not own. Farmers Management Services
has also continued its focus on expense.controls.

Other Businesses recorded business.operating profit of USD 137 million, an improvement of USD 1.1 billion
from the business operating loss in 2003. Centre significantly improved its results following the restructuring
actions taken in the prior year and the successful commutations in the current year. The wind-down of Zurich
Capital Markets continued in 2004 and also contributed to the improved result in this segment.

Corporate Center, which supports.the Group through funding and governance oversight, reduced its

net costs improving business operating’profit by USD 184 million, based on stable gross headquarter expenses,
as well as an improved recovery for services rendered to other segments,

Net investment income on Group investments was USD 7.4 billion, which contributes to the business
operating profit for each segment. This net investment income excludes income earned for unit-linked products
of USD 1.7 billion which is managed on behalf of the pohcyholders of these-products.

» The after-tax business.operating proflt return on-equity- |mproved by 1.7 percentage points to 11.5% in
2004, compared with 9.8% in-2003: .

Net income improvéd by usD578 m«lhon or 29% to Ush 2, 587 m«lhon in 2004 compared with net income of

USD 2,009 million in.2003. In addition.to:the factors mentioned above, netincome was affected by the following:

* Net capital gains on investments:and |mpa|rments of Group‘investments increased by USD 137 million
to USD 948 million. This moverent was primarily due to fowsr impairments as compared with the prior year.

¢ The underlying investment returnwon our Group investments.in 2004 was 5.9% compared with 4.9% in
2003; the investment result is analyzed in the “Investment Performance” section. .

* The Group lowered its éffective.income tax rate by 12.5 percentage points to 28.9%. This improvement is
primarily due to the avondance of large losses in Iow tax jurisdictions as incurred in the prior year.

Our return on equity |mproved by 12 percentage pomts to 13 3%-for 2004 compared with the 2003 return
of 12.1%.

Diluted earnings per share, reflectlng the i ncrease in net income, 1mproved by 18% to CHF 22.18 in 2004
compared with CHF18.86 in 2003. -

200427 2003 Change -

191100 . 175.967 . 9% .
60,059 49780 .. 21%

51159 225747  -11%
‘,”"172 230 - 7%
51, 188"”” . 19%.
e 10% "

'\;1“8% :

* Group investments increased by USD 15.1 billion due to a positive operating cash flow, higher market
valuations and the effects of foreign currency translation, partially offset by the divestment of certain
operations in 2004, the redesign of the group pension business model in Switzerland and the restructuring
of Zurich Capital Markets.

* Gross insurance reserves increased by USD 12.8 bilhon or 7%, in 2004. General insurance reserves increased

by USD 3.3 biilion to USD 69.3 biflion following growth in gross written premiums, net reserve strengthening

and exchange rate movement partially offset by the sale of General insurance businesses during 2004. Gross

Life Insurance reserves, excluding reserves for unit-linked products increased by USD 6.2 billion to USD 103

billion after the effects of the redesign of the group pension business model'in Switzerland as well as

divestments of life businesses during 2004. Other Businesses reserves were reduced by USD 3.6 billion.

Total financial debt and shareholdérs’ equity increased by USD 4:3 billion to USD 28.1 billion. USD 3.2

billion arose from the increase inshareholders’ equity mainly as a result of our profit in the year and favorable

currency translation effects. A further USD 1.1 billion was attributable to the issuance of a 10-year senior debt
of euro 1 billion (USD 1.3 billion at December31, 2004) partially offset by the repayment of a zero coupon

bond of CHF 539 million (USD 427 million) on its maturity.

The increase in both investments and reserves for unit-linked products retlects exchange rate and markets

movements and continued sales of these products.

Zurich Financial Services Group - Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Group Financial Review
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Reinsurance

The Group completed a review of various reinsurance a’rrangeme‘nts whereby certain risks were ceded by local
business units of the Group to third-party reinsurers who in turn partly or fully retroceded such risks to other
business units of the Group. The scope of the review was to determine the impact, if any, for financial or regulatory
reporting. The review included in-force arrarigements-as wel as arrangements that had existed previously

but had been commuted or otherwise terminated. As a result of this review, the Group determined, with the
concurrence of its'external auditors, that it was not necessary to restate the comparative financial statements,

The Group nevertheless detérmined that certain changes should be made to the manner in which such
transactions were accounted for as a result of the way these arrangements developed over time. Accordingly, the
Group recorded a charge before tax of approximately USD 140 million in 2004 in order to align the accounting
treatment of the transactions with Grouip accounting policy.

If these transactions were accounted for on the basis now viewed as-appropriate in the years the transactions
were initially recorded, the’ Group estimates that its consolidated net income before income taxes and
minority interests would have been approximately USD 165 million greater'in 2003. Due to reductions in net
operating results that would Have been incurred in prior years, the Group estimates that the related impact
on its consolidated shareholders* equity- at December.31,2003 ‘would have:been a reduction of approximately
UsD 190 million, and a reduction of approximately USD 330 million at December 31, 2002. These estimates
are based on assumptions and judgments-that the Group beheves are reasonable.

The Group has reported these transactions to appropriate regulatory-bodies and is cooperating with all
regulatory inquiries. In addition, the Group-has strengthiened processes in-Grder to address the accounting for
and reporting of reinsurance arran‘gements appropriately on an ongoing basis.

Measuring Busmess Performance

We manage our busmess units-on therr underlymg performance usrng the measure of business operating profit.
Business operating profrt eliminates the impact of financial market volatility and other non-operational variables
enabling us to assess the-underlying i insurance performance of each business:

Business operating profit reflects adjustments for taxes, het capital gains’ én investments and impairments (except
for the capital markets and'banking operations included in Other Bisinesses), policyholders’ share of investment
results for the life business, non-operational foreign exchange movements, and significant items arising from
special circumstances including gains and losses on divestments of businesses. Non-operational foreign exchange
movements arise from intercompany foreign currency-hedging and the corporate financing of subsidiaries which
are not a reflection of local operating activities and are, therefore, not included in the calculation of business
operating profit. Business operating profit-is.-not.a substitute-for net |ncome as-determined in accordance with
International Financial Reportrng Standards (iFRS) .

2003

12,009 .

(4 771) (4 975)
4,493 . 4,254
813 "+ 1375
(88) . (351)
55 5

7 R

2316

The Group has initiated several.restructuring programs.in 2004.The most srgmfrcant of these relates to the
transformation of the United Kingdom Jife operations, where management have decided to implement a new
business model. This model has been desigred to enable the UK Irfe business to secure sustainable performance
in line with Group hurdle rates.

Zurich Financial Services Group - Annual Results Reporting 2004 * Group Financial Review
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The table below mdlcates the utllxzatson of and other changes in the restructurmg prowsuons between January 1
and December 31, 2004 g

2004

144
(95)

55

113

Embedded value In-addition to busmess operatmg profit, we use embedded value.to measure and manage our Life Insurance
‘ opeérations on a stand-alone basis. Embedded vale is discussed in more detail in the Life Insurance section of
the Segmental Financial Analysis.

Key Performance Indicators

Return on equity Our stated goal in the medium term is to achieve a blended return on equity of 12% on an after-tax business
operating profit basis. A higher return on equity in one segment can compensate for lower returns in others
allowing the Group to meet the stated 12% overall target rate. Returns on equity generated by General
Insurance, Life'Insurance and Farmers Management Services also compensate for certain headquarters expenses,
debt expenses and any net operating losses from other operations.

Our-return on equity based.on net income for 2004 -was 13.3%;.an.increase of 1.2 percentage points over 2003,
Our business opérating profit after:taxreturn-on equity was 11.5%;, an increase of 1.7 percentage points over
2003.This return, while improving, is below our medium term target of 12% due to the impact of the
catastrophes and reserve strengthenmg dlscussed above:

General Insurance We consider the combined ratio and busmess operatmg proflt to be the key performance indicators for our
General Insurance operations.

General lnsurance

2004 @ 2003

<“Contingntal UKiSA Rest.of
turepe -, . ) heWord -

Overall, the combined ratio increased by 3.7 percentage points to 101.6% for 2004 reflecting net underwriting
losses of USD 469 million for 2004 compared with a profit of USD 578 million in 2003. The combined ratio

was impacted by the claims relating to.the hurricanes of USD 680 million and to the tsunami of USD 82 million
as well as from the strengthening of reserves relating to prior years of USD 2.1 billion. The net underwriting result
of our North: America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and Rest of World regions, together posted

an increase of USD 1.1 billion to USD 1:5.billion.:North America Corporate recorded a net underwriting loss

of USD 1.8 billion, a decrease of USD 1 9 billion.

Business operating profit was af'fected by these same factors and decreased by USD 766 million to
USD 1.4 billion in 2004 North- America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and Rest of the World regions
almost doubled business operating profit from USD 1.3 billion in 2003 to USD 2.5 billion in 2004.

4 Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Results Reporting 2004 - Group Financial Review



Life Insurance We con5|der new busmess proﬁt margm embedded value after-tax operatmg return and busmess operatmg
profit to be the key performance indicators for our Life Insurance operations.

i

‘WM2004  B2003

Restof
the world

e

New business proflt |ncreased by USD 81 mllllon from 192 mllnon o USD 273 million which is reflected in the
improvement of the new busmess profit marginby 2.4 percentage points from 9.0% to 11.4% in 2004.

Operating return on embedded value after tax and before currency effects was 10.8% for 2004,
0.3 percentage point above last yeat. The embedded value operating profit after tax was USD 1.4 billion for the
year ended December 31,2004 compared with USD $28 million in 2003, an improvement of 56%.

Business operafing profit for Life Ing&rance increased by 24% to USD 1.1 billion in 2004 with improvements
in our Continental Europe, UKISA and Rést of the World partially offset by a small reduction in North America
Consumer related to the divestment of life businesses'in 2003.

Foreign Currency Impact

The Group operates worldwide in multiple currencies. The Group segks'to match its foreign exchange exposures
on an economic basis, however, because the Group has choseri the"United States doliar as its reporting currency,
differences arise when'local operating currencies are translated into. the Group's reporting currency. The general
decline of the US dollar as compared to the Swiss.franc, the euro and British pound in 2004 had a positive impact
on shareholders’ equity of approximately’USD 741 million. Net incérme in 2004 benefited from these translation
effects by approximately USD 176 million.

The tables below show the key financial-highlights for the year ended December 31, 2004 translated at the same
average exchange rates as applied for the year ended December 31, 2003 to eliminate the foreign currency
impact when compared to the prior penod The principal exchange rates are set out in-note 2 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

General Insurance

55¢! ange Jdn % change
ocal currency inUsSD

%) 4%
7% 13%
13% L 18% ¢

o

£
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Zurich Financial Services Group

Life Insurance s
% change in % change
local currency in USD

~(13%) (4%)
(12%) (3%)
(A3%)  (6%)

(5%) 5%
{17%) (9%)

Premium Volume and Management Fees &
Group Overall gross written premiums and policy fees rose 1% over 2003 (-4% in local currency) reaching

USD 49.3 billion. After taking into account the special factors explained below, premiums have remained flat
on a comparable basis.

Net earned premiuis and policy fees increased 6% {(unchanged in local currency) over 2003, to
USD 41.8 billion. After adjusting for the factors explained below, net earned premiums grew by 4%.

General insurance General Insurance experienced .growth in gross written premiums and policy fees of 4% (-1% in local
currency) to USD 37.6 billion in 2004 After adjusting for-divestments of businesses as well as exchange rate
effects, premiums remained. level. On a similar basis, net earned premiums increased by 7% still reflecting
the effect of rate increases in previous:periods now being earned as revenue and higher premium retention
reflecting the reduction’in our reinsirance program-as our balance sheet has strengthened.

Life Insurance Gross written premiums -and policy fees in Life Insurance decreased by 6% (-13% in local currency) to
USD 11.0 billion in 2004 mainly resulting:from the sale of life operations in the second half of 2003, particularly
Zurich Life US, Zurich Life UK'and certain other European operations, and the redesign of the group pension
business mode! in Switzerland whichihas been: partially transferred to an external foundation. Excluding these
factors as well as foreign exchange movements, premiums increased by 3%.

Farmers In 2004, our Farmers: Management Services earned USD 2.0 b lhon in management fees and other related
Management revenue, an increase of:5% ovef the pnor year.This-increase is'a resutt of higher gross premiums earned by
Services the Farmers Exchanges, which we® manage "but do not own, primarily in the Farmers Specialty, Commercial and

Fire lines of busmess

Investment Performance

Investment resuit Total investments as shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet include Group investments, where the Group bears

and investments all or part of the investment risk, and investments for unit-linked products, where policyholders bear the entire
investment risk. The investments for unit:linked products and the related investment result have been reclassified
following the implementation of SOP 03-01. '

o Total REE
2004 2003
9114 8395
8,938 5180
14,048 13,575

2004 2003

251,159 225,747

We manage our diversified Group investment portfolio to optimize benefits for both shareholders and
policyholders while ensuring compliance with local regulatory and business requirements under the guidance
of our Asset/Liability Managemienit and Irnvestment Committée. Investments for unit-linked products are
managed in accordance with the investment objectives of each unit-tinked fund.
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Investment
performance

Group investments
breakdown

“Change
: 6%
B T7%
17,815 7%
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"43%  10pts
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Net investment income for Group investments increased by 6% to usp 7.4 billion from USD 7.0 billion.
This improvement was a result of hlgher short- term interest rates in the US and UK, the lengthening of bond
portfolio durations, partially offset by lower income due to the reductnon in the asset base caused by the
redesign of .the group pension business model in Switzerland.

Net-capital gains on investments and- |mpanrments for Group investments increased from USD 811 million

in 2003 to USD 948 million in 2004, {n both 2004 and 2003 we incurred impairments on investments, primarily
equities, of USD 175 million‘and USD 1.1 billion, respéctively. The reduction in the year reflects the improvements
in equity markets. The reduction-in impairments was offset by lowér net realized capital gains in 2004, particularly
in debt and equity.securities. A substantial portion of the net-capital gains.on investments and impairments

relate to our Life Insurance segment. After taking into account'the portion attributable to future policyholder
benefit reserves, net capital gains on investments and impairments which flowed through to net income were
USD 441 miltion and USD 926 million i 2004-and 2003, respectively.

The total investment return for Group investments was 5.9% compared with 4.9% in 2003. This return
includes investment income, net capital gains on investments in the Consolidated Operating Statement and
movements in unrealized gains recorded in shareholders’ equity. The total investment result was USD 10.5 bitlion,
after investment expenses of USD 289 million compared with USD 8 0 billion after investment expenses of

USD 330 million in2003.

Equity securities include common stock and equity unit trusts in which the Group bears the investment risk.
At year end 2004, we had reduced ogr holding in this category of equny securities to 4.9% of our investment
pertfolio, down from 6.4% as of December31 2003.

%o’ft\ot’alf‘“

1 642% "
1% -
. 64%
S 1%

N =
iN
1R

Divestments

During 2004, the Group continued o divest businesses in markets wkhere’ we did not have a significant presence
or which were no longer part of our bisiness strategy. We completed several transactions during the year that
generated cash proceeds of USD 2.5 billion compared with USD'2.7-billion in the prior year.

The transaction that generated most &f the cash proéeéds was the complétion of the transfer of certain assets
.and liabilities of Zurich Capital. Markets to BNP Paribas. Other significant transactions during 2004 include the
sale of Turegum Insurance Company and the life and general insurance operations in Belgium and Luxembourg.

Aggregate net gains on divestments in 2004‘ including post-completion adjustments such as deferred
consideration for certain transactions closed in 2003 was USD 88 million.
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Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

45306 - 13%
5 (14,940) . . (6%)
' T22%,

17%:5
2%
3% .

We establish reserves for losses-and loss adjustment expenses for estimates-of future payments of reported and
unreported claims for losses and related expenses, with respect to insured events that have occurred. Reserving
is a complex process dealing with uncertainty and requiring the use of informed estimates and judgments.

Any changes i estimates are reflected in the results of operations in the-period in which estimates are changed.

Of the total USD 43.5 billion net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses USD 41.1 billion related
1o General Insurance and USD 2.2 billion to Other Businesses-as of December 31, 2004,

In 2004, we refined our reserving process throtgh a Lprogram of continuous and progressive review of different
lines of business. In aggregate, we have strengthened, reserves, because of adverse prior year development

by USD 2.0 billion which.compares with"USD 1.9 billion:in: 2003 Strengthening of USD 2.6 billion arose in North
America Corporate, which was mitigated by reserve redundanoes of approximately USD 600 million arising across
all our other regions including our Centre operations. These net reserve redundancies arise both from claims
settlements below the reserved amounts and also from reassessment of reserving requirements for future claims.

The prior year adverse reserve development recorded in 2003 was primarily in North America Corparate
USD 1.0 billion and in Centre USD 540 million. .

Capitalization and Indebtedhess’

2003 ‘Change
4,701 . {12%)
5,961 {(35%)
3,742 34%"
4408 (10%)
e 4,380 o 42%,
<2415 4%
~4775  23%
LT 969 - (13%)
718,934 17%
23,709 . 18%
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Operational debt

Financial debt

Credit facility

Minority intrerests

Shareholders’ equity

Solvency

lndebtedness :; ‘

As of December:31, 2004 total operatlonal debt was USD 13.0 blllron a decrease of USD 1.4 billion since
December 31, 2003. As of December 31,2004; we had, USD 4.1 billion of collateralized loans, which were secured
by mortgage Joans of the same amount given as collateral to thie cotinterparties compared with USD 4.7 biltion
as of December 31,2003. Debt relatmg to capital markets and banking activities decreased by USD 2.1 billion
following the transfer of.certain assets’and liabilities from Zurich Capital Markets-(ZCM) to BNP Paribas in
accordance with an agreement srgned in 2003 as part 6f the wind-down of ZCM activities. This decrease was
partially. offset by an,increase of USD 1.3 billion‘in-our obhgatlon 1o repurchase securities to USD 5.0 biflion,
resulting from increased short-term: activities iny the Repo market in the normal -course of business as part of our
investment and llqmdrty management e : o

The increasein total fmancral debt o USD 1 1 blllron or 23% arose mam!y from the issuance of euro 1 billion
(USD 1.3 billion) of 10 -year senlor debt by Zunch Finance {USA), linder the “Euro Medium Term Note Programme”
for Zurich Insurance Company partially offset by the- ‘repayment o maturity by the Zurich International
(Bermuda) Ltd of its-zero coupon sbond’ of CHF 539 million (USD 427 mrllron) in July 2003.

On Aprit 21, 2004, .a.new USD 3: brllxon syndlcated revolvrng credit facrlrty was signed to replace the USD 1.5 billion
facility, which would. have matured-on May 28, 2004. The new.syndicated credit facility consists of two equal
tranches maturing in 2007 and-2009: Zunch Group Holding; together with Zurich Insurance Company and
Farmers Group, Inc, are guarantors, of-the new. facility-which-allows: for drawings of up to USD 1.25 billion,

USD 1.5 billion and USD 250 million; respectively, for. themselvesand a number of defined subsidiary borrowers.
No borrowings were outstanding.as of December 31, 2004 under the new.facility. Farmers Group, Inc. cancelled
an existing.USD ZSO'miIIion credif fa”cility«in Ap‘ril 2004 whicH‘Would-have ‘expired in September 2004.

The reduction in mrnorrty mterests of USD 123 mllllon or 13% resulted prrmanly from ZCM which no longer
has any mmorlty shareholder interests in its business. §

Shareholders’equity increased by UsD 3. 2 billion to USD 22.2 billion as.of December 31, 2004. The increase
from our net income after tax of USD 2:6 brlhon in-2004-and favorable currency translation-effects were
partially offset by the:nominal value reductron oficommon stock and the initial, application of the legislation
for the mandatory partncrpatron in profrts for polrcyholders in Swrtzer and (“legal quote”).

. Regulated entities of the Group are requrred to submit returns to-their:local regulators, usually on an annual

basis.but in some countries miore frequently. These retisrns showthe compliance of the reporting entity with
tocal solvency requlrements and includé information on eligible funds and admissible assets.

On a consolidated basis, Zurich Financial Servicés, Wwith headquarters in Zurich, Switzerland, is subject to
supervision by the Federal Office &1 Privaté Insufance (“FOPI™). Regulatory supervision of the Group for

its insurance activities and its remaininé banking and other regulated financial services activities, including
supervision over consofidated solvency and capital adequacy at a Group leve! are coordinated between
FOPI and the Swiss Federal Banking Commission (based on the Decree on the Consolidated Supervision of
the Zurich Financial Services: Group of Apnl 23, 2001)
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Zunch Financial >ervices Group
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Qur cash flow from‘operating activities consists of cash flow arising from our insurance businesses, after
payments to reinsurers (net premiums; pdlicy fees and deposits received less net claims after recoveries from
reinsurers, benefit payments, policy surrenders and operating expenses) and investment income received
(dividends, interest and rents)-less interest paid and tax payments.

Farmers Management Services receives management fees as el as investment income and pays operating
expenses and taxes. Surplus operating:cash flows plus the proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments as
well as divestments, are reinvested through our rnvestmg actlvrtres Our investment funds may be used to fund
operating cash flow deficits.

Our financing activities result from our corporate funding and borrowmg arrangements capital raising and
repayment and payments to shareholders, .

Cash and cash equrvalents incréased in 2004 by USD 1 3 brlhon compared with USD 5.6 billion in 2003. Cash flow
provided by operating activities reduced to USD 8.3 biltion from USD 13.2 billion in 2004, Transfers to investment
activities and financing repayments were together usb 7.7 billion in 2004 compared with USD 8.3 billion in
2003.

Basis of Current and Future Presentatlon and Comparabmty

Changes to The Accouniting Standards Executive. Commlttee (ACSEC) of the American Institute of Certified Public
accounting Accountants (AICPA) issued Statement of Position 03-01 {"SOP03-01 ), Accounting and Reporting by Insurance
policies 2004 Enterprises for Certain Nontraditional Long- -Diration Contracts and for Separate Accounts. SOP 03-01 has

resulted in three significant changes in the treatment of certain life contracts, which have been adopted

retrospectively, in accordance with JAS8:

i) Recognition of additional:liabilities for guaranteed’ minimum death benefrts guaranteed retirement income
benefits and benefits in respect of annuitization options on an accrual basis, primarily for life policies in the
United States. The recognition of guarantee liabilities résuited in a write’down of deferred policy acquisition
costs, due to a reduction in future estimated gross profits supporting these reserves.

i} Clarification of the distinction between universal {ife insurance and investment products, resulting in certain
products in the life business in. the United Kingdom now being treated as insurance. The classification as
insurance consequently resulted in the retrospective accrual of additionat insurance reserves.

iif) “investments héld on accounit and at risk of life insurance;policyholders” and "Insurance reserves for life
insurance where the-investrhent Tisk s carried by polrcyholders were redlassified 1o total investments and
insurance reserves in the amount of dpproximately USD 50 billion. This change also resulted in the inclusion
in the consolidated operating statements of additional investment result arising from the reclassified
investments and a substantially corresponding charge in " Policyhalder dividends and participation in profits”.
As a result, there is no material net impact on the Group’s operating results.
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In 2004 we have made the foilow:ng restatement for the mplementatron of SOP 03 01 as pubhshed in the Half
Year Report 2004.

Swiss legal quote In Switzerland, the "legal-quote” leglslatton was adopted-on Apnl 1,2004. it rélates to the regulated pension
business in Switzerland and provides for rhandatory participation in profits by policyholders. A minimum
dividend rate of 90% of the calculated gross surplus must be allocated to policyholders as the surplus arises,
where previously such allocations occurred when bonuses were declared.

The Group accounted for the initial apphcatron of this legislation in the consolidated financial statements as
of June 30, 2004, by transfernng net unrealrzed gains on investments included in shareholders’ equity of
USD 226 million to insurance reserves as “Policyholders’ contract deposits and other funds”. In addition, the
Group. recorded a pre-tax charge of USD 54 mitlion during 2004

tmplementation of The Group has beenreporting under standards issued by the-International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
new and amended since 1998, As set out in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we refer to accounting principles
accounting generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP) for guidance in particular on accounting for insurance.

standards in 2005 In January 2005, a significant number.of newand amended standards will become effective including the

International Financial Standard on “insurance Contracts” (IFRS 4). We continue to evaluate the impact on our
financial statements and are closely monitoring developmenits as practical interpretations of IFRS 4 and other
changes emerge. The principal change to our-financial statements will result from the re-classification of certain
life insurance products-from insurance to investment and the consequent change in measurement and
accounting treatment as investrent products, As IFRS 4 does not defme the accountmg treatment of insurance
products, we will continue to.refer-to US GAAP .

This and other changes will result in the restatement of shareholders’ equity, which could be significant,

and net income as well as reclassifications in Both the, consolidated balance sheet and operating statements.
However, we do not expect the changes will have any significant effect on the solvency positions of our
businesses, which are generally determmed based on regulatory reqmremean and accounting policies in each
country in which we operate

We continue to monitor developments in the interpretation of the changes to be implemented in 2005 and will
determine our position for reporting for the first quarter of 2005. We are also working with the accounting
profession and our peer group.of insurance companies in Europe through the CFO Forum 1o assist the IASB in
developing a comprehensive standard for the accounting of insurance products.

Financial Reporting Primary segments: o
The Group will continue to report segment mformatlon using the same primary segments as for 2004,
The segments are: General Inisurance; Lifé insurance, Farmers Management Services, Other Businesses and
Corporate Center. [

Secondary segments:
In 2005 the Group's secondary format for segment mformanon will:continue to be geographic. The geographical
segments will be North America, Europe, International Businesses and Centrally Managed Businesses.

Customer segments:

For 2004 General Insurance reporting a-further breakdown of the segment into its customer segments
(Global Corporate, Commercial and Personal)-will be provided as part of the Financial Supplement which
will be published on our Web site. For 2005 General Insurance reporting our financial review will include
information for these customer segments.
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Segmental Financial Analysis
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ifi the™ foliowmg sectlons we d!scuss the results of operatlons for each of our segments It should be noted that
résultssfor 2003 ln"thls Segmental Firancial Analysis are restated for the implementation of a new accounting

standard. Business. operating profit figures for 2003 have been restated to conform with the current year

presentation. Details are set'out in the sections “Basis of Current and Future Presentation and Comparability”
and "Investment Performance” in the Group Financial Review, The analysis of the results for the year ended

December 31, 2004 is made against the restated results of the prior year period, unless otherwise stated.
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General Insurance.

Operational review Our 2004 result has shown significant‘improvements in both business operating profit and in net income in
all regions other than in North America, Overall our business operating profit fell by USD 766 million to
USD 1.4 billion which was achieved after total hurricanes and tsunami costs of USD 762 million and net
strengthening of reserves of USD 2.1 billion.

Our businesses have continued to take advantage of attractive though competitive rates. We have maintained
our disciplined underwriting approach and, where in some lines of business the rates were not adegquate to meet
our technical price targets, we have continued to choose not.to write that business. The benign catastrophe
experience of the last two years came'to an end when the four hurricanes struck the US and the Caribbean in the
third Quarter and this was followed by the tragic events of the tsunami in South East Asia. These events brought
out the best in.us in meéting the needs of our customers.

In 2004, we have introduced-our new:approach to'reserving involving rotling reviews, peer review, greater
oversight from the Corporate Center, use of consistent actuarial methodologies and processes and, when
necessary, the use of third partyzactuaries. As a result there has been significant strengthening of our reserves in
North America Corporate rélating to soft market'years of 1997 through-2001 when cash flow underwriting

was prevalent and claims have subsequently mﬂated These reviews have also identified redundancies in reserves
in UK, freland and Contmental Europe

We have commenced many programs.to further improve our.operational excellence, some of which have evolved
from Zurich Way initiatives to develop.the hnghest operational standards using a consistent approach across

all our businesses. In underwriting, these include the targeting -of key customer segments, the improvement of
workflow processes-to‘improve produ‘ctiyity, re-underwriting and re-pricing of certain books of business. in
claims management, we seek ways to improve our effectiveness. Examples of this are our trans-European motor
claims handling process, the introduction of a systematic fraud detection system using voice monitoring

and reviews of our claims handlmg legalieéxpenses. We are also’ constantly seeking ways to reduce our cost base
through sharing of services, improvements in structure and improved procurement processes.

During 2004, we have put in place the management and structure 10 implement the geographical and line

of business focus that we announced in April. In 2005, we will report based on this organization which
geographically will consist of North America, Europe and International Businesses (consisting of Asia Pacific, Latin
America and Southern Africa). In.addition, we will manage and report our results based on our customer
segments which are Global Corporate, Commercial and Personal.

These initiatives, our continued focus on our core disciplines of underwriting and claims management, our
diversified portfolio across geographies and lines of business‘and our new operationat structure should enable
us to further develop our business in 2005. .

Financial review
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Business operating profit decreased’by USD766 miltion from USD 2.1 billion to USD 1.4 billion for 2004.

Our strong underwriting’ performance-in the North America Consurner, Continenta! Europe, UKISA and Rest of
the World regions as well ‘as higher net investment income, were more than offset by large losses due to the
hurricanes that struck the US and the: Caribbean, the December tsunami and further reserve strengthening in
North America Corporate relating to prior years.

Net income decreased by USD 352 million, or 20%, from USD1 8 billion for 2003 to USD 1.4 billion for 2004.
Impacted by the same factors as busu)ness,operatmg profit, net income benefited from lower tax expenses and
lower losses on divestments, partially offset by lower net capital gains on jnvestments.

\ et ‘earned premiums
. ‘and policy fees .
2004 ‘, 2003 Change .

19038 1%
3184 (4%)‘
. 8,457 8%

o A821 . 8%
21,238 18%
a0 (39%)
- nm:f
27138 1%

Gross written premiums and policy fees increased by USD 1.4 billion, or 4%, to USD 37.6 billion for 2004.
Taking into account the effects of divestments and exchange rate movements; premiums remained level in 2004.
Despite the slowing down of rate increases in certain markets, we still experienced higher average rates overall
in 2004 compared with the prior year. Volumes have decreased in certain competitive lines of business, as we
have chosen not to write business that does not meet our technical price targets.

Net earned premiums and policy fees’increased by USD 3.0 billion, or 11% (6% in local currency), from

USD 27.1 billion for 2003 te USD 30:2 billion for 2004, This increase is the consequence of strong pricing in prior
periods now-flowing into earnings-and h:gher premfum retent»ons reflecting the reduction in our reinsurance
program as our balance sheet has strengthened.

om!;ingd ratio L
004 2003 Change

7 99.0% (183 pts)
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The Group s diversified portfolio across geograph:es ‘segments and lines of businesses softened the impact
on the underwriting losses arising from the four hurricanes whichstruck the US and the Caribbean, the December
tsunami, and the adverse prior year reserve strengthening in North America Corporate. The strong operational
performance of our North America Consumer, Continental Europe, UKISA and other operations throughout the
Rest of the World was mainly the result of our disciplined approach to underwriting and pricing, which partially
compensated for the losses in North America Corporate. The net underwriting result declined from a profit

of USD 578 million in 2003 to.a'loss ofSD 469 million in 2004. The combined ratio was 101.6% in 2004, an
increase of 3.7 percentage points compared w»th 97.8% in 2003 The hurricanes and the tsunami caused

2.5 percentage points of this increase: "

2003 Change
7311% . (45 pts)~
... 782% (19.6pts) .
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741% 89t
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OveraII the loss ratio lncreased by 4. 5 percentage poxnts to 77 6 % for 2004 Th|s development was mamly
due to increases in insurance’benefits and losses of USD 3.5 billion, or 18% (13% in local currency), to USD
23.4 biltion for 2004. In 2004, USD- 680 million of net hurricane losses, USD 82 million of December tsunami
losses and USD 2.1 billion of further reserve strengthening were recorded. Moreover, the Group has continued

to benefit from the positive effects of our: profit mprovement initiatives as well as from the favorable current year
loss development. : .
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The expense ratio improved by 0:8 percéntage point to 24.0%in 2004, Total net technical expenses
increased by USD 526 million, or 8%, from USD 6.7 billion-for 2003 to-USD 7.2 billion for 2004. This increase was
below the growth rate of net earned premiums, reflecting the'reduction in commission expenses. Administration

expenses were lower due to expense management initiatives.

General Insurance — North America Corporate

‘North Amerlca _Corp' rate : hlghllghts '

. nm .
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Business operating pl’Ofit was impacted by the exceptional hurricane claims of USD 612 million in 2004
from the hurricanes which' struck the US ‘arid the Caribbean in the third ‘quarter of 2004 and by the prior year
development reserve.strengthening of USD 2.6 billion. Business operating profit decreased from a profit

of USD 664 million in 2003 10 a loss of USD 1.2 billion i in 2004, The adverse underwriting result was partly
offset by a 27% higher net ifvestment income reflecting strong net cash inflows in both 2003 and 2004.

Net income decreased. by UsD 1.2 billion" to a loss of USD 506 million in"2004. In addition to the factors that
affected business operating profit, net incomrie included from tax benefits pamally offset by a decline in net capital
gains on investments.

The growth of gross written premiums and policy fees of USD 233 million, or 2%, to USD 15.7 billion in
2004 arose from rate increases compared to 2003. Average rate increases were 2.6% in 2004 over 2003
compared with nearly 16% in 2003 over 2002. Volumes slightly decreased, as we have chosen not to write
business that does not meet our technical price targets.

The growth in net earned premiums of 17% to USD 10.6 billion in 2004 is mainly attributable to the reduction
of premiums ceded to reinsurers as: weII as earnings from premium growth in prior penods now being earned
as revenue.

The net underwriting result decline”d by usD 1.9 billion to a negative technical result of USD 1.8 billion for
2004 as a result of the hurricanes, the tsunami and the reserve strengthening. The combined ratio increased

by 18.3 percentage points to 117.3% of which 5.8 percentage points is attributable to the hurricanes and

24.3 percentage points for reserve streéngthening. Overall, the loss ratio increased from 78.2% in 2003 to
97.8% in 2004. The improvement in the expense ratio was driven mainly by the results of initiatives to improve
expense and commission management.
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General Insurance — North Amerlca Consumer
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The amounts reported in our North“America Consumeér region represent the ‘gross written premiums and related
financial results from quota share reinsurance treaties assumed from the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage
but do not own. The declme in net earned premiums and total benefits, losses and expenses relate to a reduction
in the premiums ceded in one of those treaties as compared with the prior year. The net underwriting resuit and
the combined ratio improvement resulted mainly. from' the underlying business performance assumed from the
Farmers Exchanges.

General Insurance Contmental Europe

Continental Europe is our second |argest General Insurance regron Financial information is provided for our
four most significant markets, namely Switzerland, Germany, Spain and Italy as well as for Continental Europe
Corporate (CEC), whrch writes busmess for !arge corporate customers:in Europe and is managed centrally.

2004 2003 Change
10712 . 10,052 7%
9,153 . 8457 -
9,058 . 88691

o VA6%
zz 9% . 23.7%
4.0%. ;. 98.3%

Business operating profit imbrbved ,byi,6:7% to USD- 1.0 billion and net income increased by 114% to
USD 767 million for 2004 mainly due 10 the strong improvement in the net underwriting result as described
below. : - .

”«, Net eamed premiums’
~-and policy fees. .-
3 2003 Change

8%
3 3%
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Gross wntten premiums and pollcy fees in Contmental Europe grew by USD 660 mrlhon or 7% (—-2 % in
local currency), to-USD 10.7-billion. This region benefited from the appreciation of the euro (10%) and Swiss
franc (8%} against the US.déllar, which was partially offset by the effects of several divestments closed in 2003.
Adjusted for these factors, Continental Europe, in total, showed a slight increase in premiums.

In Switzerland, gross written premiums and policy fées increased by 6% adjusted for exchange rate movements
and the intra-segment transfer of certain business in 2004. This increase was largely attributable to rate increases
in the health and automobile lines of business. in Germany, our’largest market within Continental Europe,

gross written prémiums and policy fees decreased by 2% in local currency, reflecting the reduction in new
business mainly in the automabile line of business following the tightening of our underwriting standards. Spain
experienced a 10% increase in gross written premiums and policy fees.in local currency. The growth was most
significant in the automobile, third party liability and fire lines of business. Gross written premiums and policy
fees in Italy increased by 7% in local currency driven by the growth in the automobile line of business. Finaily,
CEC experienced a 8% increase in gross written premlums and policy fees in local currency and after adjusting for
intra-region transactions and drvestments

The growth in net earned preniiums, of 8% to USD 9.2 billion slightly outpaced the increase in gross written
premiums and policy fees in this region, benefiting from the growth in net written premiums in 2003 earned as
revenue in 2004 and'from a red,ukction in premiums ceded as reinsurance.

The net undervvriting result for Co,ntinentél Europe almost quadrupled to USD 550 million for the year 2004.
Each of our most significant markets contributed to the improvement in the technical insurance result. The
combined ratio improved by 4.3 percentage points to 94.0%.

in Switzerland, the underwriting resultimproved from a Joss of USD 75 mrlhon in 2003 to a positive technical
result of USD 46 million in 2004. We have benefited from the tightened underwriting standards associated with
the profit improvement initiatives, pamally offset by losses from the large hailstorms in July and August 2004.
Germany's net underwriting result increased by 25% mainly due to ongoing realization of cost saving initiatives
and lower frequency of claims. Spain benefited from the absence of large claims, lower frequency of claims

and fower average losses, as well as the positive prioryearioss development resuiting in a significant
improvement in the underwriting result The positive' development of Italy’s net underwriting result was mainly
the result of achieved cost savings. CEC's net underwriting result underwriting result more than doubled reflecting
the improved losses. resulting-from strict underwriting policy‘and favorable loss development.

Overall, the loss ratio |mproved by 3.5 percentage points to 71.1% for 2004 from 74.6% in the prioryear.
Total net technical expenses increased by 5% to USD 2.1 billicn, at a lower rate than net earned premiums,
reflecting the impact of the cost savings and profitimprovement initiatives implemented across the regicn,
This resulted in animprovement in the expense. ratio by 0.8 percentage point to 22.9%.
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General Insurance — UKISA

Change
3% .:
18%

8%,
453%

152%
©166%

89pts,.

- 0.8pts. ;
o7 pts

Business operating profit more than doubled to USD1.1 billion in:2004 driven by the lmproved underwrmng
result and an increase in net investment income foltowmg posmve cash flow generation in both 2003 and 2004.

UKISA recorded an increase of USD 475 million i in nét mcome to USD 761 million in 2004 driven by the same
factors as business operating profit.

The region experienced a USD 195 million, or 3%, increase in gross written premiums and policy fees to

USD 6.5 billion for 2004, benefiting from the appreciation of the British pound (12%) in the UK, the euro

(10%) in Ireland-and the rand (17 %) in South Africa against the US dollar. Excluding exchange rate movements,

gross written premiums and policy fees decreased by 8%. The decrease predominantly reflects reductions

in fronted business although this'has been'partially offset by positive development in personal lines. Despite

mcreasmg competition, the region experienced stable rates compared to 2003 reflecting our adherence to
rigorous underwriting standards.

Net earned premiums increéased by USD 853 mall;on or 18%, to USD 5.7 billion for 2004. Excluding exchange
rate movements; the incréase was 5 %: The rate and volume increases.in written premiums experienced in the
prior year have flowed through to earned.premiums in 2004.

The net underwriting résultincreased by USD 566 million to USD 691 million in 2004, with the combined ratio
improving by 9.7 percentage points 10 87:8%: Insurance benefits and losses increased by 4% (-7% in local
currency), or USD 129 million, at a significantly lower growth rate than net earned premiums, to USD 3.7 biltion
for 2004.This development reflected Tavorable loss experience and net prior year reserve redundancies resulting

in animprovement of the loss ratio to 65.2% for 2004. This region recorded USD 42 million of tsunami costs.
Net technical expenses-also increased at a lower growth rate than net earned premiums due to a continued
focus.on expense reduction resultlng in:an mprovement in the expense ratio of 0.8 percentage paint to 22.6%
in 2004. E )

Generalnsurante—-RestoftheVVodd

72003
~2,140 .
71,238 .
1,176
150
105 .
o 5641% - (L 3pts)
S373% R2pts
934% (0.1 pts).

The improvement in'business operating profit by USD 30 million, or 20%, to USD 180 million in 2004 was
driven by the improved underwriting result and higher investment income.

Net income increased by 38% to USD 145 million in 2004. Besides the factors that impacted business operating
profit, net income benefited from higher net capital gains on investments..
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Gross wntten premlums and pollcy fees increased by 3% to usD 2.2 bllhon in 2004 The largest increases

in gross written premiums and policy fees were experienced in Australia, Japan and Venezuela. in Venezuela, we
recorded strong growth in local currency benefiting particularly from sales in the automobile line of business.
The Australian dollar appreciated 13% and the Japanese yen 7% against the dollar, which have also contributed
to the overall reported growth in gross written premiums and policy fees expressed in US dollars.

The increase in net earned premiums to USD 1.5 billion represented an improvement of USD 227 million,
or 18%, compared with USD 1.2 billion in 2003, This development was significantly above the growth rate of
gross written premiums and was mainly driven by changes.in our ceded reinsurance arrangements, which
led to higher retentlon of premiums pamcularly in Taiwan, Veneézueta and Mexico.

The net underwrmng result increased to USD 95 million for 2004 compared with USD 82 million in 2003
with positive contributions from most of ur-businesses in this region. The combined ratio increased slightly
by 0.1 percentage pointt0-93. 5% for 2004

Insurance benefits and lossés mcreased by 21% to USD 842 million in 2004. The loss ratio increased

by 1.3 percentage points to 57.4% for 2004 mainly caused by the extraordinary typhoon losses in Japan and
the December tsunami costs.partially offset by favorable claims experience elsewhere, particularly in
Australia and Taiwan. The expense ratio improved by 1.2 percentage points to 36.1% in 2004 reflecting the
strict financial discipline instilled in ourbusinesses in this region.

General Insurance ~ Centrally Managed Businesses:

The use of reinsurance, both 1nternally anid externally, is a key component of the Group's risk mitigation and
capital management strategies. Our Centrally Managed Busmesses region includes internal reinsurance programs
and businesses in run-off.

" Change” !
(41 %)

Business operafing profit declined from USD 173 million in 2003 to USD 25 miiltion in 2004 and net income
to USD 60 million for 2004 25 compared with USD 260 million-in 2003 substantially affected by our operations in
run-off. .

The USD 326 miltion; or41%, decrease in gross written premiums and policy fees to USD 470 million is
primarily the consequence of the gradual transfer, starting in-2003, of our intra-group reinsurance transactions to
the regions that wrote the underlying premiums as well as further optimization of our reinsurance purchasing.
This development was partially offset by businesses put into run-off during 2004 which was allocated to Centrally
Managed Businesses and were still earning residual premiums.
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Operational review

Financial review

Life insurance

In 2004, we saw the first rewards from cur continuing efforts to strengthen the Life Insurance result. We made
good progress in refocusing our business portfolio, redefining our business model, rebalancing our product
portfolio, de-risking our balance sheet.ahd optimizing our expense base. These efforts are now being reflected in
our business results. Our business operating profit rose 24% to USD 1:1 billion. The profitability of new business
as measured by‘the riew business profit margin further improved to 11.4% in 2004, up from 9.0% for 2003.
The operating return on the ernbe'dded'vaytue of our life business was 10.8% within our target range of 10-12%.
And our refocused product rahge'is.gaining acceptance in the marketplace, with total new business measured
by annual premiums equivalent (APE) up by'15% after adjusting for divestments and discontinued business,

the redesign-of the Swiss group pension model by transfer to an external foundation and foreign exchange
movements.

Since 2002 we have divested numerous.life businesses to focus on profitable growth in our core markets. We
are making major changes to our busingss.model in Switzerland and in-the UK. In Switzerland we restructured
our group pension model, which started. positively due to favorable capital markets in 2004. in the UK we

are consolidating our remaining life portfolios. into a single-entity, permitting further operating and commercial
synergies. We are reconstituting our distribution unit, now renamed Openwork, in partnership with

our franchisees. Openwork will sell products | manufactured by Zurich and other sefected partners, to take

full advantage of new flexibility permitted by UK regulation: The value realized by Openwork will be shared
between Zurich and its franchrse partners who have shown very strang support for the new model.

We made further progress in reducrng expenses “With administrative and other operating expenses declining 19%
over 2003 levels. In 2004, we commrtted 1o a wide range of initiativés impacting both revenues and expenses
designed to increase our busingss operatmg profnt by UsSD 280 millicn, a target we exceeded by 25%. We have
refocused our product mix, concentrating-on protect«on and lump sum savings, especially unit-linked business,
and de-emphasizing guaranteed products or those with low margins. Our new product range is gaining traction
in the marketplace. Qur innovative products and service lévels are being recognized with Germany, ireland and
the UK all receiving awards in the closing months-of 2004. We took full advantage of an opportunity in Germany,
where an impending tax change has led to exceptional demand for savings products. Our sales rose 54% (28%
in local currency) to USD 794 million APE, with especially strong growth through our Deutsche Bank channel. Our
IFA channel in the UK also grew strongly, and total new busingss premiums in the UK rose 38% (24% in local
currency) to USD 4.7 billion We also had strong growth' at Farmers New World Life and in italy.

Our Zurich Way initiatives: wrli enabie "Us'10 build on this, momentum. Our Zurich Way Sales Excellence program
aims-to improve the productivity of our ‘tied agents. “Also under The Zurich Way, we are looking at further
opportunities for efficiencies and ¢ost'saving. And we will continue to develop innovative products focused in
market niches where we have competmve advantage: Despite the encouraging progress we face continuing
challenges in the future, Our miarkets are highly competitive with margins under pressure. Our lack of scale in
certain markets remains a concein as’does i mcreasrng regu|atory focus on our industry. Nonetheless we believe
we have laid solid foundations for the future ) ’

The adoption of the newaccounting standard (SOP 03-01), which affected mainly the Life Insurance business,
resuited in a restatement of 2003 comparative figures. The main impacts of this restatement were on

North America Consumer and UKISA. The impact of new accounting standards is set out in note 3 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements-and:in the Group Financial Review.

11605 (6%).
. 5883, 6%

224

“Netincome S
- 2003 Change

(2 4%)

1,148
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L!fe Insurance achreved an increase in busmess operatmg profn of USD 207 mxlhon or 24%, to USD 1.1 biltion
compared with USD 856 million for 2003. UKISA and Continental Europe recorded the fargest increase, with
reduced business operating profit in North America Consumer.

Net income decreased by USD. 275 miillion, or 24%, from USD 1.1 billion in 2003 to USD 873 million for 2004
mainly due to higher net gain on divestments of businesses in 2003 Excludmg the after-tax gain on divestments,
net income increased by USD 123 million; or 17%.

" Total GWPand ;-
| insurance depasits

“Present va

72004 - 2003
1,115 2434 ¢
09,008  9,790..
7,864 i
114,207 ;
(12) (13
20,163 .-

19,272

Gross written premiums.and ‘policy fees decreased by:USD 646 million, or 6% (~13% in local currency), from
USD11.6 billion for 2003 to USD 11.0;billion:in 2004. This decrease was due 1o the sale of certain life operations
in‘the second half.of. 2003, particularly Zurich'Life US and Zurich Life UK, as well as the redesign of Switzerland’s
group pension busingss model which has been partially transferred to.an external foundation. Excluding these
factors and exchange rate movements . prémiums increased by 3%.

Insurance deposits decreased by USD 245 million, or 3% {=12% in local currency), from USD 8.5 billion

10 USD 8.3 billion in 2004. This decrease arose from divestments in our North America Consumer operations
and the transfer of Kemper Investor Life insurance Company (Kemper Investors) to the Other Businesses
segment. In UKISA, growth in insurance deposits was driven by an increase in investment bond product sales,
whereas the decrease in the Rest of the World segment was mainly attributable to the discontinued sales of
annuity products in Japan, :

Total benefits, losses'and expenses decreased by USD 413, million or 2% {-11% in focal currency), from

USD 21.0 billion in 2003 to USD 20.6 billion in 2004. This decrease. was driven by the reduction in insurance
benefits and losses in“Switzerland related to the redesign of the group pension business model and to

the divestment of businesses in' other parts of the world: This development was partiatly offset by increased

policyholder dividends and participation in profits mainly due to improved invéstment results.

Shareholders’ intangiblesand,'recovérability =

Although not a measure of current profitability, an important factor to consider when evaluating the sustainability
of Life Insurance earnings is the-recoverability of deferred policy acquisition costs (DAC) and other intangibles
that have been capitalized. The followingtable sets out the amount of shareholders' intangibles to be recovered.

© 2008 2003 .
Mo 96
AR N2

‘Def

1.1
‘(3.5) (3 0

: (1,3>3"*
e
.3
R

DAC consists of the costs of acquiring new business, including commissions, underwriting and policy issue

expenses, which vary with and are.directly related to the production of new business. The present value
of future profits is the discounted value of the profit-on acquired insurance contracts to be amortized over the
expected life of these contracts. These ‘are defined in note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Some charges assessed against policyholders’ balances have been deferred as unearned revenue ("deferred
front-end fees”) and will be recognized,in income over the period for which benefits accrue, using similar
assumptions as those used to amortize DAC.
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Cenam Irfe insurance polrcnes are establlshed to meet spec;frc mvestment objectrves of pollcyholders who bear
the investment risk. In these cases, investment income and investment gains and losses accrue directly to those
policyholders, Under the Group's IFRS-accounting policies, the benefit of surrender charges cannot be reflected
in the liability for policyholder benefits arid Hence a mismatch arises between invested assets and reserves for
those life insurance contracts where the-investment risk is carried by the policyholder.

Both of these amounts have been con5|dered when assessmg the recoverabllrty of DAC and cother intangible
assets,

Embedded Value Restilts

Embedded value highlights are set out below. Further details are set out in the embedded value section which
follows the Consolidated anancual Statements. -

‘Change'
o i,?,%%; Z; :
42%

. 5%
” _O3p(sh,'i
. 5o

. 48pts -

Gross new business premiums, measured on an annual equivalent (APE) basis (new annual premiums plus
10% of single premiums) increased by USD 269 miliion to USD 2.4 billion. in local currency APE decreased by

2% compared with 2003-which was largelya result of certain life company divestments. Adjusted for businesses
divested and discontinued in 2003 and 2604, and the redesign of the'group pension model in Switzerland, APE
increased by 15% in local currency. This |mprovement can be attributed to-the effect of higher volumes in
Continental Europe and UKISA. : :

New business contributed USD 273 miIIion 10 embedded value opérating profit, after tax, an increase

of USD 81 million compared with- 2003. In local currency the increase in new business profit was 27 %,
predominantly due to higher.s4lés‘and éxpense optimizations in our German businesses. This improvement
corresponds to an increase of 2.4 percentage points in new business profit'margin to 11.4% for the year 2004
from 9.0% for the year 2003.

Embedded value operating profit; after tax, was USD 1.1 billion corresponding to a 10.8% operating return
on embedded value in 2004. This was:2.7-percentage points above the expected return of 8.1% for the period
driven by the positive contribution from:the value of the new business written,

A positive economic variance of USD 331 million was experienced in 2004, This result was primarily due to a
better than expected investment performance particularly in Switzerland. In addition clarification from

the Swiss regulator on certain aspects of the implementation of the legal-quote legislation resuited in a less severe
shareholder impact'than assumed in previotis embedded value calculations. Overall, this resulted in a total
embedded value profit; after tax, of USD 1.4 billion'which corresponded to a total embedded value return,
after tax, of 14.0% (59 percentage points above the'expected return for 2004 of 8.1%).

Life Insurance — North America Consumer

Cnange_g
4. (54%)
1,029 . (45%)
584 (39%)
U m
“(46%)
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The divestment of Zurich Life US in the th|rd quarter of 2003 affected the underlylng performance of this
region which substantially explains all of the above variances. In addition, Kemper Investors is now included in
Other Businesses.
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Busmess operatmg proflt decreased by USD‘IO mrl!ron or4% from USD 245 mrlllon in 2003 o USD 235 million
for 2004. Net income increased by USD 103 million, or 184%, from a-profit of USD 56 million in 2003 to

USD 159 million.in 2004 due to the.divestment of Zurich Life US which negatively influenced 2003 net income of
North America Consumer. Adjusting, for the effect of the after-tax loss on divestment, net income remained
stable. Operating performance has beeri.driven by stronger investment performance compared to 2003 as well as
growth in universal 1fe and traditional business largely offset by higher amortization of deferred policy acquisition
Costs. ‘ .

Excluding the impact of drvestment and redassrfrcatron the region showed an increase in gross written
premiums and policy fees of-USD 38 million. Thiis favorable’ development was driven by increases in traditional
renewal products and:in pohcy fees from Uhiversal liféinsurance. Insurance deposits experienced a decrease of
4% in 2004 on & comparable ba5|s This was: primarily a result of lower fixed annuity sales due to the lower
interest rate environment: :

Total benefrts, losses and expenses decreased by USD 481 million, or 46%, from USD 1.0 billion in 2003

to USD 558 million in 2004 which is in line with the decrease in premiums following the divestment and
reclassification in 2003. Insurance benefits and losses, excluding the divestment and reclassification, remained
stable at USD 221 million. Underwriting-and acquisition expenses were USD 30 milfion higher than in 2003
on a comparable basis due to higher gross margms in 2004 ieadmg to correspondrngly higher amortizations in
deferred policy acquisition costs.

mbeddedvalue tota c
/Embedded:'v'alu Sheratir

In North America Consumer sales dropped by: 48% due prrmarrly to the drvestmem of Zurrch ere US which
contributed USD 111 million t6-APE in-2003; Excluding the effect of the divestment, APE production for
2004 increased by 2% ‘to USD 120 mllhon compared with 2003 following higher sales volume of level term
products. . “

The new business profit, after tax‘, Was usb 74 million in 2004 "an‘increase of USD 3 million over 2003.

Embedded value operating profut after tax, forithe year 2004 was USD 330 million resuiting from the
strong contribution from new business profrt changes in assets to better match liabilities and favorable
mortality experience. The operating profrt corresponds to an operatlng return on embedded value for the
period of 15.0%.

o
K

Life Insurance — Continental-Europe
Continental Europe is our largest region in Life Insurance. Key financial information is provided for our most
significant markets; namely Germany, Switzerland, italy and Spain: -

112003

482  {33%)

Business operating profit increased. by USD 61 million, or 21%, from USD 294 million in 2003 to USD 355 million
for 2004. Net income decreased by USD159 million, or 33%, from USD 482 million in 2003 to USD 323 million

in 2004.The improved result for our operations in Germany, Italy and Spain partly offset the decline of net income
in Switzerland. Additionally in 2003 after-tax gains on divestments of USD 113 million were realized relating to

the sale of certain fife businesses. .
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Continental Europe experienced a decrease in gross written premiums and policy fees of USD 643 million,
or 8% (16% in local currency), from USD 8.2 billion in' 2003 to USD 7.6 billion in 2004. This change was

mainly caused by the redesign of the, group pension business model in Switzerland as well as the sale of
certain busiriesses in 2003 and during 2004, partially offset by favorable exchange rate movements. Insurance
deposits decreased by USD 43 million, or3% from USD 1.6 billion in'2003to USD 1.5 billion for 2004

(-11% in local currency). ,

In Germany, gross written premiums and7policy fees decreased by 9% in local currency, mainly due to decreases
in'single premiums products following the close underperforming distribution channels, whereas insurance
deposits were at the same level as last year in local currency. A change in product mix in favor of unit-linked
business gained momentum-in the iast-quarter of 2004. Switzerland’s gross written premiums and policy fees
decreased by USD 564 million, or 17% (-23% in local currency), largely due to the partial transfer of the group
pension business to an external foundation. In individual life business, Switzerland experienced only a small
decrease impacted by a sales rally’in 2003, in anticipation of the technical interest rate being lowered. In italy,
gross written premiums and policy fees demonstrated.a significant increase of 10% in local currency arising
from the growth in sales of single premium products-through the agent channel. The increase in insurance
deposits (4% in local currency) was driven by stronger sales ini index products. Spain recorded a slight decrease
in gross written premiums.and policy fees i in local currency of 2% mainly due to lower sales of unit-linked and
group savings products.

Total benefits, losses and expenses decreased by USD 193 miltion, or 2% (~10% in locat currency), from
USD 10.6 billion in 2003 to USD10.4 billion in 2004. Insurance benefits andlosses decreased by 10% to
USD 8.0 billion, mainly due to the decrease in Switzerland of 25% infocal currency resulting from the
redesign of the group pension model. Policyholder dividends and participation in profits increased by
USD 616 miltion from USD 187 million in'2003 to YSD 803 million in 2004, primarily attributable to Germany
where the improvement in net capital gams on investments in 2004 was shared with policyholders after
the loss participation in 2003. Underwriting and policy acquisition costs increased by USD 76 million, or
16% (6% in local currency) to USD 539 million for 2004 cémpared to USD 463 million in 2003. In Germany,
higher amounts of deferred policy acquisition costs were amortized in 2004. Administration and other
operating expenses were cut by USD 63 million, or 13% (20%:in local currency), from USD 4389 million in
2003 to USD 436 million in 2004. '

Changef ;

150%-
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-, 50%

Rest of Europe’

Gross new business premiums (APE) for 2004 were USD 1.1 billion, an increase of 11% in local currency,

due to the high sales volumes in Germany, which more than offset the impact of divestments of various
businesses during 2003, and the reduction in Switzerland as a consequence of the redesign of the Swiss group
pension business model.
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Contmental Europes new busmess proflf, mcreased by USD 71 mllllon to USD 134 mllhon for 2004
This result reflects the increased sales. volumes combined with expense optimizations in Germany, as well as
increased profitability-in other countries; patticufarly in ltaly.and Spain.

Embedded value operating profit, after tax, increased by USD 39 millicn-to USD 419 miliion in 2004,
corresponding to an operating return of 23.8%. The operating return arises from the contribution of new
business during 2004 combined:with a number of effects in Germany, including the impact of expense
optimizations and-an increase in the shareholder ‘share ‘offuture profits. These effects were partially offset
by the negative |mpact of changes in asset mix to better match liabilities.

LﬁemanmmerKBA

(6%)
" (95%)
4%

48%
(40%)

Business operating’ proflt s;gmf:cantly increased by USD 131 million, or 48%, from USD 271 mlihon for 2003

to USD 402 million in 2004 mainly due to improved investment returns, reduced expenses and the favorable
effect of exchange rate movements. Netincome decreased by-USD.227 million, or 40%, from USD 564 million in
2003 to USD 337 million-in'2004. in 2003, net income included USD 416 million of after tax gains arising from
divestments of businesses compared to USD 20 million in 2004. After excluding this impact net income improved
by USD 169 million in 2004,

Gross written premiums and policy fees increased by USD 540 millior, or 32%, to USD 2.2 billion in 2004
compared with USD 1.7 billion in 2003. This corresponds to an increase of 18% in local currency which was
largely driven by stock market movements and their corresponding impact on the change in deferred front-end
fees and related items. :

Insurance deposits increased by USD 753 million or 15% (3% ‘in local currency) from USD 4.9 billion in 2003 to
USD 5.6 bitlion in 2004 reflecting higher volume- of sales of our investment bond products.

Total benefits, losses and expenses increased by USD 351 million, or 4%, from USD 8.5 billion in 2003 to
USD 8.8 billion for 2004. Insurance benefits and losses slightly decreased by USD 8 million, or 1%, but more
significantly in local currency by 13%. This décrease was primarily due to the sale of Zurich Life UK and reserve
releases in the closed books; offset by higher reserves due to increased business volumes and significant increases
in complaints provisions following guidance from the Financial Services Authority. Policyholder dividends and
participation in profits rose by USD 283 million, or 5%, to USD 5.9 billion for 2004. The implementation of the
accounting standard (SOP 03-01) created greater volatility in policyholder dividends reflecting the movements in
investment income and net fealized capital gains attributable to policyholders now included in our total
investment result. Underwriting and policy acquisition costs rose by USD 123 million, or 25% (11% in local
currency), to USD 619 million for2004; driven by an increase in the amount of deferred policy acquisition cost
amortization. This increase was. partially offset by the higher amount of front-end fees included in gross written
premiums. Administrative and other operating expenses decreased by 21% (-29% in local currency) to USD
551 million in 2004 due to divestments-of businesses in 2003. After excluding the Threadneedle and Zurich Life
UK divestment, administrative and operating expenses increased due to internal restructuring projects.

L 321,
7.4% Q7pw

UKISA saw strong new business growth with APE reaching USD 1.0 billion, an increase of USD 154 million over
the year 2003, corresponding to an.increase in locat curiency of 5%. This was primarily the result of a large
increase in single premxum sales due to strong sales of investment bond products in Zurich Assurance through
the IFA network.

14 Zurich Financial Services Group * Annual Resuits Reporting 2004 - Segmental Financial Anatysis



New busmess proflt after tax, remamed stable at USD 59 mnhon The 2003 new busmess proflt mcluded
value generated by the Life-business distribution channel but arising in a non-insurance subsidiary, Profits from
this source are not included inthe 2004 new business profit. Excluding this effect, new business profit in

2003 was USD 39 million.

The operating return on embeédded value of 4.7%, corresponding to an operating profit, after tax,

of USD 264 million, has been achievedfor 2004. An-increase in provisions for settling customer complaints
relating to past sales of mortgage endowment and other contracts has negatively impacted the operating profit
by USD 208 million. Without this effect, the after-tax operating return was 8.4%.

Life Insurance ~ Rest of the World

‘Rest; of the World .
,"m UsSD millions:forthe ves #2003 ' . 'Change: i
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Business operatmg profit 1mproved by USD 25 million, or 54% from USD 46 million in 2003 to USD 71 million
in 2004. This positive development’is attributable to the withdrawal in-2004 of unprofitable annuity products

in' Japan and investment products in Taiwan. Net income |ncreased by USD 8 million, or 17%, to USD 54 million in
2004. The region recorded USD 29 million higher net capltal ga:ns on investments mainly in Australia, which were
more than offsét by a decrease of USD 17 mllllon of gain on dwestments of busmesses as well as USD 31 million
higher i income tax expenses in 2004.

Gross written premiums and pollcy fees decreased by usD 78 mllhon or 11% (-16% in local currency), from
USD 711 million in 2003 to USD 633 million in 2004, due 1o the divestments of certain life businesses in this
region in 2003. The divestment of -our life pom‘oluo in:Taiwan in the fourth quarter 2004 also contributed to the
lower volume,

The region recorded a decreaée of USD S,G_millioh, or 14% (=22% in focal currency}, in insurance deposits
from USD 670 million in 2003 to USD 574:million in 2004 Which arose from cessation of annuity business in
Japan, partly offset by a strong’ mcrease of 52% in msurance deposit business i in Australia, our largest remaining
life business in this region.-

Total benefits, losses and expenses‘reduced by USD 92 million, or 11%, from USD 862 milion in 2003 to
USD 770 million for 2004, mainly as a résult of our portfolio divéstrent in Taiwan in 2004.

‘Change

T (15%).
S
160%
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Gross new business premiums (APE) for the Rest of the World reduced by USD 36 million or 15% (28% in
local currency), to USD 207 million in 2004; mainly because significant sales of bancassurance products in one of
our Asia Pacific businesses during 2003 were not repeated in 2004.

For 2004, new business profit; after tax, was UsD 6 million, an improvement of USD 7 million from a loss of
USD 1 miilion in 2003. This posmve .development is due to an increased volume of more profitable products in
Asia Pacific, particularly in Hong Kong.

Embedded value operating profit, after tax, increased by usb 64 million, or 160%, to USD 104 million in
2004 yielding an after-tax operating return of 13.7% compared with 5.9% in 2003.
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Zurich Financiat Services Group

Farmers Management Serwces

Farmers Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (FGI) provide non-claims related management services to the Farmers
Exchanges, prominent writers of personal lines and srhall commercial lines business in the US. While premiums are
written and claims are paid by the Farmers Exchanges, which we manage but do not own, FGI provides non-
claims related management services 1o the Farmers Exchanges-and receives management fees for these services.

Operational review Farmers Management Services achieved strong results in 2004 with growing revenues and controlled expenses.
Numerous actions wete taken to accélerate marketing momentum and drive revenue growth as a resuft of which
new business policies of the Farmers Exchanges grew by 13.1% in 2004. The introduction of more sophisticated
marketing and retention programs, such as customized mailings to over four million customers, contributed to
growth in every.major fine. A total'of1;770 agents were added (a net gain of nearly 600) and the average
production of ful time agents increased by 5% over 2003 More structured and intensive training for agents was
also introduced through thé launich.of the University of Farmers and this contributed to a significant increase in
the success rate of new agents. We launched a' multi- -year business process re-engineering effort achieving a 7%
employee productivity increase. Impleémentation of self-service tools and new technologies further aided cost
control, while our focus on customer experience increased customer satisfaction by 4.4 percentage points over
2003,

The Farmers Exchanges also had an outstanding year. Premium growth funded by the addition of USD 462 millicn
in organic surplus, fueled the steady growth in Farmers Management Services earnings. The ali-lines combined
ratio of Farmers Exchangesimproved by more ‘than five percentage points year-over-year to 96.8%, despite the
four hurricanes in the US and the Carfbbean

In the fourth quarter, advertlsmg expenditure and profiles were raised to increase brand awareness. In the
independent agent distribution channel, market management was consolidated and a new strategy and value
proposition was mtroduced

Financial review

L6084 4% |
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Business operating profit mcreased by USD 107 million, or 11%, from USD 970 million for 2003 to
USD 1.1 billion for 2004, as a'résult-of the growth in revenues, reflecti ing the continuing increase in premiums
earned by the Farmers Exchanges,"as well as higher net investment income.

Net income of USD 686 million in 2004 was 14% higher than the USD 604 million in 2003 reflecting the
consistent growth in business operating profit.

Management fees and other related revenue increased by USD 100 million, or 5%, from USD 1.9 billion in
2003 to USD 2.0 billion in 2004. This increase arises primarily from higher-gross premiums earned by the Farmers
Exchanges. In 2004, gross earned premiums were USD 14.0 billion as compared with USD 13.7 billion in 2003,
Premiums from continuing lines of business grew by USD 495 million; or 4%, over 2003. This was {argely
attributable to higher premiums in the Farmers Specualty, Commercnal and Fire lines of business. However, the
decision by the Farmers Exchanges ‘to-exit the medical malpractice business reduced the overall premium growth
rate to 3%. Furthermore, the motor line of business experienced higher fees than in 2003 as a result of

revisions to the fee structure effective from January 2004. ‘Additionally, other revenues such as Flexabill service
fees, fire inspection fees, service chargées and membership fees, which are sensitive to premium levels,

also increased. ‘

Expenses were USD 55 million, or 6%, higher in 2004 compared with 2003. This increase was driven by
variable expensés related to growing revenues, as well as higher IT and employee benefit costs. As a result the
gross operating margin of Farmers Management Services decreased by 0.4 percentage point to 51.9% for
2004, which is closer to our long-term historical margin of approximately 50%.
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Other Busrnesses

Our Other Businesses segmént includes cawpital markets and banking activities and our Centre operations.
This segment also includes centrally managed general and life‘}irisurance operations. Certain of the business
operations in this segment were discontinued, divested or put.into run-off in 2004 and 2003,

. Change.
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Netincome/{oss

Centre significantly improved its business operating profit by USD 940 million frémianet Ioss of usp 882 mrllron :
in 2003 to a net profit of USD 58 million i in.2004. Net income also increased substantially considerably by

USD 827 million to.a netiincome.of USD 9. mrlhon in 2004 compared with a net loss of USD 818 million in 2003,
impacted by the USD 1. billion provisions for reserve strengthening, write-down of certain assets and other
provisions. Centre continues-actively t0 pursue comimiutation and asset disposal opportunities. The successful
commutation of several deals.in 2004 had-a positive impact on the net results. Centre’s profitability is also

affected by movements:in financial markets because of the nature of its business, specifically the classification as
trading of investments supporting fife, health and disability insurance liabilities, and because of the restructure

of its investment portfolro Consequenﬂy the net investment result ‘reduced by USD 166 million to USD 457 million
in 2004.

The wind-down of the Zurich Caprtal Markets (ZCM) business continues. As announced in July 2003 the Group
and BNP Paribas (BNPP) srgned a framework agreement. 1o transfer certain derivative transactions and credit
facilities and related assets from ZCM to-BNPP. BNPP tock over respansibility for servicing those transactions,
and certain ZCM employees were transferred to BNPP. Designated trades have been novated, unwound or
terminated. ZCM will continue to unwind its other business lines. ZCM recorded a net income of USD 93 million
for 2004 compared to a net loss of UsD 206 mrlhon |n 2003 This posrtlve result is primarily driven by reduced
administrative and other expenses. .

The other operations in this segment induding ZCM recorded a business operating profit of USD 79 million
in 2004 compared to a Ioss of USD 76 mlllron in 2003.-Net income rncreased by USD 281 million to USD 87 million
in 2004. . :
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Corporate Center :
The Corporate Center segment incluyde's'Group holding and financing companies, Corporate Center operations

and alternative investments. This segment also includes some Group internal reinsurance operations that are not
attributable to a specific:segment but are managed on a global basis.

(26%).°

(3%)

The loss recorded in Business operating profit for Corporate Center.improved by USD 184 million over 2003 to
a loss of USD-514 miillion for:2004 from-a’loss ‘of USD 698 million in-2003. Net costs have also improved,
decreasing by USD 15 miilion to net casts of USD 495 million for 2004 as a result of controlling costs, combined
with the favorable effect of foreign exchange gains.

The increase in total revenues of USD.379 million was primarily attributable to an improved recovery for services
rendered to other segments. Additionally, net gains on divestments of businesses contributed USD 53 million to
this increase in total revenues at the Corporate Center

Total benefits, losses and expenses'increased by 182 mllhon in 2004. Administrative and other operating
expenses increased as a result of the centralization of certain IT services previously incurred by the business units
and of other services provided to ocal business operating units.
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